

Diseases and Pests of Citrus (Citrus spp.)

Paula F. Tennant^{1,2*} • Dwight Robinson¹ • Latanya Fisher² • Stacy-Marie Bennett¹ • Dave Hutton¹ • Phyllis Coates-Beckford¹ • Wayne Mc Laughlin³

Department of Life Sciences, The University of the West Indies, Mona, Jamaica
The Biotechnology Centre, The University of the West Indies, Mona, Jamaica
Department of Basic Medical Sciences, Biochemistry Section, The University of the West Indies, Mona, Jamaica

Corresponding author: * paula.tennant@uwimona.edu.jm

ABSTRACT

Citrus spp. are susceptible to a number of destructive diseases that are continuously emerging and which can severely limit production or totally decimate an industry of a country. There is the well known tristeza caused by the *Citrus tristeza virus*, the crippling bacterial citrus huanglongbing (*Candidatus* Liberibacter) and canker (*Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. *citri*). Among fungal diseases, soil-borne infections caused by *Phytophthora* and postharvest pathogens are widespread and lead to heavy yield losses. Several species of phytonematodes have been detected in citrus rhizosphere, but the economic importance is known for only a few species. *Tylenchulus semipenetrans* occurs worldwide and can reduce yields when populations are dense. Other nematodes of local or regional importance include *Radopholus citrophilus*, *Belonolaimus longicaudatus* and species of *Pratylenchus* and *Meloidogyne*. Numerous species of insects have attained pest status at various locations at different times because of the damage they cause on citrus trees and fruits and the pathogens they transmit. Lepidopterans of major importance are *Papilio* spp., particularly the lime swallowtail butterfly, *Papilio demoleus*, which has recently invaded the western hemisphere. Larvae of coleopterans, *Exophthalmus* and *Pachnaeus* spp. cause extensive root damage, while adults damage young leaves. Of the aphid and psyllid species, *Toxoptera citricida* and *Diaphorina citri*, are considered as potentially the most dangerous at this time because they serve as vectors for *Citrus tristeza virus* and huanglongbing. This paper presents an overview of the important pathogens and pests limiting citrus production, diseases they elicit, genetic structure and diversity, and factors contributing to their emergence.

Keywords: Cachexia, canker, citrus postharvest fungal decays, *Diaphorina citri*, exocortis, foot rot, gummosis, huanglongbing, leprosis, mal secco, *Papilio demoleus*, *Phyllocnistis citrella*, psorosis, *Radopholus citrophilus*, root weevils, sharpshooters, stubborn disease, tatterleaf, *Toxoptera citricidus*, *Trioza erytreae*, tristeza, *Tylenchus semipenetrans*, variegated chlorosis

Abbreviations: ASGV, *Apple stem grooving virus*; BrCA, brown citrus aphid; CC, citrus canker; CC-A, canker A, asiatic citrus canker; CC-B, cancrosis B; CC-C, cancrosis C; CC-D, cancrosis D; CC-E, cancrosis E; CEVd, *Citrus exocortis viroid*; CiLV, *Citrus leprosis virus*; CL, citrus leprosis; CPsV, *Citrus psorosis virus*; CSD, citrus stubborn; CTLV or CiTLV, *Citrus tatterleaf virus*; CTV, *Citrus tristeza virus*; CVC, citrus variegated chlorosis; DAS- ELISA, double antibody sandwich enzyme linked immunosorbent assay; ELISA, enzyme linked immunosorbent assay; EPPO/CABI, European and Mediterranean Plant Protection Organization/CAB International; FAOSTAT, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Union Statistical and Data-sets; HLB, citrus huanglongbing or citrus greening; HSVd, *Hop stunt viroid*; IPM, integrated pest management; ITS, internal transcribed spacers; OEPP/EPPO, Organisation Européenne et Méditerranéenne Pour la Protection des Plantes/ European and Mediterranean Plant Protection Organization; PCR-RADP, polymerase chain reaction-random amplified polymorphism analysis; PCR-RFLP polymerase chain reaction-restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis; *pthA*, pathogenicity locus of *Xanthomonas axonopodis*; RT-PCR, reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction; SD, spreading decline; SDC, slow decline of citrus; TAS-ELISA, triple-antibody sandwich; TAS-ELISA-HRP, triple-antibody sandwich (horseradish peroxidase)

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	82
FUNGAL DISEASES	82
Foot rot and gummosis	82
Fusarium dry rot	83
Mal secco	83
Postharvest fungal decays	84
BACTERIAL DISEASES	85
Citrus canker	85
Citrus variegated chlorosis Citrus huanglongbing or citrus greening	86
Citrus huanglongbing or citrus greening	87
Citrus stubborn	88
VIRUS AND VIRUS-LIKE DISEASES	89
Tristeza	89
Psorosis	90
Leprosis	91
Tatterleaf	92
Exocortis and cachexia	93
NEMATODE DISEASES	93
Slow decline of citrus	93

Spreading decline	
Other nematodes	
ARTHROPOD PESTS	
Citrus leafminer	
Brown citrus aphid	
Psyllids	
Sharpshooters	
Lime swallowtail butterfly	
Root weevils	
CONCLUDING REMARKS	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	

INTRODUCTION

Citrus (*Citrus* spp.) is a woody, evergreen, perennial plant cultivated for its non-climacteric, unique berry-like fruit (Kader 1992; Rieger 2006). Over six million tonnes of fruit were produced worldwide in 2006, mostly in the subtropical regions of Africa (58%), Asia (28%) and the Americas (13%), where there is seasonal variation but little or no freezing weather. Backyard or small scale holdings are more common in tropical regions (FAOSTAT 2008).

All commercial citrus consists of composite trees whereby scions selected for fruit quality are grafted onto hardy, disease-resistant rootstocks (Medina et al. 2005). Commercial citrus species belong to the order Geraniales, family Rutaceae, subfamily Aurantoidea and the genus Citrus, except for trifoliate oranges (Poncirus trifoliate) and kumquats (Fortunella spp.). Trifoliate oranges, as well as C. macrophylla (alemow), C. sinensis x P. trifoliata (citrange), P. trifoliata x C. paradisi (citrumelo), C. reshni (cleopatra mandarin), C. limonia (rangpur lime), C. jambhiri (rough lemon), and C. aurantium (sour orange) are commonly used as rootstocks. Of the species cultivated for their fruit, sweet oranges (C. sinensis) and mandarins (C. reticulata) are grown extensively worldwide, and to a more limited extent, grapefruits (C. paradisi), lemons (C. limon), limes (C. aurantifolia), and the hybrids tangelos (mandarin x grapefruit) and tangors (mandarin x sweet orange) (Rajput and Haribabu 1993).

Like most fruits, citrus is a low-calorie food, a good source of carbohydrates and fibre, is low in sodium and fats and is an excellent source of vitamin C. The fruit is, however, also appreciated for its biologically active, antinutrient compounds or phytochemicals (Huang *et al.* 2007). Citrus phytochemicals have potential antioxidant, anti-cancer, and cholesterol-lowering ability (Tian *et al.* 2001).

The fruit crop is widely produced and marketed as fresh fruit. Orange juice is the most important processed product appearing in the market as freshly squeezed juice, frozen concentrate, refrigerated juice from concentrate and notfrom concentrate juice, which is perceived as the closest equivalent to freshly squeezed juice. In addition to the pulp, all other parts of the fruit can be consumed; a feature unique to citrus fruits. Flavorings and pectin are extracted from the outer ectocarp and inner mesocarp rind, respectively. Essential oils, for use in cosmetic and pharmaceutical industries, are extracted from the peel. Citrus pulp pellets, the product remaining from peel and pulp once the juice and oils have been extracted, are used as animal feed, while seed oils, seed meals and dried seed-pressed cakes are products derived from the seeds (Kale and Adsule 1995; Ahmad and Rehman 2006; Bampidis and Robinson 2006).

The key to successful production of citrus lies in the effectiveness of long-term pathogen- and pest-management strategies. As with many tropical and subtropical crops, citrus is host to various pathogens and pests, but it is also one of the few crops that is susceptible to a number of destructive diseases that are continuously emerging and which can severely limit or totally decimate production. Production of citrus fruits destined for processing may not require stringent management of pests as those for the fresh fruit market. Nevertheless, a clear understanding of the biology of the pathogen is central to the development of a certification program and maintenance of productive citrus orchards dedicated to processing or fresh-fruit markets. The revised edition of the Compendium of Citrus Diseases (Timmer et al. 2000) describes the etiology and epidemiology of 7 bacterial, 16 fungal and 42 virus or virus-like diseases of citrus. Also described are diseases which are the result of pestinduced injuries, including those caused by 10 genera of nematodes, snails, ants, termites, mites and a number of insects. In 2004, OEPP/EPPO listed 9 fungal genera, one bacterial (Spiroplasma citri), one viral (Citrus tristeza virus), one nematode (Tylenchulus semipenetrans), and various species of aphids, thrips, whiteflies, leaf roller, leaf miner, moths and scale insects as the principal pests of citrus (OEPP/EPPO 2004b). This review focuses on recent advances in the knowledge of major pathogens and pests limiting citrus production, the diseases they elicit, their diagnosis, genetic structure and diversity, and factors contributing to their emergence.

FUNGAL DISEASES

Citrus is susceptible to a number of fungal and fungal-like pathogens. *Fusarium* spp., *Phytophthora* spp., *Phoma tracheiphila*, and postharvest pathogens (*Penicillium, Aspergillus, Galactomyces citri-aurantii, Alternaria citri, Glomerella cingulata, Botryotinia fuckeliana* and Botryosphaeria *rhodina*) are regarded as the more important pathogens of the fruit crop, responsible for considerable losses in some regions (OEPP/EPPO 2004b).

Foot rot and gummosis

Phytophthora spp. cause serious soilborne diseases of citrus affecting the roots, trunk, branches, shoots and fruits worldwide (Erwin and Ribeiro 1996; Graham and Menge 2000). Although ten oomycete species are reported to be pathogenic on citrus, three of these cause the most damage economically and include Phytophthora citrophthora, P. nicotianae (syn P. parasitica) and P. palmivora (Erwin and Ribeiro 1996; Graham and Menge 2000). Distribution of the species, however, is dependent on their specific temporal and climatic requirements; P. nicotianae occurs frequently in subtropical areas, P. palmivora in subtropical and tropical areas, while *P. citrophthora* is common in Mediterranean areas (Ricci et al. 1990; Graham 1995; Graham and Menge 2000). P. nicotianae generally does not infect the above-ground parts of citrus trees. It causes foot rot or gummosis, which is a bark disease characterized by degraded cambium and phloem tissues. Both P. palmivora and P. citrophora induce gummosis and brown rot of the trunk and major limbs. The latter pathogen also attacks citrus fruit. Trunk and root rot afflictions are regarded as most serious on citrus.

The infection cycle of *Phytophthora* spp. begins with the attraction of motile zoospores to citrus root exudates, their encystment, germination, and entry into the root tip. Infection of the root cortex results in discoloration, softening of tissues and decay of fibrous roots. Eventually the cortex sloughs off leaving vascular tissue. Lesions on structural roots or crown rot may also occur (Fawcett 1936; Sandler *et al.* 1989; Graham and Menge 1999). Foot rot or gummosis occurs when zoospores are splashed onto the trunk above the bud union. The pathogen enters through wounds or bark cracks and eventually lesions develop that extend to the bud union. Active lesions ooze brown to black gum, hence the name 'gummosis' (Graham and Menge 1999). A significant number of damaged roots and the resulting rot, induce water stress which can result in the death of young trees. Mature trees exhibit reduced vigor, decreased fruit production and twig dieback. Low-hanging fruits may also become infected from propagules in rainsplash resulting in brown rot of fruits and leaf fall. Scion lesions have been described in South Africa, Egypt and Belize and more recently in Spain (Alvarez *et al.* 2008). Sporulation on fruits may be important in the establishment of branch infections.

Infections with *Phytophthora* spp. can be avoided or minimized in nurseries by planting disease-free materials, maintaining adequate soil drainage, and using systemic fungicides (Graham and Menge 2000). Use of resistant rootstocks is also highly recommended. Lemons, limes, sweet oranges, and grapefruits are particularly susceptible to Phytophthora infections, while tangerines and oranges are more tolerant. The rootstocks, swingle citrumelo, Yuma citranges, African Shaddock x Rubidoux trifoliate are resistant, and sour orange, rough lemon, Rangpur lime, Carrizo and Troyer citranges are regarded as tolerant (Graham and Menge 2000). Differences in susceptibility or tolerance to individual Phytophthora spp., however, have been reported. While swingle citrumelo is tolerant to root rot caused by P. nicotianae, it is susceptible to P. palmivora (Graham 1995; Bowman et al. 2002; Graham et al. 2003). Vernière et al. (2004) emphasized the need for vigilant monitoring of the pathogenicity of *Phytophthora* field species on rootstocks and scions. Using polymerase chain reaction restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis (PCR-RFLP) of internal transcribed spacers (ITS) and random amplified microsatellites, heterologous populations were noted in orchards of Eastern Corsica in 2003 (Cohen et al. 2003). Further analysis of pathogenicity of the heterologous populations on 20 citrus scion and rootstock cultivars showed a continuum of aggressiveness even on the resistant trifoliate orange. Siviero et al. (2002) also reported variability of aggressiveness of P. parasitica field species on lemon and Rangpur lime. Presumably, changes in cultural practices, climatic conditions and introduction of new hosts or new genotypes contribute to the pathogenicity of *Phytophthora* populations in a region.

Traditional methods for the detection of Phytophthora spp. involve the use of leaf and fruit baits, plating onto semi-selective agar media and observing morphological characteristics (Grimm and Alexander 1973; Tsao and Guy 1977; Timmer et al. 1988). Although serological techniques are available, they facilitate detection only at the genus level. Serological techniques are not used routinely because of low sensitivity and cross-reactions with other species (Mohan 1989; Miller 1996). Molecular methods developed in the late 1990s allow for identification based on restriction-enzyme-digest patterns of ITS regions of ribosomal RNA genes (Cooke and Duncan 1997; Cooke et al. 2000). Since then, sequencing of the ribosomal ITS regions has led to the development of species-specific primers and eliminated the step involving the generation of restriction profiles (Bonants et al. 1997; Trout et al. 1997; Bohm et al. 1999; Schubert et al. 1999; Grote et al. 2000; Nechwatal and Oswald 2001; Grote et al. 2002; Bowman et al. 2007).

Fusarium dry rot

Another soil-borne disease, Fusarium root rot, is widespread and problematic on citrus. *Fusarium solani*, associated with Fusarium root rot, sudden death or Fusarium dry rot of citrus, has been described in Australia, North America, Europe, South Africa and India. The pathogen is a primary colonizer of fibrous root systems. Afflicted trees develop blackened, rotted roots. Typically, the region below the scion shows brown discoloration, but this does not extend into the scion. The production of naphthazarin phytotoxins, dihydrofusarubin and isomarticin, during infection also contribute to the decline of citrus trees. The toxins, which are readily transported in xylem, contribute to vessel plugging, reduced water uptake, veinal chlorosis, leaf wilt and the accumulation of zinc in the trunk wood of citrus trees. Unlike Phytophthora foot and root rot, there is no gum exudation and large roots are affected. F. solani is often associated with other pathogens and pests of citrus, including Phytophthora and nematodes which exacerbate disease symptoms. The disease occurs in groves with heavy soils that retain moisture easily. Maintaining soil conditions favorable for root development (e.g. avoiding soil compaction, waterlogging and salinity) is most useful in managing the disease (Nemec et al. 1988; Menge and Nemec 1997; Broadbent 2000; Janse van Renburg et al. 2001; Naqvi 2004).

Other soil-borne fungal pathogens, *Pythium* spp., *Thielaviopsis basicola, Armillaria mellea* and *Diplodia matalensis*, affect citrus production and contribute to replant and decline problems. They are, however, regarded as minor root pathogens that are mostly problematic under favorable environmental conditions (Menge and Nemec 1997).

Mal secco

The vascular fungal disease Mal secco, Italian for dry disease, was first recorded in the 1880s in Greece (Solel and Salerno 2000). Currently, the disease has maintained limited distribution and is confined to citrus growing regions of the Mediterranean Basin, around the Black Sea, and in Asia Minor (Solel 1976; Palm 1987; Timmer *et al.* 1988; EPPO/ CABI 1997b). Despite prevailing suitable disease-promoting environmental conditions and cultural practices, the disease has not been reported in the Americas and Oceania (EPPO/CABI 1997b). Species of *Poncirus, Severinia, Fortunella* and *Citrus* are vulnerable, but lemon (*Citrus limon*) is particularly susceptible to this vascular disease.

Mal secco is caused by the imperfect fungus, *Phoma tracheiphila*. Pycnidiospores are dispersed by rain, then the germ tubes enter leaf tissue through stomata or wounds, invade the xylem and the fungus gradually spreads systemically. Sections through twigs reveal the charactersitic salmonpink or orange-reddish discoloration of the wood, which is associated with gum production. In time, impairment of the water transport system leads to wilting of branches. Typical symptoms on the foliage include veinal chlorosis, leaf wilt and die-back of twigs and branches. Eventually the bark ruptures and exposes numerous black pycnidia. Death of the tree is then imminent (Solel and Salerno 2000).

Two other forms of the disease have been documented; mal fulminate, a rapid fatal form of the disease that occurs when the fungus infects the base of the trunk or the roots of the tree, and mal nero, a chronic infection characterized by browning of the heartwood. Latent infections of the disease have also been described. In these instances, a healthy tree appears to develop symptoms suddenly and then collapses (Palm 1987). Investigations by Nachmias et al. (1977) and Fogliano et al. (1998) showed that the main pathogenic factors released by P. tracheiphila in xylem vessels of lemon were substances belonging to a malseccin complex of proteins (Parisi et al. 1993). Two glycoproteins, of 93 KDa and 60 KDa, were isolated from infected plant tissues and also from culture filtrate. When injected into plant leaves or shoots, symptoms of mal secco were induced (Nachmias et al. 1977; Fogliano et al. 1994; Fogliano et al. 1998). Later, Reverberi et al. (2008) showed that fungal hydrolytic enzymes, toxic compounds, oxidative stress inducers, membrane transporters and the differential ability to modulate lipoperoxidative activity in the host are central to infection. Based on ITS rDNA sequencing, polymerase chain reaction random amplification of polymorphic DNA analysis (PCR-RAPD) and microsatellite PCR, genetically homogenous populations of the fungus were demonstrated in Italy and Israel, suggesting a common ancestor (Balmas et al. 2005;

Ezra et al. 2007).

The strategy commonly used to manage mal secco infections involves the reduction of fungal inoculum by pruning withered shoots bearing pycnidia, removing suckers, and spraying with fungicides (OEPP/EPPO 2005a). Early diagnosis is of paramount importance. Traditionally, identification of P. tracheiphila has relied on isolation of the fungus on potato dextrose agar, carrot agar, or malt extract agar each containing chloramphenicol, followed by identification of cultural and morphological characters (OEPP/EPPO 2005a). However, this approach is effective only at the later stages of infection at which time the application of countermeasures to limit spread are no longer effective. Early molecular methods involving dot blot assay and PCR, developed in the late 1980s, proved unreliable for routine diagnosis because of the generation of non-specifc amplimers (Rollo et al. 1987, 1990; Balmas et al. 2005). In 2005, Balmas and coworkers described a more specific PCR-based assay using primers designed to the consensus sequence obtained from the alignment of the ITS region of the nuclear rRNA genes of 17 P. tracheiphila isolates and of single representatives of six additional Phoma species (P. glomerata, P. exigua, P. betae, P. cava, P. fimeti, and P. lingam isolates). Using this method, the fungus was detected in wood tissues of mal secco-infected trees, mal nero-infected trees and asymptomatic twigs. Licciardello et al. (2006) and Demontis et al. (2008) have since reported on a fast and reliable method for the quantification of P. tracheiphila in planta by a real-time PCR assay using a TaqMan[®] hybridisation probe.

Postharvest fungal decays

Other major fungal pathogens affecting citrus fall into the category of postharvest pathogens. Their prevalence is, however, variable and dependent on the citrus variety, weather conditions during the growing and harvest seasons, degree of damage during harvest, and conditions of the postharvest facility. Generally preharvest pathogens, such as *Colletotrichum gloeosporioides*, infect fruits in the field between fruit set and harvest. They transition later to necrotrophs and, along with wound pathogens (e.g. *Penicillium digitatum*, *P. italicum*), attack fruits during postharvest handling, transportation, storage and marketing (Naqvi 2004).

Alternaria citri, the etiological agent of Alternaria rot, causes premature coloring of fruits in the field, the development of light brown to black lesions of the rind at the button or stylar end and internal black discoloration mainly along the central axis of the fruit during storage (Brown and MacCornack 1972; Brown and Eckert 2000b). Alternaria rot is mainly a stem-end rot of fruits that have been stored at low temperatures for long periods. External symptoms are not expressed on the surface of fruits. The pathogen produces extracellular enzymes that degrade plant cell wall polymers during infection (Cooper 1983; Isshiki et al. 2003). A. citri exists saprophytically in orchards and produces airborne conidia. The disease only develops following damage from sunburn, drought, frost, or over-maturity of the button or stylar end of the fruit (Brown and Eckert 2000b; OEPP/EPPO 2004b).

The fungus *Colleototrichum gloeosporioides* (*Glomerella cingulata*) primarily affects bruised or damaged citrus fruits. Conidia, spread by rain or overhead irrigation, remain quiescent on fruit surfaces as germinated or ungerminated appressoria until the fruit tissues are weakened by any of a number of agents. These agents include pests, mechanical damage, chemical sprays, sunburn, and ethylene treatment during degreening. The first manifestations of the disease, referred to as anthracnose, are brown to black lesions about 1.5 cm in diameter. Generally, the resulting decay is firm and dry and softening of the fruit depends on the extent of invasion. Masses of pink or salmon-colored spores are visible under humid conditions (Freeman *et al.* 1998; Brown and Eckert 2000c).

Diplodia stem-end rot is linked to the fungus *Botryosphaeria rhodina*. The fungus lives saprophytically on dead

twigs in the field. Conidia are typically spread by rainsplash over short distances, whereas ascospores are spread in air currents. Although conidia can be deposited in the stylar region of fruits while they are in the orchard, the fungus does not invade their tissues until after harvest when the button abscisses. Decay subsequently progresses unevenly over the fruit and is more severe during ethylene degreening. Early abscission of the button results in a site of entry into fruit tissues during the degreening process, which is conducted under favorable conditions of high temperatures (> 21°C) and relative humidity (> 90%). All citrus fruits are vulnerable to stem-end rot disease (Brown and Eckert 2000a).

Botryotinia fuckeliana (Botrytis cinerea) is a heterothallic ascomycete that attacks over 200 host plants (MacFarlane 1968). It exhibits great genetic (van der Vlugt-Bergmans et al. 1993; Diolez et al. 1994) and morphological variability (Grindle 1979; Di Lenna et al. 1981; Lorenz and Eichhorn 1983; Movahedi and Heale 1990; Leone 1990), presumably due to heterokaryosis and aneuploidy (Lorenz and Eichhorn 1983; van der Vlugt-Bergmans et al. 1993). B. fuckeliana causes gray mold or botrytis blossom and twig blight in citrus. Lemons are particularly affected. The disease progresses with the development of patches of a gray mold associated with brown leathery decay of fruits. A distinctive odor is not associated with the infection. Apart from fruit decay, fruit set is reduced and premature fruit drop is common. Spores produced on organic debris in the orchard are dispersed to flowers by wind or rainsplash. Colonization of floral parts results in quiescent infections of the stem end of fruit and, in time, may cause postharvest decay (Eckert and Brown 2000).

Galactomyces citri-aurantii (anamorph Geotrichum citri-aurantii) is associated with sour rot, which is regarded as the most unpleasant of all the citrus decays. G. citri-aurantii affects mature or over-mature citrus fruits and may be found in mixed infections with P. digitatum and P. ita-licum. The fungus is soil-borne and spreads to fruits by wind or rainsplash. Entry into the rind is through mechanical or insect injuries. Disease symptoms include the initial development of water-soaked, light- to dark-yellow, slightly raised lesions and, over time, the fruit disintegrates into a slimy, watery mass (Brown and Eckert 2000f).

Penicillium infections, otherwise referred to as blue and green molds, cause very important postharvest decays in citrus-producing regions. The disease cycles of the causative agents, the imperfect fungus Penicillium digitatum (green mold) and P. italicum (blue mold), are similar but the latter fungus grows better at lower temperatures (10°C) and is more readily dispersed in packing, storage, and transit facilities (Smilanick and Mansour 2007). Both phytopathogens acidify host tissue during decay development by secreting organic acids (gluconic and citric acids) and actively taking up ammonium ions. Presumably, ambient pH plays a major regulatory role in endopolygalacturonase gene expression in Penicillium spp. (Prusky et al. 2004). More recently, Macarisin et al. (2007), using laser-scanning confocal microscopy, demonstrated a 42-hour suppression of defense-related hydrogen peroxide burst in citrus fruit exocarp by P. digitatum.

P. digitatum and *P. italicum* persist in orchards as conidia and are dispersed in air currents. Infections initiated through wounds are followed with the appearance of soft, discolored areas on which powdery mycelia develop. Sporulating areas are blue when infections are caused by *P. ialicum* or olive green when caused by *P digitatum*. Rotted fruits eventually become dry mummies (Brown and Eckert 2000d). Green mold and sour rot are the most economically important postharvest diseases of citrus in arid growing regions (Smilanick and Sorenson 2001).

Aspergillus niger is generally problematic when fruits are held at high storage temperatures (> 15°C) and causes aspergillus rot. Infection occurs through damage incurred during handling. Similar to *Penicillium* spp., *Aspergillus* secretes large amounts of gluconic and citric acids during decay development and compromises citrus fruit defenses (Prusky and Lichter 2008). *Aspergillus* survives saprophytically in the orchard and its conidia are dispersed by air currents. Symptom development is similar to that of sour rot and starts with the appearance of light-brown to orangecolored lesions that later become sunken as decay progresses. Eventually, soft decayed fruits are covered with black powdery layers of spores (Brown and Eckert 2000e).

Good cultural practices, along with preventive and postharvest application of fungicides and biological control agents, aid in the control of a number of the postharvest fungal pathogens affecting citrus. Fungicide treatments are generally incorporated in fruit waxes which are, in some cases, used in combination with biological control formulations containing Candida oleophila or Pseudomonas syringae (Droby et al. 1998). Fruits are also immersed in sodium bicarbonate at ambient temperatures or heated in sodium carbonate or borax and boric acid mixtures (Eckert and Eaks 1989; Smilanick et al. 1999). The search for treatments against postharvest fungal pathogens is a continuous challenge. Recently, investigations of other biological control formulations with Bacillus spp., Pantoea agglomerans, new fungicides (fludioxonil) and the application of ionizing radiation have been reported (Palou et al. 2007; Zhang 2007; Leelasuphakul et al. 2008). However, several issues surround the development and release of new treatments. These include concerns about human health risks associated with residues, particularly in the diets of children, the widespread occurrence of fungicide-resistant isolates and environmental problems associated with the disposal of water used in packing operations (Eckert and Eaks 1989; National Research Council 1993; Eckert et al. 1994).

BACTERIAL DISEASES

Xanthomonas axonopodis, Xylella fastidiosa, and Candidatus Liberibacter are listed as etiological agents of economically important citrus diseases. Candidatus Liberibacter, by far, is the most destructive to citrus production globally. Various forms of the pathogen are situated in specific regions based on prevailing environmental conditions and insect vectors. Similarly, Xanthomonas and Xylella, members of the same family, are made up of several species that infect the same host, but induce different pathologies, and are found in different environments.

Citrus canker

Citrus canker (CC), asiatic citrus canker or cancrosis A,

false citrus canker or cancrosis B, 'Mexican lime' cancrosis or cancrosis C, is a very important disease of most commercial cultivars of citrus (Gottwald and Graham 2000). CC is endemic to regions of south-east Asia and occurs in 30 countries throughout Asia, Africa, Oceania and South America. CC has a long history in the southeastern US. The etiological agent, believed to have been imported on nursery stock from Japan, was first reported widespread in Florida and neighboring states in the 1910s. Through nursery and orchard inspections, removal of infected trees and quarantines, CC was declared eradicated from the region in 1933. Later incidences were reported in the same area in Florida in the late 1980s and new outbreaks have since been discovered in urban Miami and Palm Beach County in the mid 1990s and 2000s, respectively (Gottwald et al. 2001). The disease continues to spread worldwide in spite of heightened quarantine regulations imposed by many countries to prevent its introduction (Gottwald et al. 2002).

The causal agents of CC are classified as three pathovars of a single species of the gram-negative bacterium, Xanthomonas axonopodis (synonym X. campestris). These agents elicit five forms of the disease that are differentiated primarily on the basis of host range. Strains of X. axonopodis pv. citri cause the most severe and widespread disease, CC-A (canker A, asiatic citrus canker), which affects most citrus varieties. Variants of CC-A include A* and A^w. A* is limited to 'Mexican lime' and has been described in Oman, Saudi Arabia, Iran and India. $A^{\rm w}$ was recently reported in Florida and appears to have originated in south-west Asia. X. axonopodis pv. aurantifolii causes cancrosis B (CC-B), a disease of lemons, 'Mexican lime', sour orange, and pummelo in South America. Cancrosis C (CC-C), caused by X. axonopodis pv. aurantifolii, is associated with 'Mexican lime' in Brazil. Grapefruit and trifoliate orange have been reported to be susceptible to CC-C. A fourth type, CC-D, was described in Mexico. However, identification of the strains eliciting CC-D remains controversial; presumably the agents are of the pathovar *aurantifolii*. CC-E, or nursery canker, is caused by X. axonopodis pv. citrumelo (Medina-Urrutia and Stapleton 1986; Gabriel et al. 1989; Graham et al. 1990a, 1990b; Gottwald et al. 1991; Vernière et al. 1998; Schubert et al. 2001; Mohammadi et al. 2001; Graham et al. 2004; Polek et al. 2007). Of interest is that non-quarantine xanthomonads are also classified in the same groups. Thus, in 2003, Brunings and Gabriel (2003) proposed a change in nomenclature and suggested the use of X. citri ex Hasse to refer to species that are responsible for CC only. Later, Schaad et al. (2005, 2006) proposed grouping of the strains



Fig. 1 Canker symptoms on the upper (A) and lower (B) leaf surfaces and **fruit (D).** Pathogen entry into the host can occur directly through the feeding gallery of the Asian citrus leaf miner (C). (Photos: Michael Rogers and Mike Irey) of the five forms into three taxa based on data from DNA-DNA relatedness assays, sequence analysis of 16S-23S ITS regions, AFLP, serology and pathogenicity. It was suggested that all A strains be placed in one taxon, strains B, C and D in another, and E strains in the third. The names proposed for the three taxa include: *X. citrii* subsp. *citrii*, *X. fuscans* subsp. *aurantifolii*, and *X. alfalfae* subsp. *citrumelo*, for the first, second and third groups, respectively.

CC is characterized by the formation of leaf and fruit blemishes. However, under favorable conditions, defoliation, shoot die-back and fruit drop can occur. The first manifestations of CC are seen on lower leaf surfaces. Lightcolored, pin-point lesions initially develop, and over time, the lesions become raised, tan- or brown-colored pustules. At this stage, the lesions are visible on the upper leaf surfaces and may be surrounded by a chlorotic halo. Eventually, the lesions take on a corky or spongy crater-like appearance (Fig. 1). This ability to induce corky lesions and programmed cell death is associated with the pathogenicity locus, pthA (Greenberg 1997; Gilchrist 1998). Lesion size depends on the citrus cultivar and age of the plants, but it generally ranges between 2 and 10 mm in diameter. Similar lesion formation occurs on twigs and fruits (Fig. 1, Timmer et al. 1991). Chlorosis is not typically associated with twig lesions, but can be found around the periphery of fruit lesions

Bacterial cells are released from a dense matrix of extracellular polysaccharides within lesions during wet conditions and are the source of inoculum for further disease development (Timmer *et al.* 1996; Brunings and Gabriel 2003). Agents of CC are primarily dispersed up to 32 m from infected trees by wind-blown rain (Stall *et al.* 1980; Gottwald and Timmer 1995). Farther dispersal, to 15 km, is associated with tropical storms and tornadoes (Gottwald *et al.* 2002). Pathogen entry into the host occurs directly through stomata or wounds caused by blowing sand, thorns, or the Asian citrus leaf miner, *Phyllocnistis citrella* (Fig. 1, Graham *et al.* 2004).

Citrus variegated chlorosis

Citrus variegated chlorosis (CVC), a leaf scorch and decline disease of citrus, is caused by another xanthomonad that is more restricted geographically than that causing CC. CVC was first described in one of the major citrus-growing regions of northern Brazil in the late 1980s (Rossetti et al. 1990). Since then, the disease has been recorded in all citrus-growing regions of Brazil and has been documented in Argentina (Brlansky et al. 1991), Paraguay (Ayres et al. 2001) and, more recently, in Costa Rica (Aguilar et al. 2005). Sweet oranges are most affected, particularly the cultivars 'Natal', 'Hamlin', 'Pera', and 'Valencia', when propagated on the rootstocks C. limonia, C. reshni and C. volkameriana. Mandarins are moderately resistant (Schubert et al. 2001). Similar leaf scorch and decline diseases affect grapevines, peach, pecan, maple, mulberry, elm, sycamore, oak, almond, alfalfa, and oleander in the USA (Hearon et al. 1980; Kostka et al. 1986; Sherald et al. 1987; Hopkins 1989; Purcell and Hopkins 1996; Barnard et al. 1998; Purcell et al. 1999; Sanderlin and Heyderich-Alger 2000; Olson et al. 2008), almonds in India (Jindal and Sharma 1987), the common landscape ornamental chitalpa (Chitalpa tashkinensis) in Mexico (Randall et al. 2007), avocado and coffee in Costa Rica (Aguilar et al. 2005; Montero-Astúa et al. 2008) and coffee and plums in South America (French and Kitajima 1978; de Lima et al. 1998). Weed species of the families Gramineae (Brachiaria decumbens, Digitaria horizontalis, Brachiaria plantaginea), Solanaceae (Solanum americanum) and Compositae (Bidens pilosa) are recorded as reservoirs of infection (Lopes et al. 2003). Apart from pear leaf scorch in Taiwan (Leu and Su 1993) and Pierce's disease of grapevines in the former Yugoslavia (Berisha et al. 1998), the pathogen associated with these diseases is restricted to the American continent.

The etiological agent, Xylella fastidiosa, a Gram-nega-

tive, xylem-limited, fastidious bacterium, induces chlorotic lesions to develop on the upper surface of leaves of young trees between nursery age and ten years. Leaves of trees 15 years and older never totally become affected and often show limited symptom expression on one branch. Over time, small, slightly raised, gummy, necrotic lesions develop on the underside of leaves corresponding to the chlorotic lesions on the upper surface. New leaves are generally smaller than usual. Although external fruit symptoms are not visible, fruit size is greatly reduced, sugar content increased, the rind hardened, and fruits cluster in bunches that resemble grape clusters. Trees are generally stunted, exhibit dieback of twigs and branches and a reduced canopy, but they do not die. Symptoms are attributed to water-stress because of limited xylem flow. The agent of CVC is strictly confined to the xylem vessels of the host. Once delivered there by the sap-feeding insect vector, multiplication of bacterial cells results in the formation of cell aggregates, matrices of extracellular polysaccharides and the blockage of water transport (Hopkins 1989; Marques et al. 2002; OEPP/EPPO 2004a; Chatterjee et al. 2008). Pathogenicity is also aggravated by high temperatures, water deficit, root injuries and over-production of fruit (Hopkins 1989).

X. fastidiosa was the first agriculturally important plant bacterium for which the genome sequence was published (Simpson et al. 2000). The genome of 2.67 Mb has a total of 2,249 ORFs, 58.4% of which has been assigned putative functions based on homologies with known genes (Simpson et al. 2000). The bacterium also contains two circular plasmids, pXF1.3 and pXF51, of 1.3 and 51.1 Kb, that code for three and 65 proteins, respectively. The function of pXF1.3 is not known, but the plasmid is believed to confer a selective advantage to the strain (Pooler et al. 1997). Apart from the sequences encoding one virulence-associated protein, sequences of pX51 are organized into four regions that code for genes that are related to replication, mobilization and conjugative transfer and they do not play a role in pathogenesis (Marques et al. 2001). Genomes of several strains have since been partially or completely sequenced (Bhattacharyya et al. 2002; Nunes et al. 2003; van Sluys et al. 2003), including a non-pathogenic strain (Koide et al. 2004). Comparisons of pathogenic and nonpathogenic strains show that 14 genes are highly divergent or absent from the nonpathogenic strain. Among the absent genes are genes that code for an arginase and a fimbrial adhesin precursor, which may correlate to decreased aggregation of the nonpathogenic strain in xylem vessels and its inability to multiply in host plants, respectively. Sequences coding for an enzyme, UDP-3-O-(R-3-hydroxymyristoyl)-glucosamine N-acyltransferase, are not present in the genome of the nonpathogenic CVC strain. This enzyme catalyzes the final step in the synthesis of a lipopolysaccharide component of the outer membrane; its absence may result in the bacterium being more sensitive to plant antimicrobial compounds. Ten of the genes do not show similarities to known genes.

Genetic comparisons to the closely related X. axonopodis pv. citri reveal 1495 proteins in common between with X. axonopodis pv. citri and X. fastidiosa. Genes that are over- represented in X. fastidiosa and not Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. citri relate to virulence and adaptation to the plant host (Moreira et al. 2004). They include (i) a type IV pili system involved in the attachment to the insect vector as well as adhesion and colonization of host tissue leading to cell aggregates, (ii) colicins, which play a role in bacterial antagonism and which may be more important to xylem-dwelling Xylella than to the mesophyll-colonizing Xanthomonas, and (iii) restriction and modification systems responsible for the protection of genetic material against invasion of exogenous DNA that may relate to the different plant environments inhabited by the two pathogens. Overall, the genome of X. axonopodis pv. citri is more complex than that of X. fastidiosa. The larger genome of 5.2 Mb encodes for a type II secretion system, a number of cell-wall-degrading enzymes and avirulence effector proteins associated with a type III secretion system, and a complete flagellar

and chemostatic system.

The first line of defense against CC and CVC is exclusion through ongoing inspections of nurseries and orchards, quarantine and eradication campaigns (Gottwald and Timmer 1995; Gottwald and Graham 2000; Graham et al. 2004). Regions in which CC is established have adopted a number of cultural practices involving planting of non-citrus trees or shrubs as windbreaks (e.g. saw pine, red cedar and eucalyptus), leafminer control, especially during periods of flush growth, copper sprays to reduce infection and the use of citrus cultivars with some degree of resistance. Similar management strategies are used against CVC. Pruning is particularly effective during the early stages of CVC infection, before infection becomes systemic. Special attention is also paid to testing of asymptomatic ornamentals, growing in the vicinity of citrus orchards, for the bacterium. Vector control is difficult. Xylella is transmitted by xylem-feeding homopteran sharpshooter leafhoppers (family Cicadellidae, subfamily Cicadellinae) and spittlebugs (family Cercopidae) (Redak et al. 2004). Roberto et al. (1996) have shown that 12 of 16 sharpshooter species in Brazil are vectors of Xylella. Transmission by these insects is unique in that multiplication of the pathogen within the host is not accompanied by a latent period (Purcell and Finlay 1979). The rates of transmission are, however, low and variable, ranging from 0.3 to 30% (Krügner et al. 2000; Yamamoto et al. 2002; Marucci et al. 2003). Moreover, Marucci et al. (2005) have provided evidence that CVC-infected citrus plants growing under greenhouse conditions are not the preferred feeding hosts of sharpshooters and the selection of diseased plants has been influenced by the level of infection. These authors have proposed that vector feeding may be more difficult in diseased plants and that the nutritional quality of xylem of these plants is reduced. Morphological and biochemical changes associated with CVC-infected citrus include increased levels of lignin, chitinase and β -1,3-glucanase (Martins *et al.* 1999). Vector activity, dispersion of the insects, and selection of feeding sites within hosts are considered more important to CVC disease dynamics than population densities of the insects (Redak et al. 2004).

Monitoring of CC and CVC is facilitated by reliable detection of both pathogens with various PCR methods using primers designed for unique regions in the genome of *X*. *fastidiosa* or for plasmid-borne genes of *X*. *axonopodis* pv. citri, rDNA sequences and general or pathogenicity regulatory factors (Hartung *et al.* 1993; Minsavage *et al.* 1994; Pooler and Hartung 1995; Chen *et al.* 2000; Oliveira *et al.* 2000; Cubero and Graham 2002; Schaad *et al.* 2002; Rodrigues *et al.* 2003; Cubero and Graham 2004; Mavrodieva *et al.* 2004; Cubero and Graham 2005; Coletta-Filho *et al.* 2006; Francis *et al.* 2006; Golmohammadi *et al.* 2007).

Citrus huanglongbing or citrus greening

Citrus huanglongbing (HLB), also known as citrus greening disease or yellow-shoot disease, is one of the most extensively studied bacterial diseases of citrus. HLB is known as the century-old malady of citrus in Asia. Apart from the Indian subcontinent, China, and South East Asia, other regions with a long history of the disease include East Africa, Cameroon in West Africa, Madagascar, Reunion and Mauritius islands, and the south-western Arabian Peninsula (Garnier and Bové 2000; Polek *et al.* 2007). Recently in 2004, HLB was recorded in the citrus-growing regions of São Paulo State, Brazil and in the Florida State, USA, in 2005 (da Graça 1991; da Graça and Korsten 2004; Halbert and Manjunath 2004; Coletta-Filho *et al.* 2004; Teixeira *et al.* 2005; Knighten *et al.* 2005). The Mediterranean basin, the Middle East, Oceania (Bové 2006) and Jamaica (S. Brown, pers. comm.) apparently remain free of the disease.

HLB infection of young citrus trees is generally marked by the appearance of a yellow shoot composed of blotchy, mottled leaves which later progresses across the entire canopy (**Fig. 2**). Young diseased trees never come into production. Disease symptoms in older trees, on the other hand,



Fig. 2 Yellow shoot symptoms (A) and blotchy mottle-affected leaves (B, C) of Huanglongbing. (Photos: Helvecio Coletta-Filho, MaryLou Polek, and Joseph Bové)

are at first confined to the initial area of infection, while the remaining canopy shows normal vegetative growth and fruit production; hence the name 'huanglongbing' or 'yellow dragon disease'. Severely infected trees develop more extensive yellowing, and are sparsely foliated, stunted and non-productive. Generally, severe symptom expression of dieback and severe decline are more prevalent in Asia than in other regions. Associated with the mottle foliar symptom expression is the premature shedding of green fruit, hence the name 'greening'. Fruits that remain on the tree are small, misshapen, contain aborted seeds and mature only on one side (**Fig. 3**). They are mainly inedible, high in acid content



Fig. 3 Color inversion (healthy fruit left, affected fruit right, A) and misshapen fruit (containing aborted seeds, B) of Huanglongbing infected trees. (Photos: Joseph Bové)

and very bitter. Greening symptoms of fruits occur mainly in Africa (Garnier and Bové 2000; da Graca and Korsten 2004). Sweet oranges, mandarins, and mandarin hybrids are most affected by HLB regardless of the rootstock whereas grapefruits, 'Rangpur lime', lemons, and pummelos develop less severe disease symptoms. 'Mexican lime', trifoliate orange and their hybrids are regarded as most tolerant to HLB which causes only leaf mottling symptoms on these citrus cultivars. HLB affects other plants of Rutaceae, such as the ornamental shrub Murraya paniculata (orange jasmine), Severinia buxifolia (Chinese box orange), Vepis undulata, Clausena anisata, Zanthoxylum capense, Limonia acidissima, Calodendrum capense (Cape chestnut), and the common Chinese landscape plant and a popular medicinal herb, Atalantia buxifolia (Moran 1978; Korsten et al. 1996; Garnier et al. 2000; Hung et al. 2001; Li and Ke 2002; Zhou et al. 2007; Deng et al. 2008). Members of other plant genera may be infected experimentally by the parasitic plant Cuscuta spp. (dodder), albeit at a lower titer in some instances than in citrus hosts, and include tobacco (Nicotiana xanthi), tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum) and periwinkle (Catharanthus roseus) (Ke et al. 1988; Bové 2006; Zhou et al. 2007; Francischini et al. 2008; Duan et al. 2008).

The causal agent of HLB is a phloem-limited, Gramnegative, fastidious prokaryote of the phylum Proteobac*teria*. In 1994, Jagoueix *et al.* defined the '*Candidatus*' generic name 'Liberobacter'. However, the nomenclature of the species was modified to 'Liberibacter' by Garnier *et al.* in 2000. Although the bacterium has not been cultured and Koch's postulates never satisfied, three species have been proposed based 16S rDNA analysis, namely 'Candidatus Liberibacter asiaticus', 'Ca. L. africanus' (da Graça 1991; Planet et al. 1995); and 'Ca. L. americanus' (Teixeira et al. 2005), which occur in Asia, Africa, and Brazil, respectively. The disease elicited by these three forms of the pathogen differs by a combination of environmental conditions and insect vectors. Those HLB infections caused by the heattolerant forms of Ca. Liberibacter asiaticus and Ca. L. americanus are vectored by Diaphorina citri. Symptom expression occurs under both warm (27 to 35°C) and cool conditions (20 and 24°C). The presence of Ca. Liberibacter asiaticus was confirmed in Florida along with the pysllid vector, D. citri (Halbert 1998; Bové 2006). The African form of HLB, caused by Ca. L. africanus, is a heat-sensitive form that is vectored by the pysllid, Trioza erytreae. Symptoms are expressed only under relatively cool conditions (Bové et al. 1974). Heat tolerance of both psyllid vectors corresponds to that of the HLB forms. D. citri thrives in hot, low-lying areas of south and south-east Asia, eastern Iran, Saudi Arabia, Argentina, Brazil, Honduras, Mexico, Texas, Florida, the Bahamas, Cuba, Puerto Rico, Costa Rica and Guadeloupe (Knapp et al. 1998; Cermeli et al. 2000; French et al. 2001; da Graça and Korsten 2004). The African T. erytreae prefers cooler conditions at elevations ≥ 500 m above sea level (Bové 2006; Le Roux et al. 2006).

Nucleotide sequence analysis of 16S rDNA of HLB strains from Asia (Poona strain, India) and Africa (Nelspruit strain, South Africa) in the early 1990s showed similarity of 97.7% between the strains (Jagoueix *et al.* 1994). Similarly, later reports in 2000 suggested high sequence identities (99.4-100%) between Asian strains (Okinawa, Irimote, Indonesia, Thailand, Nepal and the Philippines), but lower se-

quence identities with African strains (97.5%) (Subandiyah et al. 2000). More recently, Coletta-Filho et al. (2005) reported on two distinct strains of HLB bacteria, designated as LSg1 and LSg2, in Sao Paulo, Brazil. LSg1 was 100% identical to Asian strains, whereas the LSg2 strain shared high similarities of 95 to 96% with African strains. The American strain shares 93.7% and 93.9% similarities with the African and Asian forms, respectively (Coletta-Filho et al. 2005). Sequences of cloned fragments of the genomes of an Indian strain (Poona) have been reported (Villechanoux et al. 1993). In general, the organization of the fragment containing the nusG-rplKAJL-rpoBC operon has proven to be similar to that of eubacteria and is 74.2% similar to the same region in an African strain (Nelspruit) (Planet et al. 1995). Sequences of another fragment of the Indian HLB, not found in an African strain of HLB, resembles that of a DNA polymerase of bacteriophage SPO2. Given that field diagnosis of HLB is difficult because of the non-specifc nature of foliar symptoms and the similarities to nutrient deficiencies, probes and primers designed to the nusG*rpl*KAJL-*rpo*BC operon or to the ribosomal protein genes rplA and rplJ are used for confirmation of HLB Liberobacter, or to differentiate between the Asian and African strains, respectively (Jagoueix et al. 1996; Hocquellet et al. 1997).

As with CC and CVC, sound integrated-pest-management strategies are recommended for the management of HLB. Establishment of orchards with disease-free materials, diligent scouting of citrus and non-citrus hosts for the identification and removal of infected branches or trees, and a psyllid control programme employing insecticides or biocontrol agents have proven effective in some regions (da Graça and Korsten 2004).

Citrus stubborn

HLB-like leaf symptoms, along with misshapened fruits that do not colour at the stem end, are induced by the pathogen, Spiroplasma citri, on citrus. Similar to HLB bacteria, S. *citri* attacks the phloem of citrus trees. Young trees are often severely stunted, with dense, abnormally upright leaves. Symptoms are less conspicuous on mature trees, but fruits of poor quality are produced and yields are reduced (Timmer 1999). Off-season flowering is common, resulting in various ages and sizes of fruit on trees. The disease, referred to as citrus stubborn (CSD) is, however, rarely lethal to citrus and symptom expresson is more predominant under warm weather conditions (Bové and Garnier 2000). All major commercial citrus species are susceptible to CSD. Other rutaceous hosts include Fortunella spp. and interspecific rootstock hybrids, such as citranges (C. sinensis x Poncirus trifoliata). P. trifoliate is often asymptomatic when infected (Bové and Garnier 2000). Many other cultivated or wild plants are also hosts of S. citri and include members of the families Amaranthaceae, Apocynaceae (Catharanthus roseus), Chenopodiaceae, Brassicaceae (Armoracia rusticana) and Plantaginaceae. CSD is an important disease in several hot and arid regions of southwestern US, most of North Africa, the eastern Mediterranean Basin, and the Middle East (Bové and Garnier 2000). Neither mechanical nor seed transmission of S. citri has been demonstrated. Natural spread is via leafhoppers (Scaphytopius nitrides, Circulifer tenellus) and is apparently controlled by the interac-



Fig. 4 Tristeza decline (A), swelling at the bud union (B) and stem pitting in the trunk of sweet orange seedlings grown in the greenhouse (C). (Photos: Latanya Fisher)

tion of *S. citri* with two leafhopper glycoproteins (Killiny *et al.* 2005). Management of CSD is achieved by the use of disease-free budwood.

S. citri, the type species of the genus *Spiroplasma* (Spiroplasmataceae, Mollicutes), is a wall-less eubacterium, with helical morphology and motility (Woese 1987; Weisburg *et al.* 1989). Ye and coworkers determined the genomic map by restriction fragment analysis in the 1990s (Ye *et al.* 1992). The size varies among strains, ranging from 1.6 to 1.9 Mbp, and is characterized by numerous extrachromosomal elements (Ye *et al.* 1995). These plasmids encode for proteins involved in DNA-element partitioning, cell-to-cell DNA transfer and insect transmissibility. Presumably, they contribute to efficient transmission by different insect vectors to various plant hosts and thereby assist in the rapid adaptation of the mollicute (Calavan and Bové 1989).

VIRUS AND VIRUS-LIKE DISEASES

Citrus is host to over 40 virus, virus-like and presumed virus pathogens (Timmer *et al.* 2000). However, three pathogens, *Citrus tristeza virus*, *Citrus psorosis virus*, and *Citrus leprosis virus*, responsible for the diseases tristeza, psorosis, and leprosis, respectively, are considered economically important and cause major losses in important citrus-growing regions. Tatterleaf, exocortis and cachexia are also quarantine risks.

Tristeza

Citrus tristeza virus (CTV), a phloem-limited virus, is known to infect, naturally, all citrus species, hybrids or cultivars, and other closely related *Citrus* and *Fortunella* genera of the Rutaceae family. Experimental hosts of CTV include *Aegle, Aeglopsis, Afraegle, Citropsis, Clausena, Eremocitrus, Heesperthusa, Merrillia, Microcitrus, Pamburus, Pleiospermum* and *Swinglea*. Experimental infection of noncitrus hosts, *Passiflora* spp., has been achieved (Yoshida 1996; Lee and Bar-Joseph 2000).

Symptoms of CTV are dependent on environmental conditions, citrus species and scion-rootstock combination and virus strains (Garnsey *et al.* 1987). The four major strains of CTV include mild, decline-inducing, stem-pitting and seedling-yellows strains (Roistacher 1991). Mild strains induce no discernable symptoms in citrus. Decline strains cause tristeza disease on sweet oranges, mandarins, grape-fruits, kumquats and limes propagated on sour orange or lemon rootstock. Infection results in quick decline (**Fig. 4**),

wilting and death of the tree. Girdling at the bud union (Fig. 4) due to non-functional phloem is accompanied by a reduction in the root system, dull-green or yellow foliage, leaf drop, twig dieback and the production of unmarketable, small, pale-colored fruits. All citrus cultivars are affected by stem-pitting strains of CTV, regardless of the scion-rootstock combination. Unlike decline strains, infection with stem-pitting strains does not generally culminate in tree death, but results in poor vigor, the production of small fruits containing little juice and chronic yield reductions. Presumably, interruptions in meristematic activity in areas of the cambium cause irregular radial growth and local depressions or stem pitting (Fig. 4). In extreme cases, there is the distribution of deep pits and longitudinal depressions in the bark, distortion and twisting of the main branches and the development of many fine pits. Moreno et al. (1989) have documented changes in protein profiles, in particular, a 20-kDa protein in the bark of infected sour orange rootstock. Additionally, Gandía et al. (2007) have illustrated differential changes in gene expression between 'Mexican lime' plants infected with severe (T305) or mild (T385) CTV strains. While no significant change in gene expression has been observed in response to T385 in transcriptome analysis using a citrus microarray, a 28% increase in expression of genes involved in stress and defense has been noted in plants infected with T305. On the virus side, the molecular determinants for symptom expression have not been defined, but expression of the virus coat protein in a number of citrus species induces CTV-like symptoms (veinclearing, leaf epinasty, apical necrosis and stunting). The fourth CTV strain, seedling yellows, induces a disorder that causes stunting and chlorosis (Moreno et al. 2008). Of the four strains, stem-pitting and decline strains are the most economically important.

CTV is a member of the *Closteroviridae* family. The virus consists of a monopartite positive-sense, single-stranded, RNA genome comprised of 19,296 nucleotides encapsidated in flexuous, rod-shaped particles of 2,000 \times 11 nm (Bar-Joseph *et al.* 1989; Karasev 2000). Two capsid proteins, of 25 and 27 kDa, coat approximately 95 and 5% of the particle, respectively (Pappu *et al.* 1993; Febres *et al.* 1996). The virus uses three replication strategies (proteolytic processing, translational frameshifting, and formation of subgenomic RNAs) and, at any one time, there are usually more than 30 different species of RNA in an infected cell (Hilf *et al.* 1995; Mawassi *et al.* 1995; Karasev 2000; Che *et al.* 2001; Gowda *et al.* 2001, 2003). In addition to genomic and subgenomic RNAs, multiple defective RNAs (D- RNAs), the products of non-homologous recombination, are generally prevalent. D-RNAs are typically less than 5 Kb and contain the 5' and 3' terminal segments of the genomic RNA and extensive internal deletions, but larger types of up to 12 Kb that consist of portions of the first two 5' ORFs or the 3' terminal ORFs have been described (Mawassi *et al.* 1995; Ayllón *et al.* 1999; Yang *et al.* 1997; Che 2001; Che 2002).

The complete nucleotide sequence of CTV genomic RNA has been reported for mild and severe isolates from Florida, i.e. T36 and T30 (Pappu et al. 1994; Karasev et al. 1995; Albiach-Martí et al. 2000), a severe isolate from California i.e. SY568 (Yang et al. 1999) and Israel (VT, Mawassi et al. 1996), mild and severe isolates from Spain, i.e. T385 and T318A (Vives et al. 1999; Ruiz-Ruiz 2006), a seedling-yellow isolate from Japan, i.e. NUagA (Suastika et al. 2001), and an isolate from Egypt (Qaha, GenBank accession number AY 340974). Low genetic variation exists between T36 and Qaha as well as T30 and T385 isolates. The genome of SY568, however, appears to have been generated from recombination between T385 or T30 and an unrelated genotype (Vives et al. 1999, 2005). T318A sequence shows high nucleotide identity with the severe isolates SY568R (98.4%) and NUagA (97.9%) and lower identity values with VT, T385 and T36 (95.1, 89.6 and 77.3%, respectively). Apparently, the isolates from different geographical locations share a common ancestor and high selective pressure on the virus genome maintains a repertoire of genotypes with appropriate fitness for survival (Ruiz-Ruiz et al. 2006). Previous genetic analysis of the 5' half of the genome of over 300 CTV isolates from 30 citrus-growing regions indicated grouping of isolates into (i) T30 and genotypes and (ii) T36 genotypes (Hilf et al. 1995). VT

Spread of CTV by propagation of virus-infected planting materials accounts for most CTV introductions in a country, whereas local spread is primarily by vector transmission (Moreno et al. 2008). CTV is transmitted by seven aphid species, Aphis gossypii, Aphis spiraecola, Aphis craccivora, Toxoptera aurantii, Myzus persicae, Macrosiphum euphorbiae and Toxoptera citricida, in a semi-persistent manner (Bar-Joseph et al. 1983). The latter is the most efficient vector, especially of severe strains (Rocha-Peña et al. 1995; Karasev 2000). A. gossypii is the second most efficient vector of CTV and is the major vector in the Mediterranean basin and areas of North America (Cambra et al. 2000). However, the two species cause different patterns of virus spread, presumably related to their feeding habits. A. gossypii is a migrating vector, whose movements to trees several meters away is affected by wind, while T. citricida is a colonizer and moves to adjacent or nearby trees (Gottwald et al. 1996). Increases in CTV of 5 to 95% in 8 to 15 years between random trees several meters apart have been documented in regions where A. gossypii was predominant. In contrast, similar increases in disease have been observed in a shorter period of 2 to 4 years with spread between trees in close vicinity (Gottwald et al. 1996, 1998; Hughes and Gottwald 1998; Gottwald et al. 1999). Other than the prevailing aphid species, factors affecting the rate of CTV spread include aphid population density, environmental conditions, such as moderate temperatures, irrigation, and fertilization that results in new flushes, and citrus cultivar (Moreno et al. 2008). However, in some countries, such as Israel, a lag period of more than 30 years has been observed between the introduction of CTV and noticeable field spread of the virus, which would indicate the requirement of an adaptation period of virus strains to the local vector (Bar-Joseph 1978).

CTV is distributed worldwide in tropical citrus-growing regions such as North, Central and South America, the Caribbean, Asia, Africa, Oceania and the EU (Bové and Vogel 1981; Roistacher 2004; Roye *et al.* 2007). Traditionally, CTV diagnosis has been performed by biological indexing on sensitive citrus indicators, such as 'Mexican lime' (*C. macrophylla*). 'Mexican lime' seedlings exhibit vein clearing, leaf cupping, reduced internodes, and stem

pitting upon CTV infection. Grapefruit, sour orange and sweet orange are used to differentiate between mild, decline, and stem-pitting inducing strains (Roistacher 1991). Diagnostic symptoms include stunting and small yellow leaves in grapefruit and sour orange. Pitting is observed in the stems of grapefruit and sweet orange. Iodine testing on plants for starch depletion and microscopic detection for inclusion bodies have also been used (Garnsey et al. 1980; Brlansky 1988; Roistacher 1991). However, serological detection using ELISA techniques with polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies specific for CTV strains are routinely used today (Permar et al. 1990; Garnsey and Cambra 1991). Molecular techniques such as RT-PCR, hybridisation and dsRNA patterns are also employed in the detection of CTV (Dodds et al. 1987; Sekiya et al. 1991) including the differentiation between mild and severe strains (Mehta et al. 1997; Huang et al. 2004).

CTV is the most destructive and economically important virus affecting citrus varieties worldwide. It has been responsible for the death of over 50 million trees worldwide and has affected citrus production significantly especially in regions where widespread use of the most susceptible rootstock, that is sour orange, occurs (Rocha-Peña et al. 1995). Hence, quarantine measures have been put in place to limit and avoid introduction of the virus into regions where it is absent or only the mild strains are present. Other precautionary measures include the introduction of official virus-free certification programs for monitoring local distribution of citrus materials, prohibition of importation of citrus varieties from countries with CTV and treatment of exported fruits for pests in order to prevent the introduction of the vector into other countries. Surveys for CTV using ELISA detection are encouraged at regular intervals to detect new outbreaks of the disease (Navarro et al. 1984, 1988; Frison and Taher 1991). There is no single effective strategy for managing the dreaded disease once CTV has been introduced into a region. Current methods employed include mild-strain cross-protection; the use of biological-control agents of the vector, tolerant cultivars, chemical control of vectors and clean stock or certification programs (Rocha-Peña et al. 1995; Lee and Bar-Joseph 2000; Walker and Hoy 2003). Although genetic resistance is the most effective way to manage the disease, the complex reproductive biology of citrus has impeded the genetic improvement of the crop through conventional breeding methods (Peña et al. 2007). As a result, several research groups have examined pathogen-derived resistance and direct genetic manipulation of citrus for the development of transgenic resistance against CTV. Varying levels of resistance have been reported with transgenic plants (Citrus aurantifolia) carrying the coat protein *p25* following exposure to the virus via aphid and graft inoculations. The phenotypes included no-symptom expression, or delay in symptom expression and virus accumulation (Dominguez et al. 2002). Resistance has also been obtained against non-homologous strains (Dominguez et al. 2002). However, other transformation experiments with citrus (Citrus aurantifolia) transgenic for the silencing suppressor and pathogenicity determinant, p23 (Lu et al. 2004) have resulted in developmental abnormalities in the host, closely resembling virus-like symptoms (Fagoaga et al. 2005). Subsequent studies with similarly transformed citrus showing normal phenotypes have yielded strong levels of resistance against CTV (Fagoaga et al. 2006). Transgenic plants that produce dsRNA transcripts of p23 transcripts have not provided resistance against CTV (Batuman et al. 2006). Whether or not the use of transgenic plants could be an alternative strategy for managing CTV in the field remains to be tested.

Psorosis

Citrus psorosis virus (CPsV) is responsible for the first and longest-known virus disease of citrus. It is speculated that the virus originated in Asia and was spread worldwide through the distribution of citrus planting materials (Roista-



Fig. 5 Leaf (A, B, C) and bark symptoms (D) of psorosis. (Photos: Jose Guerri)

cher 2004). Two species differing in virulence have been described; psorosis A, the more common form which induces a mild form of the disease and the more severe form, psorosis B. The latter strain has been referred to over the years as *Citrus ringspot virus*.

Bark scaling is the major and diagnostic symptom in mature (> 10 years) orange, grapefruit and occasionally mandarin field trees infected with psorosis A (Fig. 5). Gumming later appears and, in advanced stages, accumulates below the scales, impregnating the xylem which results in the staining of the wood of the main trunk and limbs and vessel occlusion. Leaf symptoms may also occur as chlorotic flecking on young leaves on new flushes (Fig. 5), but they gradually fade as the leaves mature (Roistacher 1993; Derrick and Barthe 2000). Symptoms of psorosis B, the more aggressive form of the disease, include persistent chlorotic flecking on leaves with gummy pustules on the under side, extensive bark scaling of the trunk and secondary branches, and, occasionally, ringspot blemishes on fruits. Neither form kills citrus trees, but afflicted trees exhibit reduced canopies and twig dieback and produce fruits with reduced weights, especially when infected with psorosis B (Fawcett and Klotz 1938; Klotz and Fawcett 1941; Fawcett and Bitancourt 1943). Disease development is slow in citrus, with symptoms being manifested several years after exposure to the CsPV. Bark-scaling symptoms are often confused with those of Rio Grande gummosis and leprosis. However, gum exudation is more copious and eruptive with Rio Grande gummosis than those of Psorosis, and more localized lesions are formed in leprosis-infected trees. CsPV affects a wide experimental host range, including the plant families Amaranthaceae, Apocynaceae, Chenopodiaceae, Compositae, Cucurbitaceae, Leguminosae-Papilionoideae, Pedaliaceae, Rutaceae, Solanaceae (Timmer et al. 1978). CsPV is mainly spread by propagation of infected planting materials, but observations in Argentina, Texas and California implicate an unknown vector (Timmer and Garnsey 1980; Roistacher 1993). An Opidium-like fungus has been found associated with roots and soil samples from afflicted trees (Palle et al. 2005).

CsPV, type member of the genus *Ophiovirus* (Milne *et al.* 2000), consists of circular, filamentous, naked nucleocapsids of variable lengths (1500-2500 nm and 760 nm), with a constant diameter of about 3 nm (García *et al.* 1994; Milne *et al.* 2000). The single-stranded negative-sense RNA genome is divided into three segments; (i) RNA1 of 8,184 nucleotides which has two ORFs, one of which potentially encodes an RNA-dependent RNA polymerase, (ii) RNA2 of 1,650 nucleotides, which codes for a putative 54 kDa protein of unknown function, and (iii) the smallest component, RNA3 of 1,454 nucleotides, which encodes for the coat protein (Barthe *et al.* 1998; Sánchez de la Torre *et al.* 1998, 2002; Naum-Ongania *et al.* 2003). Genetic analysis of the RNA species of 22 isolates from Argentina, California, Florida, Italy and Spain has revealed three clades; (i) group I, comprising isolates from California, Florida, Italy and Spain; (ii) group II, the Argentian isolate, which consists of a homogenous population, and (iii) group III, which is distant from the other two groups and which contains a single isolate from Texas (Martin *et al.* 2006). Martin and coworkers (2006) have suggested that the populations examined have been shaped by gene flow between countries, genetic exchange, and the effects of selection for amino-acid conservation.

Psorosis is controllable by budwood certification. Indexing is generally conducted by graft-inoculating citrus indicator plants (sweet orange, mandarin, sweet tangor) and observing the resulting flecking of young leaf leaves (Roistacher 1993; Derrick and Barthe 2000). Quicker methods available are serological, such as double-antibody sandwich (DAS-ELISA), triple-antibody sandwich (TAS-ELISA) and TAS-ELISA-HRP (triple-antibody sandwich linked to horseradish peroxidase) (García et al. 1997; Alioto et al. 1999; Zanek et al. 2006). Primers designed to the coat protein gene are also used for RT-PCR diagnosis (García et al. 1997; Barthe et al. 1998). TAS-ELISA and RT-PCR have proven to be the more reliable tests for detecting the virus in field trees (Barthe et al. 1998; Legarreta et al. 2000; Martin et al. 2002). Shoot-tip grafting, thermotherapy (40°C for 16 hours with lights and 30°C for 8 hours in the dark), and somatic embryogenesis can be used for the elimination of CPsV from propagative materials (D'Onghia et al. 1997; Derrick and Barthe 2000; Roistacher 2004). Transgenic materials have not provided resistance against the virus thus far. Transgenic sweet orange plants carrying the coat protein gene of CPsV from Texas failed to confer resistance against the homologous isolate when graft-inoculated under greenhouse conditions. A combination of factors, including a high dose of challenge virus, variable transgene expression and resistance-breaking proteins of the challenge virus have been cited to be responsible for the reaction of the transgenic plants (Zanek et al. 2008).

Leprosis

Citrus leprosis (CL) or scaly bark is an economic disease of mainly sweet orange and mandarins (*C. reticulata*, *C. reshni*, *C. deliciosa*). The disease is characterized by the formation of local lesions on citrus leaves, stems and fruits. Leaf lesions of 2 to 3 mm in diameter are initially chlorotic and later become necrotic in the center, but maintain a chlorotic halo. Larger lesions of 10 to 20 mm may develop due to coalescence of smaller leaf lesions. Lesions on immature fruits develop similarly to the leaf lesions, but they become

depressed and are associated with gum exudation. Protruberant, necrotic lesions develop on stems. Coalescence of numerous stem lesions leads to death of the twig, premature fruit drop, and leaf abscission. In 2006, de Andrade Maia and de Oliveiria (2006) investigated whether plants commonly used as hedge rows or windbreaks could serve as alternative hosts for CL. A number of weeds found in citrus orchards were also included in the study. Mites reared on infected citrus were transferred to the hedge row or windbreak plants Malvaviscus mollis, Hibiscus spp., Mimosa caesalpiniaefolia and Grevillea robusta, or to the weeds Bixa orellana, Commelina benghalensis, Bidens pilosa, Sida cordifolia and Ageratum conyzoides. They were maintained on these plants for 90 days and then transferred to citrus cultivars 'Natal' and 'Valencia'. Within 60 days, lesions typical of CL were observed on 'Natal' trees when infested with mites from A. conyzoides, C. benghalensis and B. orellana. 'Valencia' trees were affected when infested with mites from S. cordifolia, C. benghalensis, B. orellana and A. conyzoides. Neither of these citrus varieties was affected when infested with mites from M. mollis, Hibiscus spp., G. robusta, or M. caesalpiniaefolia. Experimental hosts of CL include Gomphrena globosa and numerous species of Chenopodium such as C. album, C. amaranticolor, C. captitatum, C. foliosum, C. murale, C. polysspermum, and C. quinoa. Local lesions are induced on these host plants (Chagas 2000).

CL has been reported in the Americas; in Argentina, Colombia, Brazil, Guatemala, Paraguay, Uruguay, Bolivia, Venezuela, Panama, Costa Rica and Honduras (Spegazzini 1920; Fawcett 1936; Bitancourt 1937; Vergani 1945; Bitancourt 1955; Rodrigues *et al.* 1995; Araya Gonzáles 2000; Dominguez *et al.* 2001; Saavedra de Dominguez *et al.* 2001; Mejia *et al.* 2002; Rodrigues *et al.* 2003a, 2003b; Gómez *et al.* 2005; Leon *et al.* 2006; Rodrigues *et al.* 2007). Fawcett described the disease in Florida in 1907 and it caused substantial damage to the sweet orange crop between 1906 and 1925. However, it is believed that CL was in the region some 40 years previously. Surveys have not detected CL in the region since. Leprosis has never been reported to occur in Europe.

The causal agent of CL is a virus, *Citrus leprosis virus* (CiLV). Two forms of the virus have been described. Enveloped, bacilliform, 120-130 nm \times 50-55 nm particles of CiLV-C are the most common and are confined to cytoplasmic vesicles. The rare type, CiLV-N, consists of naked, rod-shaped particles, 100-110 nm \times 40-50 nm, which are associated with the endoplasmic reticulum and nuclear membranes of infected cells (Kitajima *et al.* 1972; Colariccio *et al.* 1995; Dominguez *et al.* 2001; Kitajima *et al.* 2004). CiLV-N reportedly occurs in Brazil and Panama (Kitajima *et al.* 1972; Dominguez *et al.* 2001). In 2005, Freitas-Astúa *et al.* (2005) showed that CiLV-C and CiLV-N are different viruses that do not share nucleotide sequences even though there are no distinct differences in symptomlology for the diseases elicited by CiLV-C and CiLV-N (Rodrigues *et al.* 2003a, 2003b).

CiLV is tentatively grouped in the genus *Rhabdovirus* because of similarities in particle morphology to members in the genus (Kitajma et al. 1972). However, recent nucleotide sequence data of the CiLV-C genome of an isolate from Brazil suggest that the virus is more related to positivesense RNA viruses, such as furo-, tobamo- and tobra-viruses, among others, than to rhabdoviruses (Locali-Fabris et al. 2006; Padrón et al. 2006). Locali-Fabris et al. (2006) have proposed a unique genus, Cilevirus, for this species. CiLV-C is a bipartite, single-stranded positive-sense, RNA virus comprised of RNA1 (8,745 nucleotides) and RNA2 (4,986 nucleotides). Functions have not been assigned to all the ORFs of the two RNA species, so far, but it has been deciphered that RNA1 encodes a putative replicase polyprotein and sequences for a movement protein are on RNA2 (Padrón et al. 2006).

Brevipalpus mites (Acari: Tenuipalpidae), or the false spider mites, have been incriminated in vectoring CiLV

(Rodrigues *et al.* 2000, 2003a, 2003b). Transmission occurs in a circulative-propagative manner (Rodrigues *et al.* 1997). Each lesion produced is presumably associated with feeding by a mite vector. Mites remain viruliferous for their lifetime, but transovarial transmission is not known (Rodrigues *et al.* 2003a, 2003b). Both virus types are associated with the vector.

Feeding injuries of the mite vector and similarities with lesions of psorosis and CC often cause confusion and hinder the correct identification of CL. Historically, diagnosis of CL is achieved through examination of tissue sections of lesions for the cytopathic effects or by transmission of the disease agent by the mite vector (Lovisolo 2001). Locali and others (2003) developed the first, specific, molecular, diagnostic tool for the detection of cytoplasmic-type CiLV. Two primers were designed to amplify the movement protein and replicase of CiLV in RT-PCR. The use of both primers in assays was recommended to reduce false negatives and to guarantee reliability of dectection. Management of the disease employs the use of resistant citrus cultivars, windbreaks, control of weeds that may be reservoirs for the vector (and possibly for the virus), pruning to reduce disease inoculum and seasonal acaricide sprays to manage mite populations (Childers et al. 2003; Rodrigues and Machado 2003). Alternative strategies for managing mite populations involve the preservation of entomopathogenic fungi and predaceous mites (Phytoseiidae) in citrus orchards (Bastianel et al. 2006; Chen et al. 2006).

Tatterleaf

The virus formerly known as *Citrus tatterleaf virus* (CTLV or CiTLV) is presently classified with the *Apple stem grooving virus* (ASGV) of the family *Closteroviridae* and genus *Capillovirus* (van Regenmortel *et al.* 2000). Since literature on the virus is mainly under the former acronym, the virus will be referred to as CTLV.

CTLV has long filamentous particles with a modal length of 600-700 nm and a width of 12 nm. Its genome is made up of a single species of single-stranded RNA (~6,500 Kb) with two overlapping ORFs (Yoshikawa et al. 1992; Ohira et al. 1995). The virus is believed to have originated in China, and to have been imported into the USA in 1962 in latently infected 'Meyer lemon' materials and subsequently distributed thereafter to other countries. CTLV has been reported in Japan, Africa and Australia, and is restricted to Morocco in the Mediterranean (Marais and Lee 1986; Miyakawa and Ito 2000), in citrus and non-citrus hosts. Complete genome sequences of isolates from kumquat in Taiwan (GenBank accession number AY646511) and lily in Japan (Ohira et al. 1995) have been reported. Phylogenetic analysis show large divergence between CTLV isolates from different hosts (Magome et al. 1997; Hilf 2008).

CTLV causes the disease tatterleaf or citrange stunt on many citrus species, cultivars, and hybrids (Adams et al. 2004). Although the virus is symptomless in most citrus species (C. sinensis, C. aurantium, C. paradisi, C. reticulata and C. limon), it causes bud-union abnormality or fluting when these varieties are grafted onto a trifoliate or trifoliate hybrid rootstock. The scion can easily be severed at the bud union under high wind conditions (Roistacher 1991). Stems of afflicted citrange plants may also be deformed and exhibit a zig-zag pattern of growth in chlorotic regions. Plants also generally show stunting. Common foliar symptoms include chlorotic spotting or mottling and leaf deformities or tattered leaves, the symptom after which the disease is named (Garnsey 1964). CTLV can be transmitted to 19 herbaceous hosts, including Chenopodium quinoa, Vigna unguiculata, Phaseolus vulgaris and Nicotiana spp. Typical symptoms displayed on these plants, respectively, are chlorotic lesions and a systemic mottle, local lesions and variable systemic necrosis, and mild necrotic etching (Roistacher 1991). Spread of the disease agent is purportedly by mechanical transmission via pruning tools or razor cuts. No invertebrate vector has been implicated in the spread of the virus (Miyakawa and Ito 2000).

CTLV can be detected by DAS- ELISA using antisera developed in Japan, Germany and the United Kingdom. Molecular techniques, such as RT-PCR and immunocapture RT-PCR, have also been successfully used to detect CTLV (Magome *et al.* 1997; Hilf 2008). Biologically, CTLV can be detected by grafting infected tissue onto rusk citrange (*C. excelsa*), citrange or citremon seedlings (Roistacher 1991).

Tatterleaf poses an economic risk since it is symptomless in most commercially important citrus species and is easily transmitted mechanically. In addition, the trifoliate rootstocks which are being used to combat the dreaded tristeza disease are susceptible to tatterleaf. Hence, measures must be in place to test for CTLV in all citrus materials to ensure an effective certification program. The virus can be eliminated from infected budwood by a combination of thermotherapy and shoot-tip grafting (Roistacher 1977; Koizumi 1984).

Exocortis and cachexia

Viroid diseases of exocortis and cachexia are also prevalent wherever citrus is grown (Wallace 1978; Roistacher 1991; Kyriakou 1992; Najar and Duran-Vila 2004; Ragozzino et al. 2005; Ramachandran et al. 2005; Ito et al. 2006; Kunta et al. 2007; Malfitano et al. 2005; Rizza et al. 2007; Bennett et al. 2008; Wang et al. 2008). The etiological agents, Citrus exocortis viroid (CEVd) and Hop stunt viroid (HSVd synonym: citrus viroid [CVd]-II), classified in the family Pospiviroidae, of the genera Pospiviroid and Hostuviroid, respectively, are pathogenic to all citrus species and varieties (Frison and Taher 1991; Flores et al. 2000). Viroids are small, low-molecular-weight infectious, RNA molecules and are the smallest known pathogens of higher plants (Ding and Itaya 2007). The genetic material, ranging from 246 to 463 nucleotides, is unencapsidated, circular, singlestranded and has no protein coding properties (Ito 2002). In vivo, viroids assume a stable rod-like structure; the shape and stability are brought about by extensive base pairing between RNA subunits. Viroids are known to affect a variety of economically important crop plants (de Noronha Fonseca et al. 1996) and have caused significant losses worldwide (Bussiere et al. 2000; Côte et al. 2001).

Exocortis is a stunting and bark-scaling and bark-splitting disease of trees grafted on trifoliate orange (*Poncirus trifoliata*, citranges (*P. trifoliate* × *Citrus sinensis*), citron (*Citrus medica*), 'Palestine sweet lime' (*C. limettioides*); and 'Rangpur lime' (*C. limonia*) (Fawcett and Klotz 1948; Klotz *et al.* 1982). Exocortis is rarely lethal to citrus. Fruit quality is not affected and losses mainly result from reduced vegetative growth and fruit yield (Duran-Vila *et al.* 2000). Moreover, symptom severity and the time for symptom expression on the scion or rootstock are dependent on the age of the tree and environmental conditions (Duran-Vila *et al.* 2000). CEVd-infected sweet orange, grapefruit and mandarin are generally symptomless; when grafted on sensitive rootstocks, bark scaling develops on the rootstock and the tree exhibits stunting.

Cachexia is a gumming and wood-pitting disorder of citrus. General symptoms of the disease include pitting and gum impregnation of the phloem (Roistacher 1991; Lee et al. 2002). Severe infections are characterized by stunting, chlorosis and eventual death of the tree (Reichert and Bental 1961; Semancik et al. 1988; Duran-Vila et al. 2000). Mandarins (C. reticulata), their hybrids such as tangors [\hat{C} . reticulata × Citrus sinensis] and tangelos, alemows (Citrus macrophylla), 'Rangpur' limes (Citrus limonia), and kumquats (Fortunella spp.) can be infected with cachexia. Although most citrus species and cultivars are susceptible, many are symptomless hosts. Symptomless noncachexia HSVd variants are differentiated from the cachexia HSVd variants by five nucleotide differences in the variable domain or cachexia motif (Reanwarakorn and Semancik 1998; Palacio and Duran-Vila 2000; Palacio-Bielsa et al. 2004). Cachexia disease is found in most citrus-growing areas of the world where exocortis is found (Roistacher 1991).

As with citrus viruses, viroids are controllable by using certified budwood, clean pruning equipment and budding knives (Jagiello *et al.* 1994; Lee *et al.* 2002). Diseased trees should be promptly removed from orchards and replaced with healthy plants, which are often derived from shoot-tip grafting (Navarro *et al.* 1981; Juaraz *et al.* 1990; Duran-Vila *et al.* 2000; Lee *et al.* 2002). Infections with agents of exocortis and cachexia are traditionally detected by grafting on 'Etrog citron' indicator species and 'Parson's Special' mandarin, respectively. Symptoms are generally visible on Etrog within 3 to 6 months and 1 year on 'Parson's Special' mandarin (Lee *et al.* 2002). Biophysical techniques such as gel electrophoresis, hybridization and RT-PCR are also commonly used in the detection of these infectious agents, but their sensitivity depends on viroid titers in plant tissues (Duran-Vila *et al.* 2000).

NEMATODE DISEASES

Eight genera of plant parasitic nematodes of destructive potential are associated with various citrus crops (Hutton *et al.* 1982; Duncan 1999). However, two nematode species, *Tylenchulus semipenetrans*, commonly called the citrus nematode or the citrus root nematode, and *Radopholus citrophilus* (Loof 1991) (synonym *R. similis*), the burrowing nematode of citrus, are considered to be preponderantly responsible for damage to *Citrus* spp. While *T. semipenetrans* is a widely occurring nematode that is found at every location where *Citrus* spp. are grown, *R. citrophilus* affects citrus crops only in Florida. *T. semipenetrans* causes the condition referred to as 'slow decline of citrus' (SDC), whereas *R. citrophilus* causes the condition called 'spreading decline' (SD). From as far back as 1913, there is evidence that *T. semipenetrans* is pathogenic to citrus (Siddiqi 1973). SD has been known since 1928, but was not linked to the nematode until 25 years later (Orton Williams and Siddiqi 1973).

Slow decline of citrus

SDC is characterized by nonspecific indicators of inadequate roots, which include a general reduction in tree growth and vigor, yellowing, shedding of leaves, and undersized fruits. The decline symptoms are often more pronounced in the tops of the trees. Below-ground, there is poor growth of feeder roots and the adherence of soil to roots in regions of accumulated gelatinous nematode egg masses. Overall, the symptoms are very similar to those elicited by biotic and abiotic factors that impair root function. SDC is not lethal to citrus and, as the name of the disease suggests, there is a gradual increase in unthriftiness of trees. Additionally, decayed roots succumb to invasion by secondary organisms (e.g., Fusarium spp. and Sclerotium spp.), resulting in the development of lesions or cortical sloughing and root death under light or heavy infestations, respectively (Kaplan and Duncan 2000b; Duncan 2005)

A direct relationship between nematode population density and tree health has been documented. It has been found that as much as 5% loss in weight of citrus seedlings is attributable to every 1000 T. semipenetrans in the soil. Disease severity is influenced by various soil and soil nutrient conditions. Citrus in soils with 10-15% clay show more severe decline from infestations by T. semipenetrans than citrus in soils with lower or higher proportions of clay. Dry, fine-textured soils favor the nematode, but damage to trees is more pronounced in wet soils. In addition, when calcium, sodium, or potassium concentrations in soils are borderline or unfavorable for citrus, the nematode is more damaging than when occurring in soils of good nutrient status (van Gundy et al. 1964; Bello et al. 1986; Mashela et al. 1992; Navas et al. 1992). As in other cases, the physiology of the entire tree is influenced by nematode-induced root damage, and crop loss is accentuated under conditions of stress (Siddiqi 1973; Dropkin 1980). Estimated yield losses of up to 30% are due to SDC (Cohn 1972; Tarjan and O'Bannon 1974; Timmer and Davis 1982; Childers *et al.* 1987; Duncan 1989; Greco *et al.* 1993; Duncan *et al.* 1995).

T. semipenetrans, the causative agent of SDC, is a sedentary endoparasite. The females are obligate parasites and their development depends on successful establishment and maintenance of feeding sites within the root cortex. Reproduction generally occurs by parthenogenesis despite the presence of male nematodes. Both males and second-stage juveniles are produced by unfertilized females. The latter, as well as third- and fourth-stage juveniles, feed on the hypodermal cells of citrus roots while young female adults penetrate deeper into the root cortex, leaving a half of their bodies extending outside the root. Between 75 and 100 eggs are laid in gelatinous masses in nurse cells by young adult females. Although development to the second-stage juvenile occurs within the egg, this stage hatches in free soil water. Upon hatching, the second-stage juveniles then attack citrus roots. Adult males do not penetrate roots. They pass through three molts without feeding and attain maturity within 12 days of hatching. Spread of the nematode pathogen is mainly via infested seedlings and rootstocks (Siddiqi 1974; Kaplan and Duncan 2000b; Skaria 2004).

Based on differential host tests, three biotypes of the *T. semipenetrans* have been described on citrus (Baines *et al.* 1969; Inserra *et al.* 1980). The 'Citrus' and 'Mediterranean' biotypes reproduce on *Citrus* spp. and grapes; they do not reproduce on trifoliate orange, and only the 'Mediterranean' biotypes do not infect olive. 'Citrus' races are distributed throughout the USA and Italy while the 'Mediterranean' races are located in the Mediterranean, South Africa, and India (Duncan 2005). The 'Poncirus' biotype, on the other hand, is found in California, Florida, Israel, Japan and South Africa and infects *Citrus* spp., including trifoliate citrus, and does not reproduce on olive. Presumably the distribution of the biotypes correlates with the predominant rootstock. Limes, rough lemon and sour orange are more commonly used than *P. trifoliate* worldwide, except in Japan (Duncan 2005; Kwaye *et al.* 2008).

Sanitation is important to protect against the introduction of the pathogens of SDC on seedlings at planting. The citrus nematode is easily transported through infested seedlings and rootstocks. Nurseries should, therefore, never be established on or near to old citrus orchards and nursery soil should be sterilized before planting. Care should be taken not to spread the nematode through tools, machinery and irrigation water from infested groves. Hot water or nematicide dips can be used to treat bare-rooted seedlings. In soils, the citrus nematode may occur as deep as 4 meters, so fumigation is not always effective. Initially, the most frequently used control measure in fields is the application of nematicides, either as preplant soil treatments or as drenches for established trees (Siddiqi 1973; Dropkin 1980), but mechanical root pruning is being used because of environmental concerns (Lee 2004). Damage thresholds vary between regions and are dependent on prevailing factors, such as nematode reproduction rate, susceptibility of the rootstock, climatic conditions, soil properties, presence of other pathogens or microbial antagonists, and orchard management practices (Duncan and Cohn 1990; Duncan 1999). In California, treatments are recommended when populations exceed 400 females per gram of root in February to April or 700 in May to June. In South Africa, the figure is 100 females per gram of root whereas in Cyprus it is 20 juveniles/cm³ of soil (Philis 1989; Le Roux et al. 2000; Sorribas et al. 2008). Rotation with annual crops for one to two years prior to planting with citrus has been found useful in reducing nematode populations. Knowledge of pathogen biotypes is also useful in the selection of resistant rootstocks for production as well as in breeding programs (Inserra et al. 1980).

Spreading decline

SD is restricted to citrus crops established in deep, sandy, well-drained areas of central Florida. The etiological agent,

R. citrophilus, is a migratory endoparasite that enters the citrus root tip from the root cap to the region where epidermal cells have started to suberize. If the apical meristem is destroyed, terminal growth ceases. However, should terminal growth continue, lesions develop several centimeters away from the root tip and invasion via the root tip is not immediately apparent. Lesions of various sizes occur, which may coalesce to form large cankers with calloused margins. An infected tree may have approximately half as many functional feeder roots as a healthy tree. At depths between 25 and 75 cm, 25 to 30% of the feeder roots are destroyed; below 75 cm, 90% of feeder roots are destroyed. Aboveground symptoms of SD are similar to, but more pronounced than those of SDC. Trees infested with SD show sparse foliage, dead twigs with branching ends and dead limbs. Trees appear undernourished and leaves are small. Although blooming is profuse, few fruits set and these are usually small in size. SD causes yield reductions of 40 to 70% in oranges, and 50 to 80% in grapefruit. Above-ground symptoms usually appear one year after initial infection of roots. Decline symptoms are generally apparent on a group of trees. However, with continued burrowing of the nematodes down and across the soil, the infested area continuously increases in size every year. This spread, in all directions (about 1.5 trees per year), is the most characteristic feature of the disease, hence its name. Parasitized, but healthy-looking trees occur one to three rows in advance of those showing visible decline. In Florida, minimal rainfall from February to May puts additional stress on trees already weakened by nematode infestations and affected trees wilt readily under drought conditions. During summer rainfall, trees recover partially, but never recover normal growth (O'Bannon 1982; Duncan 1999; Kaplan and Duncan 2000c).

After penetration of citrus roots, adult females of R. citrophilus lay eggs, which hatch in 2 to 3 days. Sexual reproduction is usual, but females can reproduce as hermaphrodites in the absence of males. Adult males do not feed. The nematodes remain within the root until overcrowding or extensive damage of cortical tissue necessitates migration. R. citrophilus in Florida is morphologically indistinguishable from R. similis that is pathogenic to banana worldwide, and it is regarded as the citrus race (DuCharme and Birchfield 1956). Based on biochemical, physiological and karyotypic differences, the taxonomic status of the citrus race was elevated to sibling species as R. citrophilus and in 1986, Siddiqi classified the sibling species as R. similis subsp. similis and R. similis subsp. citrophilus (Huettel and Dickson 1981a, 1981b; Huettel et al. 1982; Huettel 1983, 1984a, 1984b; Siddiqi 1986). Later in 1996, Kaplan and coworkers demonstrated similar genomic organization between the two nematodes from Florida, Puerto Rico, Belize and Hawaii using RAPD. However, the taxonomic status of the nematodes as races of *R. similis* is still recognized.

Initially, local quarantine measures were enforced for the management of SD to limit the spread of the nematode and to limit its establishment in unaffected groves within Florida. To date, all other citrus-growing areas in the USA, and elsewhere, have stringent quarantine and other regulations to prevent the spread of R. *citrophilus* via affected plant materials or growing media. The measures have been extremely successful, since SD has not been reported anywhere outside of the state of Florida. The measures adopted include the 'push and treat' method, the use of barriers to prevent the spread of the nematode, the use of nematodefree nursery stock and soil fumigants, certification programs, and the use of resistant or tolerant rootstocks ('Milam lemon', 'Ridge Pineapple sweet orange', 'Kuharski Carrizo citrange'). More recent trials have shown some benefit of restricting the growth of the citrus roots across root free buffer zones (Duncan et al. 1990; Duncan 1999, 2005). Other strategies involve ways of encouraging optimum plant vigor through fertilization and irrigation.

Other nematodes

In addition to T. semipenetrans and R. similis, the lesion nematode (Pratylenchus coffeae) and sting nematode (Belonolaimus longicaudatus), are pathogenic to citrus. While the sting nematode is limited to Florida, the lesion nematode is prevalent in Florida, Brazil, Japan, India and Taiwan. Pratylenchus coffeae affects both young and mature trees throughout the soil profile causing above-ground symptoms similar to those of SD. However, the pathogen does not move as rapidly through the orchard as that of SD. Belonolaimus longicaudatus is an ectoparasite that feeds at the root tips of lateral fibrous roots of citrus trees resulting in the cessation of growth, formation of short stubby roots and severe stunting (Duncan 1999; Kaplan and Duncan 2000a; Duncan 2005; Han et al. 2006). More recently, a complex of rootknot nematodes, Meloidgyne spp. was reported to be pathogenic on roots of Citrus spp. in China and India (Davis and Vinette 2004).

ARTHROPOD PESTS

Insect species belonging to various orders are associated with the flowers, shoots and roots of citrus. They often colonize more than one part of the tree, resulting in a multidimensional impact on the productivity and life of the citrus tree (Browning 1999). Infestations of citrus flowers and young fruits can result in scarring and fruit drop. Repeated puncturing of fruits result in discoloration, water loss, and reduced aesthetic quality. Eggs and feeding larvae within the fruit lead to spoilage, decreased soluble solids, altered juice content, color and flavor. Colonization of the leaves reduce vegetative growth, photosynthetic capacity and vigor. The trunk, the main structural component of the tree, is attacked internally and externally by insects that feed on wood or outer bark cells, respectively. Several of the arthropod species colonizing citrus have attained pest status in various citrus-cultivating countries of the world. While many of the insects cause direct damage to the plant, others serve as vectors of various diseases which are usually more debilitating to the plants than the direct effects of insect attack. Some of the insect pests that have attained international pest status and which are most injurious are discussed.

Citrus leafminer

The citrus leafminer, *Phyllocnistis citrella* (Lepidoptera: Gracillariidae) is distributed worldwide, occurring in most regions where citrus is cultivated. *P. citrella* is endemic to India, China and other Asian countries (Lausen 1931). In the last 15 years, it has spread rapidly into other citrus-growing areas worldwide. The leaf-mining insect was first recorded in Florida in 1993 (Heppner 1993) and spread thereafter throughout the Caribbean and Central and South America.

P. citrella is a small, brownish-grey moth about 2 mm long. The hind wings are fringed with long hairs. The eggs, which look like tiny water droplets, are laid singly on the underside of leaves. They hatch within 3 to 5 days after which the young larvae immediately start burrowing under the surface of the leaf. The entire life cycle lasts about 2 to 3 weeks. The larvae are the economically important stage because of their tunneling activity just below the surface of citrus leaves. Three instars are completed at this stage. The mines have a characteristic silvery appearance and each larva is generally responsible for a single mine. The mining activity usually causes leaves to curl (Browning 1999). Although leafminers primarily feed on tender new growth, they can occasionally be found on fruits and stems when their population densities are high. Concerns about citrus leaf miner population densities have surfaced because mines produced by larvae provide CC bacteria with access to ideal growing conditions in the citrus host (Graham et al. 1996; Chagas et al. 2001; Gottwald et al. 2001; Christiano et al. 2007). The feeding galleries result in lifting and tearing of the cuticle thereby exposing leaf mesophyll tissues to splash-dispersed or wind-blown, rain-dispersed CC bacteria.

Systemic insecticides have been used against the citrus leafminer with limited sustained success. As is the case with most pests, the shift is now towards a more integrated approach focusing on biological control. Several general predators, such as spiders, ants and lacewings, play an important role in suppressing the population of the citrus leafminer. Ageniaspis citricola, Closterocerus cinctipennis, Horismenus sardis, Horismenus fraternus, Elasmus tischeriae, Pnigalio minio, and Zagrammosoma multilineatum have been reported as successful parasitoids of this pest and have the potential to play an integral role in its biological control (Michaud 2002; Lacey and Shapiro-Ilan 2008).

Brown citrus aphid

Of the several species of aphids associated with citrus, the brown citrus aphid (BrCA), Toxoptera citricidus Hemiptera: Aphididae, has the greatest economic importance at present. This is due to its efficiency as a vector of CTV (Herron et al. 2006). The pest, which is thought to have originated in South East Asia (Michaud 1998), is now widely distributed in several countries in Europe, Asia, Africa, North America, South America, Central America and the Caribbean (Rocha-Peña et al. 1995; CAB International 1998). This shiny reddish-brown to black aphid is usually 1.5-2.8 mm in length with a life cycle ranging from 8 to 29 days (Fig. 6). Females are parthenogenetic and a single generation develops in 6 to 8 days. They are capable of producing up to 30 generations per year, depending on temperature and the availability of food. BrCA feeds primarily on Citrus species and occasionally on other Rutaceae. Infestations result in distorted leaves, impaired shoot growth, arrested blossom development and blossom drop. However, the major impact of BrCA is due to the transmission of CTV (EPPO/CABI 1997a; OEPP/EPPO 2006).

Biological and chemical control strategies are most frequently used against BrCA and thus an IPM strategy based on these two control strategies is the preferred approach, with greater emphasis on the biological control component. There are several natural enemies of aphids, many of them also attacking BrCA; however, the level of successful parasitism is varied. Parasitoids that have been associated with the BrCA include *Lipolexis oregmae* (Hoy *et al.* 2007) and *Lysiphlebia japonica* (Hymenoptera: Aphidiidae). Predators include the coccinellids *Cycloneda sanguinea* and *Harmonia axyridis*, the syrphid fly *Pseudodorus clavatus* and the lacewing *Chrysoperla plorabunda* (Michaud and Browning 1999; Michaud 2001, 2002). Several organophosphorus and organocarbamate insecticides have been recommended for use against BrCA; however, the adverse impact of these



Fig. 6 Adult winged forms and nymphs of the brown citrus aphid, *Toxoptera citricidus*. (Photos: Majorie Hoy)

chemicals on the natural enemies of aphids requires that they be used judiciously and as a last resort.

Psyllids

Diaphorina citri (Hemiptera: Psylloidea: Psyllidae) has a very wide geographical distribution, with its presence being reported in Europe (France), several countries in Asia, Africa, North America (Florida), Central America, the Caribbean and South America (CAB International 2001; Halbert and Nunez 2004). Adult Asian citrus psyllids are relatively small, yellowish-brown insects (Fig. 7). The wings are transparent with white spots or light-brown with a broad, beige, longitudinal band in the center. The length of the body is about 2.5 mm. The eggs are orange-coloured and almond-shaped (0.31 mm long and 0.15 mm wide) and are laid singly inside half-folded leaves of the buds, in leaf axils and other suitable places on the young tender parts of the tree (Fig. 7). They hatch in 2 to 4 days. There are five nymphal instars, which are completed in 11 to 15 days (OEPP/EPPO 2005b). The total life cycle ranges from 15 to 47 days (Halbert and Manjunath 2004), but may be longer at low temperatures. While large populations of the psyllid feeding on young leaves may cause leaf curling and premature leaf fall, the economic importance of psyllids is based largely on their role in the transmission of the citrus disease caused by the HLB bacterium (EPPO/CABI 1996). Fourth- and fifth-instar nymphs and adults are capable of transmitting the etiological agent of Asian HLB.

D. citri is often confused with Trioza erytreae (Hemiptera: Psylloidea: Triozidae), another plant-sucking hemipteran insect which is the vector of African HLB (CAB International 1998; Tamesse et al. 1999; OEPP/EPPO 2005c). T. erytreae primarily infests lime and lemon in eastern and southern Africa and mandarin in the Cameroon. It is widespread in sub-Saharan Africa, Madagascar, Mauritius, Réunion, Saint Helena, Saudi Arabia, Yemen, and Madeira (Portugal) (EPPO/CABI 1997c, 1998; Fernandes and Fran-





Fig. 7 Adults (A), nymphs and eggs (B) of the psyllid, *Diaphorina citri*. (Photos: Majorie Hoy)

quinho Aguiar 2001) and was recently detected in Tenerife and La Gomera (Islas Canarias, Spain) in 2002 (Padrón and Hernández 2002). Adult T. erytreae are light-brown insects about 4 mm in length, with relatively large wings and clearly outlined veins. Males have a blunt tip to the abdomen and are smaller than the females, which have a sharp point at the tip to the abdomen. They fly very well and the adults stand with the abdomen raised at an angle of about 35° to the feeding surface when feeding (Hollis 1984). The eggs are yellow or orange, cylindrical, with an upturned, sharp, anterior point, and a short stalk that is inserted into the plant tissue. They are laid on leaf margins and along the midribs of young, tender, actively growing foliage (Annecke and Moran 1982). There are five nymphal instars. The nymphs are dorsoventrally flattened with a distinct marginal fringe of white, waxy filaments and they vary in colour being yellow, olive-green or dark grey. They are largely sedentary and form conspicuous colonies, settling on the underside of young leaves where, after a few days of feeding, they produce distinctive cup-shaped or pit-like, open galls (OEPP/EPPO 2005c). Late-instar nymphs and adults can transmit the causal agent of HLB to citrus (EPPO/CABI 1997c). Feeding damage caused by T. erytreae citrus includes leaf distortion, curling, stunting, galling and chlorosis (OEPP/EPPO 2005b).

Several organophosphorus, organocarbamate and pyrethroid insecticides used against the Asian psyllid have had varying levels of efficacy (Dahiya et al. 1994; Halbert and Manjunath 2004). The parasitoid, Tamarixia radiata, has also had different degrees of success in suppressing D. citri populations in different parts of the world (Chien et al. 1989) and is considered a suitable candidate for use in IPM programs. Recently, Boykin and coworkers (2007) investigated the genetic diversity of D. citri populations from Florida, Texas and Brazil using PCR microsatellite analysis. Twelve polymorphic microsatellite markers were developed. Allelic diversity ranging from three to eight alleles per locus and observed heterozygosities 0.014 to 0.569 and expected heterozygosities of 0.052 to 0.653 were obtained. It was concluded that the microsatellite loci can be used for assessing overall genetic variation and migration patterns for D. citri. Data on diversity of the insect species may contribute to further understanding of HLB transmission and parasitoid interactions (Boykin et al. 2007).

Organophosphorus insecticides such as dimethoate and monocrotophos are often used to suppress populations of *T. erytreae*. Cultural practices, involving the removal of alternate hosts from the vicinity of citrus fields, are also employed (van den Berg 1990). There is also the potential for biological control of this pest as at least two parasitoids (*Tamarixia dryi* and *Psyllaephagus pulvinatus*) are reported as having significantly suppressed populations of the pest (McDaniel and Moran 1972; van den Berg 1990).

Sharpshooters

Unlike the aphids and psyllid which are phloem feeders, Cicadellinae leafhoppers (commonly named sharpshooters) are xylem-fluid-feeding insects, belonging to Auchenorrhyncha (Hemiptera). They have an inflated clypeus that encloses the strong musculature connected to the pumping diaphragm (cibarium), which enables these insects to feed on xylem at high negative tensions. These insects may serve as vectors of the bacterial plant pathogen, *Xylella fastidiosa*, which causes CVC of citrus and several other plants. The subfamily Cicadellinae includes the most important known vectors of *X. fastidiosa* and is taxonomically diverse, containing approximately 1,950 species. Members of this group vary greatly in size, with some species ranging from 3.4 to 4.5 mm in length, while others may be longer than 20 mm (Redak *et al.* 2004).

Young (1968, 1977, 1986) organized the subfamily in two tribes: Proconiini and Cicadellini. Proconiini species are restricted to the New World and are moderate to large in size, with some considered the largest leafhoppers in Cicadellidae. Cicadellini is taxonomically larger and a cosmopolitan tribe, found in all zoogeographical regions of the world, but species richness is highest in the neotropical region. Among the Proconiini and Cicadellini species of the New World, more than 90% are neotropical and around 64% are distributed in South America. In the Old World including Australia, another 83 genera and about 500 species of Cicadellini have been cataloged (Young 1986); a single genus and species (*Cicadella viridis* L.) is found in Europe (Redak *et al.* 2004).

Lime swallowtail butterfly

Of the several *Papilio* spp. that have been reported as pests of citrus, the lime swallowtail butterfly, Papilio demoleus Linnaeus (Lepidoptera: Papilionidae), is of greatest significance to the citrus industry at this time. The pest is widely distributed throughout southern Asia, from the Middle East to India, and from the Indo-Pacific region to New Guinea and Australia (Commonwealth Institute of Entomology 1979). Its presence in the New World was first reported in the Dominican Republic in 2004 (Guerrero et al. 2004), and later in Puerto Rico (Homziak and Homziak 2006) and Jamaica (E. Garraway, pers. comm.). Guerrero et al. (2004) recently documented similarities in morphological characteristics between *P. demoleus* from the Dominican Republic and Southeast Asia. Eastwood et al. (2006) later confirmed strong similarities between the two populations through sequencing of genetic markers (3' end of mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase subunit I gene). A single haplotype has been identified, which suggests a single introduction of the species into the Dominican Republic. Various modes of introduction have been proposed: (i) that the insect arrived on it own accord, (ii) accidental introduction of early stages on citrus materials, and (iii) deliberate introduction for hobby interests or for release at celebrations (such as weddings). Irrespective of the mode of entry, P. demoleus is recognized as a major pest of citrus, causing significant losses in production in the Old World (Pakistan Agricultural Research Council 2003; Agribusiness Information Centre of India 2005; Homziak and Homziak 2006). Given its dispersal characteristics, life cycle, and favorable conditions in New World, it will very likely be established as a citrus pest throughout the Caribbean and adjacent mainland locations (Radke and Kandalkar 1988; Bhan and Singh 1997; Chatterjee et al. 2000; Pathak and Rizvi 2003)

The lime swallowtail butterfly is relatively large with a wingspan of 8 to 9 cm. Adults are usually distinguishable from other swallowtails by the basal yellow marks on the forewing and the large, blue eye-spot and the red spot on the hindwings (**Fig. 8**, Guerrero *et al.* 2004). The larvae are cream and dark brown in the early stages, becoming green in the later instars (**Fig. 8**). Mature larvae are about 3 to 4 cm long. It is the larvae that are responsible for the economic impact of this pest; they feed mainly on the young leaves of citrus plants and are therefore most dangerous under nursery conditions. Damage usually results in a loss of photosynthetic leaf area and slowed growth of the plant.



Fig. 8 Adult (A, dorsal view) and larva (B) of the lime swallowtail butterfly, *Papilio demoleus*. (Photos: Eric Garraway and Trevor Yee)

The use of chemicals is the control strategy most frequently employed against the larvae of the lime swallowtail butterfly. While several organophosphorus insecticides have been recommended against the larvae, there has been a move towards a more integrated approach, which allows natural control measures to maintain the pest population at acceptable levels, with interventions being made using selective insecticides. Some braconids have been reported as parasitizing the larvae of *P. demoleus* (Narayanamma *et al.* 2003) and biopesticides such as *Bacillus thuringiensis*, *Beauveria bassiana* and extracts of the neem plant have provided varying levels of control (Narayanamma and Savithri 2003). With its recent entry into the Caribbean, efforts are still being made to determine a suitable management strategy for the region.

Root weevils

Several species of root weevils (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) have been reported as having attained pest status in different parts of the world. These include *Exophthalmus* spp. (fiddler beetles), Pachnaeus spp. (blue-green root weevils), Diaprepes spp. and Lachnopus spp. The adults of different species vary in size, ranging from 1.1 to 2.25 cm in length with varied colors. They may be black, light-green or cream with different colors of stripes. These beetles are characterrized by their specialized, snout-like (prognathous) mouthparts. Citrus root weevils are predominantly tropical. About 150 species have been recorded in the Caribbean, Florida, Central and South America. Diaprepes abbreviatus (sugarcane rootstalk borer weevil) is native to the Caribbean and was introduced into Florida in the mid 1960s. Temperate species are found in the USA, Chile, Argentina, Australia, and New Zealand and include Pachnaeus spp. and Asynonychus spp. (Hall 1995; McCoy 1999; Skaria and French 2001; Lapointe 2004).

Mating and the initial stages of the citrus root weevil life cycle occur in the tree canopy, but the remaining stages are completed in the soil. Eggs are usually laid between two leaves that are cemented together. On hatching, larvae fall to the soil, burrow into the soil and begin feeding on small roots. Later larval instars feed on larger roots. The fullygrown larvae move away from the root and pupate in the soil. After emergence, adults feed on buds and young leaves. Damage to the root system of citrus plants by the larvae of the citrus root weevil usually results in reduced water and nutrient flow, which often causes wilting of the plant and subsequent reduction in fruit size (Quintela et al. 1998; McCoy 1999). Secondary infection by root-rot fungi, such as Phytophthora spp., generally ensues and severe damage may result in the death of young trees (Rogers et al. 1996; McCoy 1999; Graham et al. 2003). Infestations with D. abbreviatus often result in rapid tree decline and the decimation of entire orchards within a few years.

Initially, control of citrus root weevils was based on the application of insecticides to the soil for larval control. However, the lack of efficacy of this control method has led to the development of an integrated approach to the management of the pest with greater emphasis on cultural control, such as the replanting of old fields, crop rotation, manual collection of adult weevils and egg masses, and biological control. Several natural enemies have been used in classical or augmentative biological control programs against citrus root weevils. These include the egg parasitic wasps, Tetrastichus haitiensis and Ufens spp. (Chalcidoidea), and the predators Crematogaster ashmeadi (ant) and Battisocius keegani (mite). Larval parasites include Tetrastichus marylandensis and Pheidole spp. and entomophagous nematodes, Heterorhabditidis heliothidis, Steinernema carpocapsae and Steinernema diaprepesi (Bullock et al. 1999; Nguyen and Duncan 2002; Stuart et al. 2004). Microbial infection of the citrus root weevil is considered a potentially viable control strategy and has been tried with varying levels of success (Lacey and Shapiro-Ilan 2003, 2008).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The citrus industry worldwide continues to be an important one, even though it is plagued with many diseases and pests. Economic damage results when pest and pathogen populations build up on leaves, flowers, fruits, branches, and roots resulting in decreased fruit yield, quality and a general decline in tree health. Vegetative propagation, cultural practices, international travel and worldwide exchange of germplasm have contributed to the spread of a number of diseases and pests from their centers of origin to other parts of the world. CTV, CTLV, HLB, viroids, psorosis, tatterleaf and CSD are notable examples. Tristeza, tatterleaf and HLB are age-old maladies in Asia, the center of origin of citrus, whereas CSD originated in the Mediterranean region, which is a secondary center of origin for citrus. New potentially destructive diseases of citrus have also emerged in regions other than the centers of origin as a result of the crop being exposed to new pathogen or pest encounters, e.g. viroid diseases. Viroid infections of citrus most likely developed because of the planting of citrus groves in close vicinity to grapevines in the Middle East and Asia. Grapevines contain a variety of different viroids and have been cultivated in the Middle East and Asia for millennia (Bar-Joseph 2003). Weather-related factors have also contributed to the development of or have intensified the development of some diseases, such as CC, HLB and foot rot. Although control of some diseases has been achieved,

or the introduced pathogen has been successfully eradicated, albeit at great cost, for other pathogens, the feasibility of eradication is questionable, the possibility of reintroduction is a looming reality, and the issue is whether the country should be resigned to live with the disease. For instance, the industry in several Asian countries has lived with CC for many decades. Although some cultivars are no longer grown, production costs increased, and national and international markets lost (because of quarantines), produc-tion continues. Similarly, regions in which CTV is endemic have learnt to live with tristeza, employing replanting, certification and quarantine programs. Brazil has successfully been able to manage HLB, which is regarded as the most serious disease of citrus, through tree removal and insecticide treatments against the psyllid vectors (Bové 2006). The country's success has also been attributed to favorable factors, such as the absence of tropical storms and hurricanes, which plague other countries year after year and which possibly play a role in the spread of the pathogen as well as the insect vector. In general, knowledge of the centers of origin, the diversity of citrus, their pathogens and pests, together with effective sanitation, quarantine, proper ecological manage-ment, certification programs and the use of healthy planting materials are necessary for the maintenance of productive citrus groves.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Support for work in our laboratories was received from The Principal's New Initiative Fund, University of the West Indies, Mona (UWI); The School of Graduate Studies and Research (UWI); and the Jamaican Ministry of Agriculture (MINAG) Citrus Replanting Project (CRP).

REFERENCES

- Adams MJ, Antoniw JF, Bar-Joseph M, Brunt AA, Candresse T, Foster GD, Martelli GP, Milne RG, Fauquet CM (2004) The new plant virus family *Flexiviridae* and assessment of molecular criteria for species demarcation. *Archives of Virology* 149, 1045-1060
- Agribusiness Information Centre of India (2005) Federation of Indian Chambers of Commerce and Industry (FICCI), Agribusiness Information System, Production Guidelines: Pests, 3 pp. Available online:

http://www.ficciagroindia.com/production-guidelines/fruits/citrus/Pests.htm

Aguilar E, Villalobos W, Moreira L, Rodríguez CM, Kitajima EW, Rivera C (2005) First report of *Xylella fastidiosa* infecting citrus in Costa Rica. *Plant Disease* 89, 687

Ahmad MM, Rehman S (2006) Sensory evaluation of citrus peel essential oils

as flavouring agents in various food products. Journal of Agricultural Research 44, 325-335

- Albiach-Martí MR, Mawassi M, Gowda S, Satyanayanana T, Hilf ME, Shanker S, Almira EC, Vives MC, López C, Guerri J, Flores R, Moreno P, Garnsey SM, Dawson WO (2000) Sequences of *Citrus tristeza virus* separated in time and space are essentially identical. *Journal of Virology* 74, 6856-6865
- Alioto D, Gangemi M, Deaglio S, Sposato S, Noris E, Luisoni E, Milne RG (1999) Improved detection of citrus psorosis virus using polyclonal and monoclonal antibodies. *Plant Pathology* 48, 735-741
- Alvarez LA, Vicent A, de la Roca E, Bascón J, Abad-Campos P, Armengo J, García-Jiménez J (2008) Branch cankers on citrus trees in Spain caused by *Phytophthora citrophthora. Plant Pathology* 57, 84-91
- Annecke DP, Moran VC (1982) Insects and mites of cultivated plants in South Africa. Butterworth, Durban (ZA). In: OEPP/EPPO (2005) EPPO Standards PM 7/57(1). *Trioza erytreae*. Bulletin OEPP/EPPO Bulletin 35, 357-360
- Araya Gonzáles J (2000) Informe sobre la prospección de la "leprosis de los cítricos" en la zona fronteriza sur (Costa Rica – Panamá). Ministério de Agricultura y Ganadería, 5 pp
- Ayllón MA, López C, Navas-Castillo J, Mawassi M, Dawson WO (1999) New defective RNAs from *Citrus tristeza virus*: evidence for a replicase driven template switching mechanism in their generation. *Journal of General Virology* 80, 817-821
- Ayres AJ, Gimenes-Fernandes N, Barbosa JC (2001) Intensidade da clorose variegada dos citros no Estado de São Paulo e Sul do Triângulo Mineiro. Summa Phytopathologica 27, 189-197
- Baines RC, Miyakawa T, Cameron JW, Small RH (1969) Biotypes of the citrus nematode. *Proceedings of the First International Citrus Symposium*, March 16-26, 1968, Riverside, California 2, pp 955-956
- Balmas V, Scherm B, Ghignone S, Salem AOM, Cacciola SO, Migheli Q (2005) Characterisation of *Phoma tracheiphila* by RAPD-PCR, microsatellite primed PCR and ITS rDNA sequencing and development of specific primers for *in planta* PCR detection. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 111, 235-247
- Bampidis VA, Robinson PH (2006) Citrus by-products as ruminant feeds: A review. Animal Feed Science and Technology 128, 175-217
- Bar-Joseph M (1978) Cross-protection incompleteness: A possible cause for natural spread of citrus tristeza virus after a prolonged lag period in Israel. *Phytopathology* 68, 1110-1111
- Bar-Joseph M (2003) Natural history of viroids horticultural aspects. In: Hadidi A, Flores R, Randles JW, Semancik JS (Eds) *Viroids*, CSIRO Publishing, Collingwood, Australia, pp 246-251
- Bar-Joseph M, Marcus R, Lee F (1989) The continuous challenge of citrus tristeza virus control. Annual Review of Phytopathology 27, 291-316
- Bar-Joseph M, Roistacher CN, Garnsey SM (1983) The epidemiology and control of citrus tristeza disease. In: Plumb RT, Thresh JM (Eds) *Plant Virus Epidemiology*, Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, UK, pp 61-72
- Barnard EL, Ash EC, Hopkins DL, McGovern RJ (1998) Distribution of *Xylella fastidiosa* in oaks in Florida and its association with growth decline in *Quercus laevis*. *Plant Disease* 82, 569-572
- Barthe GA, Ceccardi GL, Manjunath KL, Derrick KS (1998) Citrus psorosis virus: nucleotide sequencing of the coat protein gene and detection by hybridization and RT-PCR. *Journal of General Virology* 79, 1531-1537
- Bastianel M, Freitas-Astúa J, Kitajima EW, Machado MA (2006) The citrus leprosis pathosystem. Summa Phytopathologica 32, 211-220
- Batuman O, Mawassi M, Bar-Joseph M (2006) Transgenes consisting of a ds RNAi suppressor plus 3' UTR provide resistance to *Citrus tristeza virus* sequences in *Nicotiana benthamiana* but not in citrus. *Virus Genes* 33, 319-327
- Bello A, Navas A, Belart C (1986) Nematodes of citrus groves in the Spanish Levante. Ecological study focused to their control. In: Cavalloro R, Di Martino E (Eds) Integrated Pest Control in Citrus Groves, AA Balkema Publishing Co, The Netherlands, pp 217-226
- Bennett S, Tennant PF, McLaughlin W (2008) Biological and molecular characterisation of citrus viroids in Jamaican citrus orchards. Joint Annual Meeting of the American Society of Plant Biologists and the Sociedad Mexicana De Bioquimica Rama: Bioquimica y Biologia Molecular de Plantas. Merida Mexico June 26-July 1, 2008. Available online: http://abstracts.aspb. org/pb2008/public/P07/P07009.html
- Berisha B, Chen YD, Zhang GY, Xu BY, Chen TA (1998) Isolation of Pierce's disease bacteria from grapevines in Europe. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* **104**, 427-33
- Bhan R, Singh K (1997) Bionomics of lemon butterfly, Papilio demoleus L. on Citrus reticulate Blanco. Pest Management and Economic Zoology 5, 37-41
- Bhattacharyya A, Stilwagen S, Reznik G, Feil H, Feil WS, Anderson I, Bernal A, D'Souza M, Ivanova N, Kapatral V, Larsen N, Los T, Lykidis A, Selkov E, Walunas TL, Purcell A, Edwards RA, Hawkins T, Haselkorn R, Overbeek R, Kyrpides NC, Predki PF (2002) Draft sequencing and comparative genomics of *Xylella fastidiosa* strains reveal novel biological insights. *Genome Research* 12, 1556-1563

Bitancourt AA (1937) Leprose e a próxima colheita. O Biológico 3, 37-40

Bitancourt AA (1955) Estudos sobre a leprose dos citrus. Arquivos do Instituto Biológico (São Paulo) 22, 161-231

Bohm J, Hahn A, Schubert R, Bahnweg G, Adler N, Nechwatal J, Oehl-

mann R, Oswald W (1999) Real-time quantitative PCR: DNA determination in isolated spores of the mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus mossea* and monitoring of *Phytophthora infestans* and *Phytophthora citricola* in their respective host plants. *Journal of Phytopathology* **147**, 409-416

- Bonants P, Hagenaar-de Weerdt M, van Gent-Pelzer M, Lacourt I, Cooke D, Duncan J (1997) Detection and identification of *Phytophthora fragariae* Hickman by the polymerase chain reaction. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* **103**, 345-355
- Bové JM (2006) Huanglongbing: A destructive, newly-emerging, century-old disease of citrus. *Journal of Plant Pathology* 88, 7-37
- Bové JM, Calavan EC, Capoor SP, Cortez RE, Schwarz RE (1974) Influence of temperature on symptoms of California stubborn, South Africa greening, India citrus decline and Philippine leaf mottling disease. In: *Proceedings of the 10th Conference of the International Organization of Citrus Virologists*, Riverside, CA, pp 12-15
- **Bové JM, Garnier M** (2000) Stubborn. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Graham JH (Eds) *Compendium of Citrus Diseases*, American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, MN, pp 49-50
- Bové JM, Vogel R (1981) Description and Illustration of Virus and Virus-Like Diseases of Citrus, Setco-IRFA, Paris, France, 104 pp
- Bowman KD, Albano JP, Graham JH (2002) Greenhouse testing of rootstocks for resistance to *Phytophthora* species in flatwoods soil. *Proceedings* of the Florida State Horticultural Society 115, 10-13
- Bowman KD, Albrecht U, Graham JH, Bright DB (2007) Detection of Phytophthora nicotianae and P. palmivora in citrus roots using PCR-RFLP in comparison with other methods. European Journal of Plant Pathology 119, 143-158
- Boykin LM, Bagnall RA, Frohlich DR, Hall DG, Hunter WB, Katsar CS, McKenzie CL, Rosell RC, Shatters RG (2007) Twelve polymorphic microsatellite loci from the Asian citrus psyllid, *Diaphorina citri* Kuwayama, the vector for citrus greening disease, huanglongbing. *Molecular Ecology Notes* 7, 1202-1204
- Brlansky RH, Davis CL, Timmer LW, Howd DS, Contreras J (1991) Xylem-limited bacteria in citrus from Argentina with symptoms of citrus variegated chlorosis. *Phytopathology* **81**, 1210
- Brlansky RH, Lee RF, Garnsey SM (1988) In situ immunofluorescence for the detection of citrus tristeza virus inclusion bodies. *Plant Disease* 72, 1039-1041
- Broadbent P (2000) Dry rot or Sudden death. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Graham JH (Eds) Compendium of Citrus Diseases, American Phytopathological Society Press, St. Paul, MN, p 71
- Brown GE, Eckert JW (2000a) Diplodia stem-end rot. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Graham JH (Eds) *Compendium of Citrus Diseases*, American Phytopathological Society Press, St. Paul, MN, pp 43-44
- Brown GE, Eckert JW (2000b) Alternaria rot. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Graham JH (Eds) Compendium of Citrus Diseases. American Phytopathological Society Press, St. Paul, MN, p 37
- Brown GE, Eckert JW (2000c) Anthracnose. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Graham JH (Eds) Compendium of Citrus Diseases, American Phytopathological Society Press, St. Paul, MN, pp 37-38
- Brown GE, Eckert JW (2000d) Penicillium decays. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Graham JH (Eds) Compendium of Citrus Diseases, American Phytopathological Society Press, St. Paul, MN, pp 41-42
- Brown GE, Eckert JW (2000e) Aspergillus rot. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Graham JH (Eds) Compendium of Citrus Diseases, American Phytopathological Society Press, St. Paul, MN, pp 39
- **Brown GE, Eckert JW** (2000f) Sour rot. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Graham JH (Eds) *Compendium of Citrus Diseases*, American Phytopathological Society Press, St. Paul, MN, pp 43
- Brown GE, MacCornack AA (1972) Decay caused by *Alternaria citri* in Florida citrus fruit. *Plant Disease* 56, 909-912
- **Browning HW** (1999) Arthopod pests of fruit and foliage. In: Timmer LW, Duncan LW (Eds) *Citrus Health Management*, American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, MN, pp 116-123
- Brunings AM, Gabriel DW (2003) Xanthomonas citri: breaking the surface. Molecular Plant Pathology 4, 141-157
- Bullock RC, Pelosi RR, Killer EE (1999) Management of citrus root weevils (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) on Florida citrus with soil-applied entomopathogenic nematodes (Nematoda: Rhabditida). *Florida Entomologist* 82, 1-7
- Bussiere F, Lehooux J, Thompson DA, Skrzeczkowski LJ, Perreault JP (2000) Subcellular localization and rolling circle replication of peach latent mosaic virod: hallmarks of Group A viroids. *Journal of Virology* 73, 6353-6360
- CAB International (1998) Distribution Maps of Plant Pests, Map 132
- CAB International (2001) Distribution Maps of Plant Pests, Map 334
- Calavan EC, Bové JM (1989) Ecology of Spiroplasma citri. In: Whitcomb RF, Tully JG (Eds) The Mycoplasmas (Vol 5), Academic Press, New York, pp 425-487
- Cambra M, Gorris MT, Marroquín C, Román MP, Olmos A, Martínez PC, Hermoso de Mendoza AH, López A, Navarro L (2000) Incidence and epidemiology of *Citrus tristeza virus* in the Valencian Community of Spain. *Virus Research* 71, 85-95
- Cermeli M, Morales P, Godoy F (2000) Presencia del psilido asiaco de los

citicos *Diaphorina citri* Kuwayama (Hemiptera: Psyllidae) en Venezuela. *Boletin de Entomologia Venezolana* **15**, 235-243

- Chagas CM (2000) Leprosis and Zonate Chlorosis. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Graham JH (Eds) Compendium of Citrus Diseases, American Phytopathological Society Press, St. Paul, MN, pp 57-58
- Chagas MCM, Parra JRP, Namekata T, Hartung JS, Yamamoto PT (2001) *Phyllocnistis citrella* Stainton (Lepidoptera: Gracillariidae) and its relationship with the citrus canker bacterium *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv *citri* in Brazil. *Neotropical Entomology* **30**, 55-59
- Chatterjee S, Almeida RPP, Lindow S (2008) Living in two worlds: The plant and insect lifestyles of Xylella fastidiosa. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 46, 243-271
- Che X, Mawassi M, Bar-Joseph M (2002) A novel class of large and infectious defective RNAs of *Citrus tristeza virus*. Virology 298, 133-145
- Che X, Piestum D, Mawassi M, Yang G, Satyanarayana T, Gowda S, Dawson WO, Bar-Joseph M (2001) 5'-Coterminal subgenomic RNAs in *Citrus* tristeza virus-infected cells. Virology 283, 374-381
- Chen GQ, Yan SX, Roistacher CN (1992) First report of citrus vein enation disease in China. *Plant Disease* 76, 1077
- Chen JC, Banks D, Jarret RL, Chang CJ, Smith BJ (2000) Use of 16S rDNA sequence as signature characters to identify *Xylella fastidiosa*. Current Microbiology **40**, 29-33
- Chen TY, French JV, Liu TX, da Graça JV (2006) Predation of Galendromus helveolus (Acari: Phytoseiidae) on Brevipalpus californicus (Acari: Tenuipalpidae). Biocontrol Science and Technology 16, 753-759
- Chien CC, Chiu SC, Ku SC (1989) Biological control of *Diaphorina citri* in Taiwan. *Fruits* 44, 401-407
- Childers CC, Duncan LW, Wheaton TA, Timmer LW (1987) Arthropod and nematode control with aldicarb on Florida citrus. *Journal of Economic Ento*mology 80, 1064-1071
- Childers CC, Rodrigues JCV, Derrick KS, Achor DS, French JV, Welbourn WC, Ochoa R, Kitajima EW (2003) Citrus leprosis in Florida and Texas – past and present status. *Experimental and Applied Acarology* 30, 181-202
- Christiano RSC, Dalla Pria MD, Jesus Junior WC, Parra JRP, Amorim L, Bergamin Filho AB (2007) Effect of the citrus leaf-miner damage, mechanical damage and inoculum concentration on severity of symptoms of Asiatic citrus canker in Tahiti lime. Crop Protection 26, 59-65
- Cohen S, Allasia V, Venard P, Notter S, Vernière C, Panabieres F (2003) Intraspecific variation in *Phytophthora citrophthora* from citrus trees in Eastern Corsica. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* **109**, 791-805
- Cohn E (1972) Nematode diseases of citrus. In: Webster JM (Ed) Economic Nematology, Academic Press, London, pp 215-244
- Colariccio A, Lovisolo O, Chagas CM, Galetti SR, Rosseti V, Kitajima EW (1995) Mechanical transmission and ultrastructural aspects of *Citrus leprosis* virus. Fitopatologia Brasileira 20, 208-213
- Coletta-Filho HD, Takita MA, Souza AA, Neto JR, Destefano SAL, Hartung JS, Machado MA (2006) Primers based on the *rpf* gene region provide improved detection of *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. citri in naturally and artificially infected citrus plants. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* 100, 279-285
- Coletta-Filho HD, Takita MA, Targon MLPN, Machado MA (2005) Analysis of 16S rDNA sequences from citrus huanglongbing bacteria reveal a different '*Ca*. Liberibacter' strain associated with citrus disease in São Paulo. *Plant Disease* **89**, 848-852
- Coletta-Filho HD, Targon MLPN, Takita MA, De Negri JD, Pompeu J, Machado MA (2004) First report of the causal agent of huanglongbing (*Candidatus* Liberibacter asiaticus) in Brazil. *Plant Disease* 88, 1382
- **Commonwealth Institute of Entomology** (1979) *Distribution Maps of Pests. Series A*, Agricultural No. 396, 1 pp
- Cooke DEL, Duncan JM (1997) Phylogenetic analysis of *Phytophthora* species based on the ITS1 and ITS2 sequences of ribosomal DNA. *Mycological Research* 101, 667-677
- Cooke DEL, Drenth A, Duncan JM, Wagels G, Brasier CM (2000) A molecular phylogeny of *Phytophthora* and related oomycetes. *Fungal Genetics* and Biology 30, 17-23
- Cooper RM (1983) The mechanisms and significance of enzymic degradation of host cell walls by parasites. In: Callow JA (Ed) *Biochemical Plant Pathology*, John Wiley and Sons, NY, pp 101-135
- Côte F, Levesque D, Perrault JP (2001) Natural 2', 5'- phosphodiester bonds found at the ligation sites of peach latent mosaic viroid. *Journal of Virology* 75, 19-25
- Cubero J, Graham JH (2002) Genetic relationship among worldwide strains of *Xanthomonas* causing canker in citrus species and design of new primers. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 68, 1257-1264
- **Cubero J, Graham JH** (2004) The leucine responsive regulatory protein (*lrp*) gene for characterization of the relationship among *Xanthomonas* species. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology* **54**, 429-437
- Cubero J, Graham JH (2005) Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction for bacterial enumeration and allelic discrimination to differentiate *Xanthomonas* strains on canker. *Phytopathology* **95**, 1333-1340
- da Graça JV (1991) Citrus greening disease. Annual Review of Phytopathology 29, 109-135

- da Graça JV, Korsten L (2004) Citrus Huanglongbing: Review, present status and future strategies. In: Naqui SAMH (Ed) *Diseases of Fruits and Vegetables Diagnosis and Management* (Vol I), Kluwer Academic Publishers, The Netherlands, pp 229-245
- Dahiya KK, Lakra RK, Dahiya AS, Singh SP (1994) Bioefficacy of some insecticides against citrus psylla, *Diaphorina citri*. Crop Research (Hisar) 8, 137-140
- Davis EE, Venette RC (2004) Mini risk assessment Asian Citrus Root-knot Nematodes: *Meloidogyne citri* Zhang, Gao, & Weng; *M. donghaiensis* Zheng, Lin, & Zheng; *M. fujianensis* Pan; *M. indica* Whitehead; *M. jianyangensis* Yang, Hu, Chen, & Zhu; *M. kongi* Yang, Wang, & Feng; and *M. mingnanica* Zhang [Nematoda: Meloidogynidae]. Available online: http://www.aphis.usda.gov
- D'Onghia AM, de Pasquale F, Carimi F, Savino V, Crescimanno FG (1997) Somatic embryogenesis from style culture as a possible means for virus elimination in *Citrus. Journal of Phytopathology* 145, 77-79
- de Andrade Maia OM, de Oliveira CAL (2006) Infection in hedgerows, windbreaks and weeds by leprosis virus and its transmission to orange trees by *Brevipalpus phoenicis* (Geijskes) (Acari: Tenuipalpidae). *Revista Brasileira* de Fruticultura 28, 209-213
- de Lima, JEO, Miranda VS, Hartung JS, Brlansky RH, Coutinho A, Roberto SR, Carlos EF (1998) Coffee leaf scorch bacterium: Axenic culture, pathogenicity, and comparison with *Xylella fastidiosa* of citrus. *Plant Disease* 82, 94-97
- de Noronha Fonseca ME, Marcellino MLH, Gander E (1996) A rapid and sensitive dot-blot hybridization assay for the detection of citrus exocortis viroid in *Citrus medica* with digoxigenin-labelled RNA probes. *Journal of* Virological Methods 57, 203-207
- Demontis MA, Cacciola SO, Orr M, Balmas V, Chessa V, Maserti BE, Mascia L, Raudino F, Magnano di San Lio G, Migheli Q (2008) Development of real-time PCR systems based on SYBR[®] Green I and TaqMan[®] technologies for specific quantitative detection of *Phoma tracheiphila* in infected Citrus. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* **120**, 339-351
- Deng X, Lou Z, Feng Z, Li H, Chen J, Civerolo EL (2008) First report of 'Candidatus Liberibacter asiaticus' from Atalantia buxifolia in Guangdong, China. Plant Disease 92, 314
- **Derrick KS, Barthe GA** (2000) Psorosis. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Graham JH (Eds) *Compendium of Citrus Diseases*, American Phytopathological Society Press, St. Paul, MN, pp 58-59
- Di Lenna I, Marciano IM, Magro I (1981) Comparative investigation on morphological and physiological features of three isolates of *Botrytis cinerea*. *Phytopathologische Zeitschrift* 100, 203-211
- Ding B, Itaya A (2007) Viroid: A useful model for studying the basic principles of infection and RNA biology. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 20, 7-20
- Diolez A, Marches E, Fortini D, Brygoo Y (1994) Boty, a long-terminal repeat retroelement in the phytopathogenic fungus *Botrytis cinereu*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 61, 103-108
- Dodds JA, Jordan RL, Roistacher CN, Jarupat T (1987) Diversity of citrus tristeza virus isolates indicated by dsRNA analysis. *Intervirology* 27, 177-188
- Dominguez A, Hermoso de Mendoza A, Guerri J, Cambra M, Navarro L, Moreno P, Peña L (2002) Pathogen-derived resistance to *Citrus tristeza* virus (CTV) in transgenic Mexican lime (*Citrus aurantifolia* (Christ.) Swing.) plants expressing its p25 coat protein gene. *Molecular Breeding* 10, 1-10
- Dominguez FS, Bernal A, Childers CC, Kitajima EW (2001) First report of citrus leprosis in Panama. *Plant Disease* 85, 228
- Droby S, Cohen L, Daus A, Weiss B, Horev B, Chalutz E, Katz H, Keren-Tzur M, Shachnai A (1998) Commercial testing of aspire: a yeast preparation for the biological control of postharvest decay of citrus. *Biological Control* 12, 97-101
- Dropkin VH (1980) Introduction to Plant Nematology, John Wiley and Sons, NY, 293 pp
- Duan YP, Gottwald T, Zhou LJ, Gabriel DW (2008) First report of dodder transmission of 'Candidatus Liberibacter asiaticus' to tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum). Plant Disease 92, 831
- DuCharme EP, Birchfield W (1956) Physiologic races of the burrowing nematode. Phytopathology 46, 615-616
- **Duncan LW** (1989) Effect of fenamiphos placement on *Tylenchulus semipenetrans* and yield in a Florida citrus orchard. *Journal of Nematology* **21**, 703-706
- Duncan LW (1999) Nematode diseases of citrus. In: Timmer LW, Duncan LW (Eds) Citrus Health Management, American Phytopathological Society Press, St. Paul, MN pp 136-148
- Duncan LW (2005) Nematode parasites of citrus. In: Luc M, Sikora RA, Bridge J (Eds) *Plant Parasitic Nematodes in Subtropical and Tropical Agriculture*, Commonwealth Agricultural Bureau International, Wallingford, UK, pp 437-466
- Presentation Pr

Duncan LW, Kaplan DT, Joling JW (1990) Maintaining barriers to the spread

of *Radophulus citrophilus* in Florida citrus orchards. *Nematropica* 20, 71-88 Duncan LW, Mashela P, Ferguson J, Graham J, Abou-Setta MM, El-Mor-

- shedy MM (1995) Estimating crop loss in orchards with patches of mature citrus trees infected by *Tylenchulus semipenetrans*. *Nematropica* **25**, 43-51
- **Duran-Vila N, Semancik JS, Broadbent P** (2000) Viroid diseases, cachexia and exocortis. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Graham JH (Eds) *Compendium of Citrus Diseases*, American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, MN, pp 51-54
- Eastwood R, Boyce SL, Farrell BD (2006) The provenance of old world swallowtail butterflies, *Papilio demoleus* (Lepidoptera: Papilionidae), recently discovered in the New World. *Annals of the Entomological Society of America* 99, 164-168
- Eckert JW, Brown GE (2000) Gray mold. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Graham JH (Eds) Compendium of Citrus Diseases, American Phytopathological Society Press, St. Paul, MN, pp 40-41
- Eckert JW, Eaks IL (1989) Postharvest disorders and diseases of citrus fruits. In: Reuther W, Calavan EC, Carman GE (Eds) *The Citrus Industry* (Vol 4), University of California Press, Berkeley, CA pp 179-260
- Eckert JW, Sievert JR, Ratnayake M (1994) Reduction of imazalil effectiveness against citrus green mold in California packing houses by resistant biotypes of *Penicillium digitatum*. *Plant Disease* 78, 971-974
- **EPPO/CABI** (1996) Citrus greening bacterium. In: Smith IM, McNamara DG, Scott PR, Holderness M (Eds) *Quarantine Pests for Europe*, CAB International, Wallingford, UK 6 pp
- **EPPO/CABI** (1997a) Datasheets on Quarantine Pests: *Toxoptera citricidus*. In: Smith IM, McNamara DG, Scott PR, Holderness M (Eds) *Quarantine Pests for Europe*, CAB International, Wallingford, UK, pp 543-546
- EPPO/CABI (1997b) Deuterophoma tracheiphila. In: Smith IM, McNamara DG, Scott PR, Holderness M (Eds) Quarantine Pest for Europe, CAB International, Wallingford, UK, pp 733-736
- **EPPO/CABI** (1997c) *Trioza erytreae* and Citrus greening bacterium. In: Smith IM, McNamara DG, Scott PR, Holderness M (Eds) *Quarantine Pests for Europe*, CAB International, Wallingford, pp 547-550, 971-976
- EPPO/CABI (1998) Trioza erytreae. In: Smith IM, Charles LMF (Eds) Distribution Maps of Quarantine Pests for Europe. CAB International, Wallingford, Map no. 151
- Erwin DC, Ribeiro OK (1996) *Phytophthora Diseases Worldwide*, American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, MN, 562 pp
- Ezra D, Kroitor T, Sadowsky A (2007) Molecular characterization of *Phoma trachephila*, causal agent of Mal secco disease of citrus in Israel. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* 118, 183-191
- Fagoaga C, Lopez C, Hermoso de Mendoza A, Moreno P, Navarro L, Flores R, Peña L (2006) Post-transcriptional gene silencing of the p23 silencing suppressor of *Citrus tristeza virus* confers resistance to the virus in transgenic Mexican Lime. *Plant Molecular Biology* **60**, 153-165
- Fagoaga C, Lopez C, Moreno P, Navarro L, Flores R, Peña L (2005) Virallike symptoms induced by the ectopic expression of the *p23* gene of *Citrus tristeza virus* are citrus specific and do not correlate with the pathogenicity of the virus strain. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 18, 435-445
- FAO Statistics (2008) Production. Available online: http://www.faostat.org
- Fawcett HS (1907) Report of assistant plant pathologist. Annual Report for the fiscal year ending 30 June 1907. Florida Agricultural Experiment Station, St. Augustine. The Record Company, pp 43-45
- Fawcett HS (1936) Citrus Diseases and Their Control, McGraw-Hill, New York, USA, 656 pp
- Fawcett HS, Bitancourt AA (1943) Comparative symptomatology of psorosis varieties on citrus in California. *Phytopathology* 33, 837-64
- Fawcett HS, Klotz LJ (1938) Types and symptoms of psorosis and psorosislike diseases of citrus. *Phytopathology* 28, 670
- Fawcett HS, Klotz LJ (1948) Exocortis on trifoliate orange. *Citrus Leaves* 28, 8
- Febres VJ, Ashoulin L, Mawassi M, Frank A, Bar-Joseph M, Lee RF, Niblett CL (1996) The p27 protein is present at one end of *Citrus tristeza virus* particles. *Phytopathology* **86**, 1331-1335
- Febres VJ, Ashoulin L, Mawassi M, Frank A, Bar-Joseph M, Manjunath KL, Lee RF, Niblett CL (1996) The p27 protein is present at one end of *Citrus tristeza virus* particles. *Phytopathology* 86, 1331-1335
- Fernandes A, Franquinho Aguiar AM (2001) Development of quarantine pests Toxoptera citricida and Trioza erytreae in the Archipelago of Madeira. Boletín de Sanidad Vegetal, Plagas 27, 51-58
- Flores R, Randles JW, Bar-Joseph M, Diener TO (2000) Viroids. In: van Regenmortel MHV, Fauquet CM, Bishop DHL, Carstens EB, Estes MK, Lemon SM, Maniloff J, Mayo MA, McGeoch DJ, Pringle CR, Wickner RB (Eds) Virus Taxonomy, Seventh Report of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses, Academic Press, San Diego, pp 1009-1024
- Fogliano V, Graniti A, Marchese A, Ritieni A, Randazzo G, Visconti A (1994) Purification of a phytotoxic glycoprotein from the 'malseccin' complex produced in culture by *Phoma tracheiphila*. In: Kumari S (Ed) *Proceedings of the 9th Congress of the Mediterranean Phytopathological Union*, 1994, WJAS/AEJAES, Kusadasi-Aydin, Turkey, pp 143-145
- Fogliano V, Marchese A, Scaloni A, Ritieni A, Visconti A, Randazzo G, Graniti A (1998) Characterization of a 60 KDa phytotoxic glycoprotein produced by *Phoma tracheiphila* and its relation to malseccin. *Physiological and Mole-*

cular Plant Pathology 53, 149-161

- Francis M, Lin H, Cabrera-La Rosa J, DoddapaneniH, Civerolo EL (2006) Genome-based PCR primers for specific and sensitive detection and quantification of *Xylella fastidiosa*. European Journal of Plant Pathology 115, 203-213
- Francischini FJB, Oliveira KDS, Astúa-Monge G, Novelli A, Lorenzino R, Matiolli C, Kemper E, da Silva, Kitajima EW (2008) First report on the transmission of *Candidatus* Liberibacter americanus' from Citrus to *Nicotiana tabacum* cv. Xanthi. *Plant Disease* 92, 314
- Freeman S, Katan T, Shabi E (1998) Characterization of *Collectrichum* species responsible for anthracnose diseases of various fruits. *Plant Disease* 82, 596-605
- Freitas-Astúa J, Kitajima EW, Locali EC, Antonioli-Luizon R, Bastianel M, Machado MA (2005) Further evidence to support that citrus leprosis viruscytoplasmic and nuclear types are different viruses. Annals of the XLV Annual Meeting of the American Phytopathological Society, Caribbean Division, Costa Rica, June 2005 (Abstract)
- French JV, Kahlke CJ, da Graça JV (2001) First record of Asian citrus psylla, Diaphorina citri, Kuwayama (Hemiptera: Psyllidae) in Texas. Subtropical Plant Sciences 53, 4-8
- French WJ, Kitajima EW (1978) Occurrence of plum leaf scald in Brazil and Paraguay. Plant Disease Reporter 62, 1035-1038
- Frison EA, Taher MM (1991) FAO/IBPGR Technical Guidelines for the Safe Movement of Citrus Germplasm. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome/International Board for Plant Genetic Resources, Rome, 50 pp
- Gabriel DW, Kingsley MT, Hunter JE, Gottwald TR (1989) Reinstatement of *Xanthomonas citri* (ex Hasse) and *X. phaseoli* (ex Smith) to species and reclassification of all *X. campestris* pv. *citri* strains. *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology* **39**, 14-22
- Gandía M, Conesa A, Ancillo G, Gadea J, Forment J, Pallás V, Flores R, Duran-Vila N, Moreno P, Guerri J (2007) Transcriptional response of *Citrus aurantifolia* to infection by *Citrus tristeza virus*. *Virology* **367**, 298-306
- García ML, Dal Bo E, Grau O, Milne RG (1994) The closely related citrus ringspot and citrus psorosis viruses have particles of novel filamentous morphology. *Journal of General Virology* 75, 3585-3590
- García ML, Sánchez de la Torre ME, Dal Bo E, Djelouah K, Rouag H, Luisoni E, Milne RG, Grau O (1997) Detection of citrus psorosis-ringspot virus using RT-PCR and DAS-ELISA. *Plant Pathology* **46**, 830-836
- Garnier M, Bové JM (2000) Huanglongbing (Greening). In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Graham JH (Eds) *Compendium of Citrus Diseases*, American Phytopathological Society Press, St. Paul, MN, pp 46-48
- Garnier M, Jagoueix-Eveillard S, Cronje PR, Le Roux HF, Bové JM (2000) Genomic characterization of a liberibacter present in an ornamental rutaceous tree, *Calodendrum capense*, in the Western Cape province of South Africa. Proposal of '*Candidatus* Liberibacter africanus subsp. capensis'. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology* **50**, 2119-2125
- Garnsey SM (1964) Detection of tatter leaf virus of citrus in Florida. Proceedings of the Florida State Horticutural Society 77, 106-109
- Garnsey SM (1968) Additional non-citrus hosts for the Florida isolate of citrus variegation virus. *Phytopathology* **58**, 1433-1434
- Garnsey SM (1975) Purification and properties of citrus leaf rugose virus. *Phytopathology* 65, 50-57
- Garnsey SM, Cambra M (1991) Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for citrus pathogens. In: Roistacher CN (Ed) *Graft-Transmissible Diseases of Citrus, Handbook for Detection and Diagnosis*, FAO, Rome, pp 193-216
- **Garnsey SM, Christie RG, Derrick KS, Bar-Joseph M** (1980) Detection of citrus tristeza virus. II. Light and electron microscopy of inclusions and viral particles. In: Calavan EC, Garnsey SM, Timmer LM (Eds) *Proceedings of the* δ^{th} Conference of the International Organization of Citrus Virologists, IOCV, Riverside, pp 9-16
- Garnsey SM, Gumpf DJ, Roistacher CN, Civerolo E, Lee RF, Yokomi RK, Bar-Joseph M (1987) Toward a standard evaluation of the biologically properties of citrus tristeza virus. *Phytophylactica* **19**, 151-157
- Gilchrist DG (1998) Programmed cell death in plant disease: the purpose and promise of cellular suicide. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* **36**, 393-414
- Gmitter FJ, Xiao S, Huang S, Hu S, Deng Z (1996) A localized linkage map of *Citrus tristeza virus* resistance gene region. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 92, 688-695
- Golmohammadi M, Cubero J, Penalver JJ, Quesada JM, Lopez MM, Llop P (2007) Diagnosis of *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. citri, causal agent of citrus canker, in commercial fruits by isolation and PCR-based methods. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* **103**, 2309-2315
- Gómez EC, Vargas MR, Rivadameira C, Locali EC, Freitas-Astúa J, Astua-Monge G, Rodrigues JCV, Mesa Cobo NC, Kitajima EW (2005) First Report of *Citrus leprosis virus* on Citrus in Santa Cruz, Bolivia. *Plant Disease* **89**, 686
- Gottwald TR, Alvarez AM, Hartung JS, Benedict AA (1991) Diversity of *Xanthomonas campestris* pv. citrumelo strains associated with epidemics of citrus bacterial spot in Florida citrus nurseries: correlation of detached leaf, monoclonal antibody, and restriction fragment length polymorphism assays, *Phytopathology* **81**, 749-753

Gottwald TR, Garnsey SM, Borbón J (1998) Increase and patterns of spread

of *Citrus tristeza virus* infections in Costa Rica and the Dominican Republic in the presence of the brown citrus aphid, *Toxoptera citricida*. *Phytopathology* **88**, 621-636

- Gottwald TR, Garnsey SM, Cambra M, Moreno P, Irey M, Borbón J (1996) Differential effects of *Toxoptera citricida* vs. *Aphis gossypii* on temporal increase and spatial patterns of spread of citrus tristeza. In: da Graça JV, Moreno P, Yokomi RK (Eds) *Proceedings of the 13th Conference of the International Organization of Citrus Virologists*, Riverside, CA, pp 120-129
- Gottwald TR, Gibson GJ, Garnsey SM, Irey M (1999) Examination of the effect of aphid vector population composition on the spatial dynamics of *Citrus tristeza virus* spread by stochastic modeling. *Phytopathology* **89**, 603-608
- Gottwald TR, Graham JH (2000) Canker. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Graham JH (Eds) Compendium of Citrus Diseases, American Pathological Society Press, St. Paul MN, pp 5-8
- Gottwald TR, Graham JH, Schubert TS (2002) Citrus canker: the pathogen and its impact. Plant Health Progress. Available online: http://www.plantmanagementnetwork.org/php/
- Gottwald TR, Hughes G, Graham JH, Sun X, Riley T (2001) The citrus canker epidemic in Florida: the scientific basis of regulatory eradication policy for an invasive species. *Phytopatholology* **91**, 30-34
- Gottwald TR, Timmer LW (1995) The efficacy of windbreaks in reducing the spread of citrus canker caused by Xanthomonas campestris pv. citri. Tropical Agriculture 72, 194-201
- Gowda S, Ayllón MA, Satyanarayana T, Bar-Joseph M, Dawson WO (2003) Transcription strategy in a *Closterovirus*: a novel 5'-proximal controller element of *Citrus tristeza virus* produces 5' and 3'-terminal subgenomic RNAs and differs from 3' open reading frame controller elements. *Journal of Virology* 77, 340-352
- Gowda S, Satyanarayana T, Ayllón MA, Albiach-Marti MR, Mawassi M, Rabindran S, Garnsey SM, Dawson WO (2001) Characterization of the *cis*-acting elements controlling subgenomic mRNAs of *Citrus tristeza virus*: production of positive- and negative-stranded 3'-terminal and positivestranded 5'-terminal RNAs. *Virology* **286**, 134-151
- Graham JH (1995) Root regeneration and tolerance of citrus rootstocks to root rot caused by *Phytophthora nicotianae*. *Phytopathology* 85, 111-117
- Graham JH, Bright DB, McCoy CW (2003) Phytophthora-Diaprepes weevils complex: *Phytophthora* spp. relationship to citrus rootstocks. *Plant Disease* 87, 85-90
- Graham JH, Gottwald TR, Browning HW, Achor DS (1996) Citrus leafminer exacerbated the outbreak of Asiatic citrus canker in South Florida. In: Hoy MA (Ed) Proceedings, International Meeting: Managing the Citrus Leafminer, 22-25 April 1996, Orlando, Florida. University of Florida, Gainesville, pp 83
- Graham JH, Gottwald TR, Cubero J, Achor D (2004) Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. citri: factors affecting successful eradication of citrus canker. Molecular Plant Pathology 5, 1-15
- Graham JH, Gottwald TR, Fardelmann D (1990a) Cultivar-specific interactions for strains of *Xanthomonas campestris* from Florida that cause citrus canker and citrus bacterial spot. *Plant Disease* 74, 753-756
- Graham JH, Hartung JS, Stall RE, Chase AR (1990b) Pathological, restriction-fragment length polymorphism, and fatty acid profile relationships between Xanthomonas campestris from citrus and noncitrus hosts. Phytopathology 80, 820-836
- Graham JH, Menge JA (1999) Root diseases. In: Timmer LW, Duncan LW (Eds) Citrus Health Management, American Phytopathological Society Press, St. Paul, MN, pp 126-135
- Graham JH, Menge JA (2000) Phytophthora-induced diseases. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Graham JH (Eds) Compendium of Citrus Diseases, American Phytopathological Society Press, St. Paul, MN, pp 12-15
- Graham JH, Timmer LW, Drouillard DL, Peever TL (1998) Characterization of *Phytophthora* spp. causing outbreaks of citrus brown rot in Florida. *Phytopathology* 88, 724-729
- Greco N, Basile M, D'Addabbo T, Brandosino A (1993) Influence of aldicarb and fenamiphos on *Tylenchulus semipenetrans* population densities and orange yield. *Journal of Nematology* 25, 768-772
- Greenberg JT (1997) Programmed cell death in plant-pathogen interactions. Annual Review of Plant Physiology 48, 525-545
- Grimm GR, Alexander AF (1973) Citrus leaf pieces as traps for *Phytophthora* parasitica from soil slurries. *Phytopathology* 63, 540-541
- Grindle M (1979) Phenotypic differences between natural and induced variants of *Botrytis cinerea*. Journal of General Microbialogy **111**, 109-120
- Grote D, Olmos A, Kofoet A, Tuset JJ, Bertolini E, Cambra M (2000) Detection of *Phytophthora nicotianae* by PCR *OEPP/EPPO*. Bulletin **30**, 539-541
- Grote D, Olmos A, Kofoet A, Tuset JJ, Bertolini E, Cambra M (2002) Specific and sensitive detection of *Phytophthora nicotianae* by simple and nested-PCR. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* **108**, 197-207
- Guerrero KA, Veloz D, Boyce SL, Farrell BD (2004) First New World documentation of an Old World citrus pest, the lime swallowtail Papilio demoleus (Lepidoptera: Papilionidae), in the Dominican Republic (Hispaniola). American Entomologist 50, 227-229

Halbert SE (1998) Entomology section. Trilogy 37, 6-7

Halbert SE, Manjunath KL (2004) Asian citrus pysllids (Sternorrhycha: Psyl-

lidae) and greening disease of citrus: a literature review and assessment of risk in Florida. *Florida Entomologist* **87**, 330-353

- Halbert SE, Nunez CA (2004) Distribution of the Asian citrus psyllid, *Diaphorina citri* Kuwayama (Rhynchota: Psyllidae) in the Caribbean Basin. *Florida Entomologist* 87, 401-402
- Hall DG (1995) A revision to the bibliography of the sugarcane rootstalk borer weevil, *Diaprepes abbreviatus* (Coleoptera: Curculionidae). *Florida Entomologist* 78, 364-377
- Han HR, Jeyaprakash J, Weingartner DP, Dickson WD (2006) Morphological and molecular biological characterization of *Belonolaimus longicaudau*tus. Nematropica 36, 37-52
- Hartung JS, Daniel JF, Pruvost OP (1993) Detection of Xanthomonas campestris pv. citri by the polymerase chain reaction method. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 59, 1143-1148
- Hearon SS, Sherald JL, Kostka SJ (1980) Association of xylem-limited bacteria with elm, sycamore, and oak leaf scorch. *Canadian Journal of Botany* 58, 1986-1993
- Heppner JB (1993) Citrus leafminer, *Phyllocnistis citrella*, in Florida (Lepidoptera: Gracillariidae: Phyllocnistinae). *Tropical Lepidoptera* 4, 49-64
- Herron CM, Mirkov TE, da Graça JV, Lee RF (2006) Citrus tristeza virus transmission by the Toxoptera citricida vector: In vitro acquisition and transmission and infectivity immunoneutralization experiments. Journal of Virological Methods 134, 205-211
- Hilf ME (2008) An immunocapture RT-PCR procedure using Apple stem grooving virus antibodies facilitates analysis of Citrus tatter leaf virus from the original Meyer Lemon host. Plant Disease 92, 746-750
- Hilf ME, Karasev AV, Pappu HR, Gumpf DJ, Niblett CL, Garnsey SM (1995) Characterization of *Citrus tristeza virus* subgenomic RNAs in infected tissue. *Virology* 208, 576-582
- Hocquellet A, Bové JM, Garníer M (1997) Production and evaluation of nonradioactive probes for the detection of the two *Candidatus* Liberobacter species associated with citrus huanglonbing (greening). *Molecular and Cellular Probes* 11, 389-462
- Hollis D (1984) Afrotropical jumping plant lice of the family Triozidae (Homoptera: Psylloidea). Bulletin of the British Museum (Natural History). *Entomology* 49, 1-102
- Homziak NT, Homziak J (2006) Papilio demolius (Lepidoptera: Papilionidae): A new record for the United States, Commonwealth of Puerto Rico. Florida Entomologist 89, 485-488
- Hopkins DL (1989) Xylella fastidiosa: xylem-limited bacterial pathogen of plants. Annual review of Phytopathology 27, 271-290
- Hoy MA, Jeyaprakash A, Clarke-Harris D, Rhodes L (2007) Molecular and field analyses of the fortuitous establishment of *Lipolexis oregmae* (Hymenoptera: Aphidiidae) in Jamaica as a natural enemy of the brown citrus aphid. *Biocontrol Science and Technology* 17, 473-482
- Huang R, Xia R, Hu L, Lu Y, Wang M (2007) Antioxidant activity and oxygen-scavenging system in orange pulp during fruit ripening and maturation. *Scientia Horticulturae* 113, 166-172
- Huang Z, Rundell PA, Guan X, Powell CA (2004) Detection and isolate differentiation of *Citrus tristeza virus* in infected field trees based on reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction. *Plant Disease* **88**, 625-629
- Huettel RN, Dickson DW (1981a) Parthenogenesis in the two races of Radopholus similis from Florida. Journal of Nematology 13, 13-16
- Huettel RN, Dickson DW (1981b) Karyotype and oogenesis of Radopholus similis (Cobb) Thorne. Journal of Nematology 13, 16-20
- Huettel RN, Dickson DW, Kaplan DT (1982) Sex attraction and behavior in the two races of *Radopholus similis* by starch gel electrophoresis. *Nematologica* 28, 360-369
- Huettel RN, Dickson DW, Kaplan DT (1983) Biochemical identification of two races of *Radopholus similis* by starch gel electrophoresis. *Journal of Nematology* 15, 345-348
- Huettel RN, Dickson DW, Kaplan DT (1984a) Chromosome number of populations of *Radopholus similis* from North, Central, South America, Hawaii and Indonesia. *Review of Nematology* 7, 113-116
- Huettel RN, Dickson DW, Kaplan DT (1984b) Radopholus citrophilus sp. n. Nematoda, a sibling species of Radopholus similis. Proceedings of the Helminthological Society of Washington 51, 32-35
- Hughes G, Gottwald TR (1998) Survey methods for assessment of Citrus tristeza virus incidence. Phytopathology 88, 715-723
- Hung TH, Wu ML, Su HJ (2001) Identification of the Chinese box orange (Severinia buxifolia) as an alternative host of the bacterium causing citrus Huanglongbing. European Journal of Plant Pathology 107, 183-189
- Hutton DG, Coates-Beckford PL, Eason-Heath SAE (1982) Parasitic nematodes associated with various plant species in Jamaica, 1949-1981. In: Proceedings of the Third Research and Planning Conference on Root-Knot Nematodes, Meloidgyne spp., January 11-15, 1982, North Carolina State University Graphics, pp 92-108
- Inserra RN, Volvas N, O'Bannon JH (1980) A classification of Tylenchulus semipenetrans biotypes. Journal of Nematology 12, 283-287
- Isshiki A, Ohtani K, Kyo M, Yamamoto H, Akimitsu K (2003) Green fluorescent detection of fungal colonization and endopolygalacturonase gene expression in the interaction of *Alternaria citri* with citrus. *Phytopathology* 93, 768-773

- Ito T, Furuta T, Ito T, Isaka M, Ide Y, Kaneyoshi J (2006) Identification of cachexia-inducible hop stunt viroid variants in citrus orchards in Japan using biological indexing and improved reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction. *Journal of General Plant Patholology* 72, 378-382
- Ito T, Ieki H, Ozaki K, Iwanami T, Nakahaara K, Hataya T, Ito T, Isaka M, Kano T (2002) Multiple citrus viroids in citrus viroids from Japan and their ability to produce exocortis-like symptoms in citron. *Phytopathogy* 92, 542-547
- Jagiello C, Mooney P, Hartey A (1994) HortResearch Publication New Zealand Citrus Budwood Scheme: 1993/94. The Orchardist, September, 1994. The Horticulture and Food Research Institute of New Zealand Ltd., Auckland, New Zealand. Available online:

http://www.hortnet.co.nz/publications/science/kk0994.htm

- Jagoueix S, Bové JM, Garníer M (1994) The phloem-limited bacterium of greening disease of citrus is a member of the subdivision of the Proteobacteria. *Journal of Systematic Bacteriology* 44, 379-386
- Jagoueix S, Bové JM, Garníer M (1996) PCR detection of the two 'Candidatus liberobacter' species associated with greening disease of citrus. *Molecular* and Cellular Probes 10, 43-50
- Janse van Rensburg JC, Labuschagne N, Nemec S (2001) Occurrence of Fusarium-produced naphthazarins in citrus trees and sensitivity of rootstocks to isomarticin in relation to citrus blight. Plant Pathology 50, 258-265
- Jindal KK, Sharma RC (1987) Outbreaks and new records. Almond leaf scorch - a new disease from India. FAO Plant Protection Bulletin 35, 64-65
- Juarez J, Molins MI, Navarro L, Duran-Vila N (1990) Separation of citrus viroids by shoot-tip grafting *in vitro*. *Plant Pathology* 39, 472-478
- Kader AA (1992) Postharvest biology and technology: an overview. In: Kader AA (Ed) Postharvest Technology of Horticultural Crops, Regents of the University of California, Division of Agricultural and Natural Resources, Oakland, CA, pp 15-20
- Kale PN, Adsule PG (1995) Citrus. In: Salunke DK, Kadam SS (Eds) Handbook of Fruit Science and Technlogy, Production, Composition, Storage and Processing, Marcel Dekker Inc., NY, pp 39-65
- Kaplan DT, Duncan LW (2000a) Lesion nematodes. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Graham JH (Eds) Compendium of Citrus Diseases, American Phytopathological Society Press, St. Paul, MN, pp 16
- Kaplan DT, Duncan LW (2000b) Slow decline. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Graham JH (Eds) Compendium of Citrus Diseases, American Phytopathological Society Press, St. Paul, MN, pp 16-17
- Kaplan DT, Duncan LW (2000c) Spreading decline. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Graham JH (Eds) Compendium of Citrus Diseases, American Phytopathological Society Press, St. Paul, MN, pp 18-19
- Kaplan DT, Vandererspool MC, Garrett C, Chang S, Opperman CH (1996) Molecular polymorphisms associated with host range in the highly conserved genomes of burrowing nematodes, *Radopholus* spp. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 9, 32-38
- Karasev AV (2000) Genetic diversity and evolution of closteroviruses. Annual Review of Phytopathology 38, 293-324
- Karasev AV, Boyko VP, Gowda S, Nikolaeva OV, Hilf ME, Koonin EV, Niblett CL, Cline K, Gumpf DJ, Lee RF, Garnsey SM, Lewandowsky DJ, Dawson WO (1995) Complete sequence of the *Citrus tristeza virus* RNA genome. *Virology* 208, 511-520
- Ke S, Li K, Ke C, Tsai JH (1988) Transmission of the huanglongbing agent from citrus to periwinkle by dodder. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Navarro L (Eds) Proceedings of the 10th Conference of the International Organization of Citrus Virologists, Riverside, CA, pp 258-264
- Killiny N, Castroviejo M, Saillard C (2005) Spiroplasma citri spiralin acts in vitro as a lectin binding to glycoproteins from its insect vector Circulifer haematoceps. Phytopathology 95, 541-548
- Kitajima EW, Ferreira PTO, Freitas-Astúa J, Machado MA (2004) Ocorrencia da leprose dos citros, tipo nuclear (CiLV-N), nos munici pios paulistas de Monte Alegre do Sul e Amparo. *Summa Phytopathologica* **30**, 68
- Kitajima EW, Muller GW, Costa AS, Yuki W (1972) Short, rod-like particles associated with citrus leprosies. Virology 50, 254-258
- Klas FE (1979) Population densities and spatial patterns of the aphid tristeza vector, *Toxoptera citricida* Kirk. *Proceedings of the 8th International Organization of Citrus Virologists Conference*, Riverside, CA, pp 83-87
- Klotz JL (1973) Color Handbook of Citrus Diseases, University of California, Berkeley, 122 pp
- Klotz LJ, Calavan EC, Weathers LG (1982) Virus and virus-like diseases of citrus. Leaflet 2453, Division of Agricultural Sciences, University of California, 42 pp
- Klotz LJ, Fawcett HS (1941) Color Handbook of Citrus Diseases, University of California Press, Berkeley, CA, USA, 191 pp
- Knapp J, Halbert S, Lee R, Hoy M, Clark R, Kessinger M (1998) The Asian citrus psyllid and citrus greening disease. *Citrus Industry* 79, 28-29
- Knighten C, Redding J, Feiber D, Compton L (2005) U.S. Department of Agriculture and Florida Department of Agriculture Confirm Detection of Citrus Greening. Department Press Release, 09-02-2005. Available online: http://doacs.fl.us/press/2005/0902205_2.html.
- Koide T, Zaini PA, Moreira LM, Vencio RZN, Matsukuma AY, Durham AM, Teixeira DC, El-Dorry H, Monteiro PB, da Silva ACR, Verjovski-Almeida S, da Silva AM, Gomes SL (2004) DNA Microarray-based ge-

nome comparison of a pathogenic and a nonpathogenic strain of *Xylella fastidiosa* delineates genes important for bacterial virulence. *Journal of Bacteriology* **186**, 5442-5449

- Koizumi M (1984) Elimination of Tatterleaf-citrange stunt virus from Satsuma mandarin by shoot-tip grafting following pre-heat treatment. In: Proceedings of the 9th Conference of the International Organization of Citrus Virologists, Riverside, CA, pp 229-233
- Korsten L, Jagoueix S, Bové JM, Garníer M (1996) Huanglongbing (greening) detection in South Africa. In: da Graça, Moreno P, Yokomi RK (Eds) Proceedings of the 13th Conference of the International Organization of Citrus Virologists, Riverside, CA, pp 395-398
- Kostka SJ, Tattar TA, Sherald JL, Hurtt SS (1986) Mulberry leaf scorch, new disease caused by a fastidious, xylem-inhabiting bacterium. *Plant Disease* **70**, 690-693
- Krügner R, Lopes MTV, de Santos JS, Beretta MJG, Lopes JRS (2000) Transmission efficiency of *Xylella fastidiosa* to citrus by sharpshooters and identification of two new vector species. *Proceedings of the 14th Conference* of International Organization of Citrus Virologists, Riverside, CA, p 423
- Kunta M, Gracxa JV, Skaria M (2007) Molecular detection and prevalence of citrus viroids in Texas. *Hortscience* 42, 600-604
- Kwaye RG, Mashela PW, Shimelis H, Mapope N (2008) Determination of *Tylenchulus semipenetrans* biotype in Zebediela and Champagne, Republic of South Africa. *Plant Disease* 92, 639-641
- Kyriakou AP (1992) Incidence in Cyprus of citrus exocortis viroid and its mechanical transmission. *Plant Pathology* 41, 20-24
- Lacey LA, Shapiro-Ilan DI (2003) The potential role for microbial control of orchard insect pests in sustainable agriculture. *Food, Agriculture and Environment* 1, 326-331
- Lacey LA, Shapiro-Ilan DI (2008) Microbial control of insect pests in temperate orchard systems: Potential for incorporation into IPM. *Annual of Re*view Entomology 53, 121-144
- Lapointe SL (2004) Antecedentes y estrategias para el combate de Diaprepes abbreviatus, plaga invasora del Caribe. Manejo Integrado de Plagas y Agroecología (Costa Rica) 71, 106-111
- Lausen CP (1931) Two citrus leaf miners of the Far East. *Technical Bulletin* U.S. Department of Agriculture (Washington) 252, 1-13
- Lee RF, Bar-Joseph M (2000) Tristeza. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Graham JH (Eds) *Compendium of Citrus Diseases*, American Phytopathology Society Press, St. Paul, MN, pp 61-63
- Le Roux HF, Pretorius MC, Huisman L (2000) Citrus nematode IPM in Southern Africa. Proceedings of the International Society of Citriculture 2, 823-827
- Le Roux HF, van Vuuren SP, Manicom BQ (2006) Huanglongbing in South Africa. *Proceedings of the Huanglongbing-greening International Workshop*, Ribeirão Preto, SP, Brazil, pp 5-9
- Lee R (2004) Certification programs for citrus. In: Naqui SAMH (Ed) Diseases of Fruits and Vegetables (Vol I), Kluwer Academic Publisher, The Netherlands, pp 291-305
- Lee RF, Brlansky RH, Timmer LW (2002) Florida Citrus Pest Management Guide 2003: Exocortis, Cachexia and other Viroids, Extension, Institute of Food and Agricultural Sciences, University of Florida, pp 179-180
- Leelasuphakul W, Punpen Hemmanee P, Chuenchitt S (2008) Growth inhibitory properties of *Bacillus subtilis* strains and their metabolites against the green mold pathogen (*Penicillium digitatum* Sacc.) of citrus fruit. *Postharvest Biology and Technology* **48**, 113-121
- Legarreta GG, García ML, Costa N, Grau O (2000) A highly sensitive heminested RT-PCR assay for the detection of citrus psorosis virus targeted to a conserved region of the genome. *Journal of Virological Methods* 84, 15-22
- Leon MGA, Realpe CE, Garzon PA, Rodriguez JA, Moreno PMG, Childers CC, Achor D, Freitas-Astúa J, Antonioli-Luizon JR, Salaroli RB, Mesa CNC, Kitajima EW (2006) Occurrence of *Citrus leprosis virus* in Llanos Orientales, Colombia. *Plant Disease* **90**, 682
- Leone G (1990) In vivo and in vitro phosphate-dependent polygalacturonase production by different isolates of Botrytis cinerea. Mycological Research 94, 1039-1045
- Leu LS, Su CC (1993) Isolation, cultivation, and pathogenicity of *Xylella fastidiosa*, the causal bacterium of pear leaf scald in Taiwan. *Plant Disease* 77, 642-46
- Li T, Ke C (2002) Detection of the bearing rate of Liberibacter asiaticum in citrus psylla and its host plant *Murraya puniculata* by nested PCR. *Acta Phytophylacica Sinica* 29, 31-35
- Licciardello G, Grasso FM, Bella P, Cirvilleri G, Grimaldi V, Catara V (2006) Identification and detection of *Phoma tracheiphila*, causal agent of citrus mal secco disease, by real-time polymerase chain reaction. *Plant Disease* **90**, 1523-1530
- Locali EC, Freitas-Astúa J, de Souza AA, Takita MA, Astua-Monge G, Antonioli R, Kitajima EW, Machado MA (2003) Development of a molecular tool for the diagnosis of leprosis, a major threat to citrus production in the Americas. *Plant Disease* **87**, 1317-1321
- Locali-Fabris EC, Freitas-Astúa J, Souza AA, Takita MA, Astua-Monge G, Antonioli-Luizon R, Rodrigues V, Targon MLPN, Machado MA (2006) Complete nucleotide sequence, genomic organization and phylogenetic analysis of Citrus leprosis virus cytoplasmic type. *Journal of General Virology*

87, 2721-2729

- Loof PAA (1991) The Family Pratylenchidae Thorne, 1949. In: Nickle WR (Ed) *Manual of Agricultural Nematology*, Marcel Dekker, Inc., NY, pp 363-421
- Lopes SA, Marcussi S, Torres SCZ, Souza V, Fagan C, França SC, Fernandes NG, Lopes JRS (2003) Weeds as alternative hosts of the citrus, coffee, and plum strains of *Xylella fastidiosa* in Brazil. *Plant Disease* 87, 544-549
- Lorenz DH, Eichhorn KW (1983) Analysis of Botryotinia fuckeliana Whetz. perfect stage of Botrytis cinerea. Zeitschrift für Pflanzenkrankheiten und Pflanzenschutz 90, 1-11
- Lovisolo O (2001) Citrus leprosis virus: properties, diagnosis, agro-ecology and phytosanitary importance. OEPP/EPPO Bulletin 31, 79-89
- Lu R, Folimonov A, Shintaku M, Li W, Falk B, Dawson W, Ding S (2004) Three distinct suppressors of RNA silencing encoded by a 20-kb viral RNA genome. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **101**, 15742-15747
- Macarisin D, Cohen L, Eick A, Rafael G, Belausov E, Wisniewski M, Droby S (2007) *Penicillium digitatum* suppresses production of hydrogen peroxide in host tissue during infection of citrus fruit. *Phytopathology* 97, 1491-1500
- MacFarlane HH (1968) Plant host-pathogen index to volumes 1-40 (1922-1961), Review of Applied Mycology Commonwealth Mycological Institute, Kew, 820 pp
- Macke TJ, Ecker DJ, Gutell RR, Gautheret D, Case DA, Sampath R (2001) RNA Motif, an RNA secondary structure definition and search algorithm. *Nucleic Acids Research* **29**, 4724-4735
- Magome H, Yoshikawa N, Takahashi T, Ito T, Miyakawa T (1997) Molecular variability of the genomes of capilloviruses from apple, Japanese pear, European pear, and citrus trees. *Phytopathology* **87**, 389-396
- Malfitano M, Barone M, Alioto D, Duran-Vila N (2005) A survey of citrus viroids in Campania (Southern Italy) *Plant Disease* 89, 434
- Marais LJ, Lee RF (1986) Citrange stunt virus associated with decline of shamouti on Swingle citrumelo rootstock in South Africa. *Plant Disease* 70, 892
- Marques LLR, Ceri H, Reid DM, Olson ME (2002) Characterization of biofilm formation by *Xylella fastidiosa in vitro*. *Plant Disease* **86**, 633-638
- Marques MV, Aline M. da Silva AM, Gomes SL (2001) Genetic organization of plasmid pXF51 from the plant pathogen *Xylella fastidiosa*. *Plasmid* 45, 184-199
- Martin S, Alioto D, Milne RG, Guerri J, Moreno P (2002) Detection of citrus psorosis virus in field trees by direct tissue blot immunoassay in comparison with ELISA, symptomatology, biological indexing and crossprotection tests. *Plant Pathology* 51, 134-141
- Martin S, García ML, Troisi A, Rubio L, Legarreta G, Grau O, Alioto D, Moreno P, Guerri J (2006) Genetic variation of populations of *Citrus psoro*sis virus. Journal of General Virology 87, 3097-3102
- Martins EMF, Guzzo SD, Palazzo DA, Harakava R (1999) Alterações metabólicas constatadas em plantas de laranja Natal infectadas por Xylella fastidiosa. Summa Phytopathologica 25, 288-293
- Marucci RC, Lopes JRS, Corrente JE (2003) Análise comparative da eficiência de transmissão de Xylella fastidiosa por cigarrinhas (Hemiptera, Cicadellidae) em plantas de citros e café. Fitopatologia Brasileira 28, 392-392
- Marucci RC, Lopes JRS, Vendramim, Corrente JE (2005) Influence of *Xylella fastidiosa* infection of citrus on host selection by leafhopper vectors *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* 117, 95-103
- Mashela P, Duncan LW, Graham JH, McSorley R (1992) Leaching soluble salts increases population densities of *Tylenchulus semipenetrans*. Journal of Nematology 24, 103-108
- Mavrodieva V, Levy L, Gabriel DW (2004) Improved sampling methods for real-time polymerase chain reaction diagnosis of citrus canker from field samples. *Phytopathology* 94, 61-68
- Mawassi M, Karasev AV, Mietkiewska E, Gafny R, Lee RF, Dawson WO, Bar-Joseph M (1995) Defective RNA molecules associated with the *Citrus tristeza virus*. *Virology* **208**, 383-387
- Mawassi M, Mietkiewska E, Gofman R, Yang G, Bar-Joseph JM (1996) Unusual sequence relationships between two isolates of *Citrus tristeza virus*. *Journal of General Virology* 77, 2359-2364
- Mawassi M, Mietkiewska E, Hilf ME, Ashoulin L, Karasev AV, Gafny R, Lee RF, Garnsey SM, Dawson WO, Bar-Joseph M (1995) Multiple species of defective RNAs in plants infected with Citrus tristeza virus. Virology 214, 264-268
- McCoy CW (1999) Arthropod pests of citrus roots. In: Timmer LW, Duncan LW (Eds) *Citrus Health Management*, American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, MN, pp 149-156
- McDaniel JR, Moran VC (1972) The parasitoid complex of the citrus psylla Trioza erytreae (Del Guercio) (Homoptera: Psyllidae). Entomophaga 17, 297-317
- Medina CL, Rena AB, Siqueira DL, Machado EC (2005) Fisiologia dos citros. In: Mattos Júnior D, De Negri JD, Pio RM, Pompeu Júnior J (Eds) Citros, Instituto Agronômico/FUNDAG, Campinas, pp 147-195
- Medina-Urrutia VM, Stapleton JJ (1986) Control of Mexican lime bacteriosis with copper-based products. Proceedings of the Florida State Horticultural Society 98, 22-25
- Mehta P, Brlansky RH, Gowda S, Yokomi RK (1997) Reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction detection of *Citrus tristeza virus* in aphids. *Plant*

Disease 81, 1066-1069

- Mejia, L, Paniagua A, Cruz N, Porras M, Palmieri M (2002) Citrus leprosis, disease that endangers plantations in Guatemala. In: *Annual Meeting of the American Phytopathological Society*, Caribbean Division, 42, 2005 Annals Antigua, pp 17-10
- Menge JA, Nemec S (1997) Citrus. In: Hillocks RJ, Waller (Eds) Soilborne Diseases of Tropical Crops, CAB International, Wallingford, UK, pp 185-227
 Michaud JP (1998) A review of the literature on the brown citrus aphid,

Toxoptera citricida (Kirkaldy). Florida Entomology 81, 31-61

- Michaud JP (2001) Evaluation of green lacewings, Chrysoperla plorabunda (Fitch) (Neurop., Chrysopidae), for augmentative release against Toxoptera citricida (Hom., Aphididae) in citrus. Journal of Applied Entomology 125, 383-388
- Michaud JP (2002) Classical biological control: a critical review of recent programs against citrus pests in Florida. Annals of the Entomological Society of America 94, 531-540
- Michaud JP, Browning HW (1999) Seasonal abundance of the brown citrus aphid, *Toxoptera citricida* (Homoptera: Aphididae) and its natural enemies in Puerto Rico. *Florida Entomologist* 82, 424-447
- Miller SA (1996) Detecting propagules of plant pathogenic fungi. In: de Boer SH (Ed) Advances in Botanical Research (Vol 23), London, Academic Press pp 73-102
- Milne RG, García ML, Grau O (2000) Ophiovirus. In: van Regenmortel MHV, Fauquet CM, Bishop DHL, Carstens EB, Estes MK, Lemon SM, Maniloff J, Mayo MA, McGeoch DJ, Pringle CR, Wickner RB (Eds) Virus Taxonomy, 7th Report of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses, Academic Press, San Diego, pp 627-631
- Minsavage GV, Thompson CM, Hopkins DL, Leite RMVB, Stall RE (1994) Development of polymerase chain reaction protocol for the detection of *Xylella fastidiosa* in plant tissue. *Phytopathology* **84**, 456-461
- Miyakawa T, Ito T (2000) Tatter Leaf-Citrange Stunt. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Graham JH (Eds) Compendium of Citrus Diseases, American Phytopathological Society Press, St. Paul, MN, pp 60
- Mohammadi M, Mirzaee MR, Rahimian H (2001) Physiological and biochemical characteristics of Iranian strains of *Xanthomonas axonopodis* pv. *citri*, the causal agent of citrus bacterial canker disease. *Journal of Phytopathology* 149, 65-75
- Mohan SB (1989) Cross-reactivity of antiserum raised against *Phytophthora fragariae* with other *Phytophthora* species and its evaluation as a genus-detecting antiserum. *Plant Pathology* 38, 352-363
- Montero-Astúa M, Saborío RG, Chacón-Díaz C, Garita L, Villalobos W, Moreira L, Hartung JS, Rivera C (2008) First report of *Xylella fastidiosa* in avocado in Costa Rica. *Plant disease* 92, 175
- Montero-Astúa M, Saborío-R G, Chacón-Díaz C, Garita L, Villalobos W, Moreira L, Hartung JS, Rivera C (2008) First report of *Xylella fastidiosa* in avocado in Costa Rica. *Plant Disease* 92, 175
- Moran VC (1978) Preliminary observations on the choice of host plants by adults of the citrus psylla, *Trioza erytreae* (Del Guerico) (Homoptera: Psyllidae). *Journal of the Entomological Society of Southern Africa* **31**, 45-54
- Moreira LM, de Souza RF, Almeida Júnior NF, Setubal JC, Oliveira JCF, Furlan LR, Ferro JA, Silva ACR (2004) Comparative genomics analyses of citrus-associated bacteria. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 42, 163-184
- Moreno P, Ambrós S, Albiach-marti MR, Guerri J, Peña L (2008) Citrus tristeza virus: a pathogen that changed the course of the citrus industry. Molecular Plant Pathology 9, 251-268
- Moreno P, Guerri J, Ortiz J (1989) Alteration of bark proteins associated with Citrus tristeza virus (CTV) infection on susceptible citrus species and scionrootstock combinations. Journal of Phytopathology 125, 55-66
- Movahedi S, Heale JB (1990) The roles of aspartic proteinase and endo-pectin lyase enzymes in the primary stages of infection and pathogenesis of various host tissues by different isolates of *Botrytis cinerea* Pers ex. Pers. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology* **36**, 303-324
- Nachmias A, Barash I, Solel Z, Strobel GA (1977) Translocation of mal secco toxin in lemons and its effect on electrolyte leakage, transpiration, and citrus callus growth. *Phytoparasitica* 5, 94-103
- Najar A, Duran-Vila N (2004) Viroid prevalence in Tunisian citrus. *Plant Disease* 88, 1286
- Naqui SAMH (2004) Diagnosis and management of certain important fungal diseases of citrus. In: Naqui SAMH (Ed) *Diseases of Fruits and Vegetables* (Vol I), Kluwer Academic Publisher, The Netherlands, pp 247-290
- Narayanamma VL, Savithri P (2003) Evaluation of biopesticides against citrus butterfly, *Papilio demoleus* L. on sweet oranges. *Indian Journal of Plant Protection* 31, 105-106
- Narayanamma VL, Savithri P, Rao AR (2003) Natural enemies and percent parasitisation of citrus butterfly, *Papilio demoleus* L. on sweet oranges. *Indian Journal of Entomology* 65, 461-464
- National Research Council (1993) Pesticides in the Diets of Infants and Children, National Academy Press, Washington, DC, 386 pp
- Naum-Ongania G, Gago-Zachert S, Peña E, Grau O, García ML (2003) Citrus psorosis virus RNA 1 is of negative polarity and potentially encodes in its complementary strand a 24K protein of unknown function and 280K putative RNA dependent RNA polymerase. *Virus Research* **96**, 49-61

Navarro L (1981) Citrus shoot-tip grafting in vitro (STG) and its applications:

A review. Proceedings of the International Society of Citriculture 1, 452-456 Navarro L, Juárez J, Pina JA, Ballester JF (1984) The citrus quarantine sta-

- tion in Spain. In: Garnsey SM, Timmer LW, Dodds JA (Eds) Proceedings of the 9th Conference of the International Organization of Citrus Virologists, Riverside, CA, pp 365-370
- Navarro L, Juárez J, Pina JA, Ballester JF, Arregui JM (1988) The citrus variety improvement programme in Spain. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Navarro L (Eds) Proceedings of the 10th Conference of the International Organization of Citrus Virologists, Riverside, CA, pp 400-406
- Navas A, Nombela G, Bello A (1992) Caracterización de la modalidad de distribución de *Tylenchulus semipenetrans* en ellevante español. *Nematropica* 22, 205-216
- Nechwatal J, Oswald W (2001) Comparative studies on the fine root status of healthy and declining spruce and beech trees in the Bavarian Alps and occurrence of *Phytophthora* and *Pythium* species. *Forest Pathology* **31**, 257-273
- Nemec S, Baker RA, Tatum JH (1988) Toxicity of dihydrofusarubin and isomarticin from *Fusarium solani* to citrus seedlings. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 20, 493-499
- Nguyen KB, Duncan LW (2002) Steinernema diaprepesi n. sp. (Rhabditida: Steinernematidae), a parasite of the citrus root weevil Diaprepes abbreviatus (L.) (Coleoptera: Curculionidae). Journal of Nematology 34, 159-170
- Nunes LR, Rosato YB, Muto NH, Yanai GM, da Silva VS, Leite DB, Goncalves ER, de Souza AA, Coletta-Filho HD, Machado MA, Lopes SA, de Oliveira RC (2003) Microarray analyses of *Xylella fastidiosa* provide evidence of coordinated transcription control of laterally transferred elements. *Genome Research* 13, 570-578
- O'Bannon JH (1982) The burrowing nematode, *Radopholus similis*, infecting citrus in Florida. In: Riggs RD (Ed) Southern Regional Research Committees, Nematology in the Southern Region of the United States, Southern Cooperative Series Bulletin 276, Arkansas Agricultural Experiment Station, pp 5-76, 5-154
- OEPP/EPPO (2004a) Diagnostic protocols for regulated pests: Xylella fastidiosa. OEPP/EPPO Bulletin 34, 187-192
- OEPP/EPPO/ (2004b) Citrus. OEPP/EPPO Bulletin 34, 43-56
- OEPP/ EPPO (2005a) Phoma tracheiphila. OEPP/EPPO Bulletin 35, 307-311
- OEPP/EPPO (2005b) Diaphorina citri. OEPP/EPPO Bulletin 35, 331-333
- OEPP/EPPO (2005c) Trioza erytreae. OEPP/EPPO Bulletin 35, 357-360
- OEPP/EPPO (2006) Toxoptera citricidus. OEPP/EPPO Bulletin 36, 451-456
- Ohira K, Namba S, Rozanov M, Kusumi T, Tsuchizaki T (1995) Complete sequence of an infectious full-length cDNA clone of citrus tatter leaf capillovirus: comparative sequence analysis of capillovirus genomes. *Journal of General Virology* 76, 2305-2309
- Oliveira AC, Vallim MA, Semighini CP, Araújo WL, Goldman GH, Machado MA (2000) Quantification of *Xylella fastidiosa* from citrus trees by real-time polymerase chain reaction assay. *Phytopathology* 92, 1040-1054
- Olson BR, Dominiak J, von Broembsen S, Berg M, Bextine BR (2008) First report of *Xylella fastidiosa* in Oklahoma. *Plant Disease* 90, 108
- Orton Williams KJ, Siddiqi MR (1973) *Radopholus similis*. In: Wilmott S, Gooch PS, Siddiqi MR, Franklin M (Eds) *CIH Description of Plant-Parasitic Nematodes* (Set 2, No 27), Commonwealth Institute of Heliminthology, St. Albans, Herts, UK, 4 pp
- Padrón PF, Hernández AC (2002) Presence of *Trioza erytreae*, the African citrus psyllid, on the island of Tenerife. *Revista Granja* 9, 54-57
- Padrón RC, Kitajima JP, Breton MC, Assumpção L, Greggio C, Zanca AS, Okura VK, Alegria MC, Camargo ME, Silva GGC, Cardozo JCC, Vallim MA, Franco SF, Silva VH, Jordão H, Oliveira F, Giachetto PF, Ferrari F, Aguilar-Vildoso CI, Franchiscini FJB, Silva JMF, Arruda P, Ferro JA, Reinach F, Rasera da Silva AC (2006) The complete nucleotide sequence and genomic organization of citrus leprosis associated virus, cytoplasmatic type (CiLV-C). Virus Genes 32, 289-298
- Pakistan Agricultural Research Council (2003) Integrated pest management. Available online: http://www.parc.gov.pk/ipm.html
- Palacio A, Duran-Vila N (2000) Citrus cachexia disease: molecular characterization of its viroid agent. In: da Graça JV, Lee RF, Yokomi RK (Eds) Proceedings of the 14th Conference of the International Organization of Citrus Virologists, Riverside, CA, pp 273-281
- Palacio-Bielsa A, Romero-Durbán J, Duran-Vila N (2004) Characterization of citrus HSVd isolates. Archives of Virology 149, 537-552
- Palle SR, Miao H, Seyran M, Louzada ES, da Graça JV, Skaria M (2005) Evidence for association of *Citrus psorosis virus* with symptomatic trees and an *Olpidium*-like fungus in Texas. *Proceedings of the 16th Conference of the International Citrus Virologists*, Riverside, CA, pp 423-426
- Palm ME (1987) Pests not known to occur in the United States or of limited distribution No. 91: *Phoma tracheiphila*. U.S Department of Agriculture APHIS-PPQ, US Department of Agriculture, Assessment support staff PPQ, APHIS, USDA building Beltsville, MD, 91, 14
- Palou L, Marcilla A, Rojas-Argudo CR, Alonso M, Jacas JA, Ángel del Rio MA (2007) Effects of X-ray irradiation and sodium carbonate treatments on postharvest *Penicillium* decay and quality attributes of elementine mandarins. *Postharvest Biology and Technology* 46, 252-261
- Pappu HR, Karasev AV, Anderson EJ, Pappu SS, Hilf ME, Febres VJ, Eckloff MRG, McCaffery M, BoykoV, Gowda S, Dolja VV, Koonin EV, Gumpf DJ, Cline KC, Garnsey SM, Dawson WO, Lee RF, Niblett CL

(1994) Nucleotide sequence and organization of eight 3' open reading frames of the citrus tristeza closterovirus genome. *Virology* **199**, 35-46

- Pappu HR, Pappu SS, Niblett CL, Lee RF, Civerolo E (1993) Comparative analysis of the coat proteins of biologically distinct *Citrus tristeza clostero*virus isolates. Virus Genes 73, 255-264
- Parisi A, Piattelli M, Tringali C, Magnano di San Lio G (1993) Identification of the phytotoxin mellein in culture fluids of *Phoma tracheiphila*. *Phytochemistry* 32, 865-867
- Peña L, Cevera M, Fagoaga C, Romero J, Juarez J, Pina JA, Navarro L (2007) Citrus. In: Pua E, Davey MR (Eds) *Biotechnology in Agriculture and Forestry, Volume 60, Transgenic Crops IV*, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 35-50
- Permar TA, Garnsey SM, Gumpf DF, Lee RF (1990) A monoclonal antibody that discriminates strains of Citrus tristeza virus. Phytopathology 80, 224-228
- Philis J (1989) Yield loss assessment caused by the citrus nematode *Tylen-chulus semipenetrans* on Valencia oranges in Cyprus. *Nematologia Mediterranea* 17, 5-6
- Planet P, Jagoueix S, Bové JM, Garnier M (1995) Detection and characterization of the African citrus greening Liberibacter by amplification, cloning and sequencing of the *rpl*KAJL-*rpoB* operon. *Current Microbiology* **30**, 137-141
- **Polek M, Vidalakis G, Godfrey K** (2007) Citrus bacterial canker disease and huanglongbing (citrus greening). The introduction of citrus canker into California. Available online:
- http://citrusent.uckac.edu/8218CitrusCankerandHuanglongbing.pdf
- Pooler MR, Hartung JS (1995) Specific PCR detection and identification of *Xylella fastidiosa* strains causing citrus variegated chlorosis. *Current Microbiology* 31, 377-81
- Pooler MR, Hartung JS, Fenton RG (1997) Sequence analysis of a 1296 nucleotide plasmid from *Xylella fastidiosa*. Federation of Microbiological Societies Microbiology Letters 155, 217-222
- Prusky D, Lichter A (2008) Mechanisms modulating fungal attack in post-harvest pathogen interactions and their control. *European Journal of Plant Pathology* **121**, 281-289
- Prusky D, McEvoy JL, Saftner R, Conway WS, Jones R (2004) Relationship between host acidification and virulence of *Penicillium* spp. on apple and citrus fruit. *Phytopathology* 94, 44-51
- Purcell AH, Finlay A (1979) Evidence for noncirculative transmission of Pierce's disease bacterium by sharpshooter leafhoppers. *Phytopathology* 69, 393-395
- Purcell AH, Hopkins DL (1996) Fastidious xylem-limited bacterial plant pathogens. Annual Review of Phytopathology 34, 131-151
- Purcell AH, Saunders SR, Hendson M, Grebus ME, Henry MJ (1999) Causal role of *Xylella fastidiosa* in oleander leaf scorch disease. *Phytopathology* 89, 53-58
- Quintela ED, Fan J, McCoy CW (1998) Development of *Diaprepes abbreviatus* (Coleoptera: Curculionidae) on artificial and citrus root substrates. *Journal of Economical Entomology* **91**, 1173-1179
- Radke SG, Kandalkar HG (1988) Biology of lemon butterfly, Papilio demoleus Linnaeus (Lepidoptera: Papilionidae) in Vidarbha. Bulletin of Entomology 29, 164-167
- Ragozzino E, Faggioli F, Barba M (2005) Distribution of citrus exocortis viroid and hop stunt viroid in citrus orchards of central Italy as revealed by one-tube one-step RT-PCR. *Phytopathologia Mediterranea* 44, 322-326
- Rajput CBS, Haribabu RS (1993) Citriculture, Kalyani Publishers, New Dehli, pp 109-177
- Ramachandran P, Agarwal J, Roy A, Ghosh DK, Das DR, Ahlawat YS (2005) First record of a *Hop stunt viroid* variant on Nagpur mandarin and Mosambi sweet orange trees on rough lemon and Rangpur lime rootstocks. *Plant Pathology* 54, 571
- Randall JJ, Radionenko M, French JM, Olsen MW, Goldberg NP, Hanson SF (2007) *Xylella fastidiosa* detected in New Mexico in Chitalpa, a common landscape ornamental plant. *Plant Disease* **91**, 329
- Reanwarakorn K, Semancik JS (1998) Regulation of pathogenicity in hop stunt viroid-related group II citrus viroids. *Journal of General Virology* 79, 3163-3171
- Redak RA, Purcell AH, Lopes JRS, Blua MJ, Mizell RF, Andersen PC (2004) The biology of xylem fluid–feeding insect vectors of *Xylella Fastidi*osa and their relation to disease epidemiology. *Annual Review of Entomology* 49, 243-70
- Reichert I, Bental A (1961) On the problem of xyloporosis and cachexia diseases of mandarins. *Plant Disease Reporter* **45**, 356-361
- Reverberi M, Betti C, Fabbri AA, Zjalic S, Spadoni S, Mattei B, Fanelli C (2008) A role for oxidative stress in the *Citrus limon/Phoma Tracheiphila* interaction. *Plant Pathology* **57**, 92-102
- Ricci P, Pope de Vallavieille C, Panabières F, Marais A, Auge G (1990) Caractères comparés des espècies de *Phytophthora* pathogènes des agrumes. *EPPO Bulletin* **20**, 19-28
- Rieger M (2006) Citrus fruits (*Citrus* spp.) In: *Introduction to Fruit Crops*, The Haworth Press Inc., NY, pp 157-178
- Rizza S, Catara A, Ma XF, Deng Z (2007) Detection of multiple infections of Citrus exocortis viroid, Citrus viroid III, and Hop stunt viroid variants in Hunan Province, China. Plant Disease 91, 1205

- Roberto SR, Coutinho A, Lima JEO, Miranda VS, Carlos EF (1996) Transmissão de *Xylella fastidiosa* pleas cigarrinhas *Dilobopterus costalimai, Acogonia terminalise Oncometopia facialis* (Hemiptera: Cicadellidae) em citros. *Fitopatologia Brasileira* 21, 517-518
- Rocha-Peña MA, Lee RF, Lastra R, Niblett CL, Ochoa-Corona FM, Garnsey SM, Yokomi RK (1995) *Citrus tristeza virus* and its aphid vector *Toxoptera citricida*: Threats to citrus production in the Caribbean and Central North America. *Plant Disease* **79**, 437-444
- Rodrigues JC, Kitajima EW, Childers CC, Chagas CM (2003a) Citrus Leprosis and its status in Florida and Texas: Past and Present. *Experimental and Applied Acarology* **30**, 161-179
- Rodrigues JCV, Fioravante AM, Nogueira NL (1995) Leprose dos citros: variabilidade de *Citrus* spp. ao patossistema acaro-patogeno. *Fitopatologia Brasileira* 20, 309-310
- Rodrigues JCV, Kitajima EW, Childers CC, Chagas CM (2003b) Citrus leprosis virus vectored by *Brevipalpus phoenicis* (Acari: Tenuipalpidae) on citrus in Brazil. *Experimental and Applied Acarology* **30**, 161-179
- Rodrigues JCV, Machado MA (2003) Virus-Brevipalpus-plant relationships on citrus leprosies pathosystems. *Proceedings of the International Society of Citriculture Congress 2000*, Orlando, FL, Dec. 3-7, Vol. II, pp 768-770
- Rodrigues JCV, Machado MA, Kitajima EW, Müller GW (2000) Transmission of citrus leprosis virus to mandarins by *Brevipalpus phoenicis* (Acari: Tenuipalpidae). Proceedings of the Conference of International Organization of Citrus Virologists 14, 174-178
- Rodrigues JCV, Nogueira NL, Freitas DS, Prates H (1997) Virus-like particles associated with *Brevipalpus phoenicis* Geijskes (Acari: Tenuipalpidae), vector of citrus leprosis virus. *Anais da Sociedade Entomológica do Brasil* 26, 391-395
- Rodrigues JCV, Zuniga Reyes JA, Achor DS, Childers CC, Kitajima EW (2007) Occurrence and distribution of *Citrus leprosis virus* in Honduras. *Plant Pathology* 56, 344
- Rodrigues LM, Silva-Stenico ME, Gomes JE, Lopes JR, Tsai SM (2003) Detection and diversity assessment of *Xylella fastidiosa* in field-collected plant and insect samples by using 16S rRNA and gyrB sequences. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **69**, 4249-4255
- Rogers S, Graham JH, McCoy CW (1996) Insect-plant pathogen interactions: Preliminary studies of *Diaprepes* root weevil injuries and *Phytophthora* infections. *Proceedings of the Florida State Horticultural Society* **109**, 57-62
- Roistacher CN (1977) Elimination of citrus pathogens in propagative budwood I: Budwood selection, indexing and thermotherapy. Proceedings of the International Society of Citriculture 3, 965-972
- Roistacher CN (1991) Graft Transmissible Diseases of Citrus: Handbook for Detection and Diagnosis, FAO, Rome, pp 13-25, 81-89, 99-114, 145-149
- **Roistacher CN** (1993) Psorosis a review. In: Moreno P, da Graça JV, Timmer LW (Eds) *Proceedings of the 12th Conference of the International Organization of Citrus Virologists*, Riverside, CA, pp 139-154
- Roistacher CN (2004) Diagnosis and management of virus and virus-like diseases of citrus. In: Naqui SAMH (Ed) *Diseases of Fruits and Vegetables* (Vol I), Kluwer Academic Publisher, The Netherlands, pp 109-189
- Rollo F, Amici A, Francesca F, di Silvestro I (1987) Construction and characterization of a cloned probe for the detection of *Phoma tracheiphila* in plant tissues. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* **26**, 352-357
- Rollo F, Salvi R, Torchia P (1990) Highly sensitive and fast detection of Phoma tracheiphila by polymerase chain reaction. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 32, 572-576
- Rossetti V, Garnier M, Bové JM, Beretta MJG, Teixeira ARR, Quaggio JA, de Negri D (1990) Occurrence of xylem-restricted bacteria in sweet orange trees affected by chlorotic variegation, a new citrus disease in Brazil. Comptes Rendus de l'Academie des Sciences Serie III 310, 345-350
- Roye M, Collins A, Brown M, Stewart C, Turner S, Chin M, Fisher L, Tennant P, McLaughlin W (2007) Plant virus and phytopathology research in Jamaica: A review. *The Americas Journal of Plant Science and Biotechnology* 1, 36-45
- Ruiz-Ruiz S, Moreno P, Guerri J, Ambros S (2006) The complete nucleotide sequence of a severe stem pitting isolate of *Citrus tristeza virus* from Spain: comparison with isolates from different origins. *Archives of Virology* 151, 387-398
- Saavedra de Dominguez F, Bernal A, Childers CC, Kitajima EW (2001) First report of *Citrus leprosis virus* in Panama. *Plant Disease* 85, 228
- Sánchez de la Torre ME, López C, Grau O, García ML (2002) RNA 2 of Citrus psorosis virus is of negative polarity and has a single open reading frame in its complementary strand Journal of General Virology 83, 1777-1781
- Sánchez de la Torre E, Riva O, Zandomeni R, Grau O, García ML (1998) The top component of citrus psorosis virus contains two ssRNAs, the smaller encodes the coat protein. *Molecular Plant Pathology On-Line*. Available online: http://www.bspp.org.uk/mppol/1998/1019sanchez
- Sanderlin RS, Heyderich-Alger KI (2000) Evidence that *Xylella fastidiosa* can cause leaf scorch disease of pecan. *Plant Disease* 84, 1282-1286
- Sandler HA, Timmer LW, Graham JH, Zitko SE (1989) Effect of fungicide applications on populations of *Phytophthora parasitica* on feeder root densities and fruit yields of citrus trees. *Plant Disease* 73, 902-906
- Schaad NW, Opgenorth D, Gaush P (2002) Real-time polymerase chain reac-

tion for one-hour on-site diagnosis of Pierce's disease of grape in early season asymptomatic vines. *Phytopathology* **92**, 721-728

- Schaad NW, Postnikova E, Lacy G, Sechler A, Agarkova I, Stromberg PE, Stromberg VK, Vidaver AK (2006) Emended classification of xanthomonad pathogens of citrus. Systematic and Applied Microbiology 29, 690-695
- Schaad NW, Postnikova E, Lacy G, Sechler A, Agarkova I, Stromberg PE, Stromberg VK, Vidaver AK (2005) Reclassification of Xanthomonas campestris pv. citri (ex Hasse 1915) Dye 1978 forms A, B/C/D, and E as X. smithii subsp. citri (ex Hasse) sp. nov. nom. rev. comb. nov., X. fuscans subsp. aurantifolii (ex Gabriel 1989) sp. nov. nom. rev. comb. nov., and X. alfalfae subsp. citrumelo (ex Riker and Jones) Gabriel et al. 1989 sp. nov. nom. rev. comb. nov.; X. campestris pv malvacearum (ex Smith 1901) Dye 1978 as X. smithii subsp. smithii nov. comb. nov. nom. nov.; X. campestris pv. alfalfae (ex Riker and Jones 1935) Dye 1978 as X. alfalfae subsp. alfalfae (ex Riker et al. 1935) sp. nov. nom. rev.; and "var. fuscans" of X. campestris pv. phaseoli (ex Smith 1987) Dye 1978 as X. fuscans subsp. fuscans sp. nov. Systematic and Applied Microbiology 28, 494-518
- Schubert R, Bahnweg G, Nechwatal J, Jung T, Cooke DEL, Duncan JM, Muller-Starck G, Langebartels C, Sandermann H, Oswald W (1999) Detection and quantification of *Phytophthora* species which are associated with root-rot diseases in European deciduous forests by species-specific polymerase chain reaction. *European Journal of Forest Pathology* 29, 169-188
- Schubert T, Rizvi S, Sun X, Gottwald T, Graham J, Dixon W (2001) Meeting the challenge of eradicating citrus canker in Florida- Again. *Plant Disease* 85, 340-356
- Sekiya ME, Lawrence SD, McCaffery M, Cline K (1991) Molecular cloning and nucleotide sequencing of the coat protein gene of *Citrus tristeza virus*. *Journal of General Virology* **72**, 1013-1020
- Semancik JS, Roistacher CN, Duran-Vila N (1988) A new viroid is the causal agent of the citrus cachexia disease. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Navarro L (Eds) Proceedings of the 10th Conference of the International Organization of Citrus Virologists, Riverside, CA, pp 125-135
- Sherald JL, Wells JM, Hurtt SS, Kostka SJ (1987) Association of fastidious, xylem-inhabiting bacteria with leaf scorch in red maple. *Plant Disease* 71, 930-933
- Siddiqi MR (1973) Tylenchulus semipenetrans In: Wilmott S, Gooch PS, Siddiqi, Mary Franklin M (Eds) CIH Description of Plant-Parasitic Nematodes (Set 3, No 34), Commonwealth Institute of Heliminthology, St. Albans, Herts, England, 4 pp
- Siddiqi MR (1974) Tylenchulus semipenetrans. In: C.I.H. Descriptions of Plant-parasitic Nematodes (Set 3, No 34), Commonwealth Institute of Parasitology. CAB International, 4 pp
- Siddiqi MR (1986) Tylenchida: Parasites of Plants and Insects, CABI St. Alabans, UK, 645 pp
- Simpson AJ, Reinach FC, Arruda P, Abreu FP, Acencio M, Alvarenga R, Alves LM, Araya JE, Baia GS, Baptista CS, Barros MH, Bonaccorsi ED, Bordin S, Bové JM, Briones MR, Bueno MR, Camargo AA, Camargo LE, Carraro DM, Carrer H, Colauto NB, Colombo C, Costa FF, Costa MC, Costa-Neto MC, Coutinho LL, Cristofani M, Dias-Neto E, Docena C, El-Dorry H, Facincani HAP, Ferreira AJ, Ferreira VC, Ferro JA, Fraga JS, França SC, Franco MC, Frohme M, Furlan MLR, Garnier G, Goldman GH, Goldman MH, Gomes SL, Gruber A, Ho PL, Hoheisel JD, Junqueira ML, Kemper EL, Kitajima JP, Krieger JE, Kuramae EE, Laigret F, Lambais MR, Leite LC, Lemos EG, Lemos MV, Lopes SA, Lopes CR, Machado JA, Machado MA, Madeira AM, Madeira HM, Marino CL, Marques MV, Martins EA, Martins EM, Matsukuma AY, Menck CF, Miracca EC, Miyaki CY, Monteriro-Vitorello CB, Moon DH, Nagai MA, Nascimento AL, Netto LE, Nhani A, Nobrega FG, Nunes LR, Oliveira MA, de Oliveira MC, Oliveira RC, Palmieri DA, Paris BR, Peixoto BR, Pereira GA, Pereira HA, Pesquero JB, Quaggio RB, Roberto PG, Rodrigues V, Rosa AJ, de Rosa VE, de Sá RG, Santelli RV, Sawasaki HE, da Silva AC, da Silva AM, da Silva FR, da Silva WA, da Silveira JF, Silvestri ML, Siqueira WJ, de Souza AA, de Souza AP, Terenzi MF, Truffi D, Tsai SM, Tsuhako MH, Vallada H, van Sluvs MA, Verjovski-Almeida S, Vettore AL, Zago MA, Zatz M, Meidanis J, Setúbal JC (2000) The genome sequence of the plant pathogen Xylella fastidiosa. Nature 406, 151-157
- Siviero A, Furtado EL, Machado MA, Boava LP (2002) Aggressiveness of Phytophthora parasitica isolates on citrus. Summa-Phytopatologica 28, 173-177
- Skaria M (2004) People, arthopods, weather and citrus diseases. In Naqvi SAMH (Ed) Diseases of Fruits and Vegetables, Diagnosis and Management (Vol I), Kluwer Academic Publishers, The Netherlands, pp 307-337
- Skaria M, French JV (2001) *Phytophthora* disease of citrus associated with root weevils in Texas. *Phytopathology* **91 (Suppl)**, S203
- Smilanick JL, Mansour MF (2007) Influence of temperature and humidity on survival of *Penicillium digitatum* and *Geotrichum citri-aurantii*. *Plant Dis*ease 91, 990-996
- Smilanick JL, Margosan DA, Mlikota F, Usall J, Michael IF (1999) Control of citrus green mold by carbonate and bicarbonate salts and the influence of commercial postharvest practices on their efficacy. *Plant Disease* 83, 139-145

Smilanick JL, Sorenson D (2001) Control of postharvest decay of citrus fruit

with calcium polysulfide. Postharvest Biology and Technology 21, 157-168
Solel Z (1976) Epidemiology of mal secco disease of lemons. Phytopathologische Zeitschrift 85, 90-92

- Solel Z, Salerno M (2000) Mal Secco. In: Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Graham JH (Eds) Compendium of Citrus Diseases, American Phytopathological Society Press, St. Paul, MN, pp 33-35
- Sorribas FJ, Verdejo-Lucas S, Pastor J, Ornat C, Pons J, Valero J (2008) Population densities of *Tylenchulus semipenetrans* related to physicochemical properties of soil and yield of clementine mandarin in Spain. *Plant Disease* 92, 445-450
- Spegazzini C (1920) Sôbre algunas enfermedades y hongos que afectan las plantas de "agrios" em el Paraguay. Anales de la Sociedad Científica Argentina 90, 155-188
- Stall RE, Miller JW, Marco GM, Canteros de Echenique BI (1980) Population dynamics of Xanthomonas citri causing cancrosis of citrus in Argentina. Proceedings of the International Society of Citriculture 93, 10-14
- Stuart RJ, Shapiro-Ilan DL, James RJ, Nguyen KB, McCoy CW (2004) Virulence of new and mixed strains of the entomopathogenic nematode Steinernema riobrave to larvae of the citrus root weevil Diaprepes abbreviatus. Biological Control 30, 439-445
- Suastika G, Natsuaki T, Terui H, Kano T, Ieki H, Okuda S (2001) Nucleotide sequence of *Citrus tristeza virus* seedling yellows isolate. *Journal of General Plant Pathology* 67, 73-77
- Subandiyah S, Iwanami T, Tsyumu S, Ieki H (2000) Comparison of 16S rDNA and 16S/23S intergenic region sequences among Citrus greening organisms in Asia. *Plant Disease* 84, 15-18
- Tamesse JL, Messi J, Nguyen TX, Quilici S (1999) Présence de Trioza erytreae, le psylle des agrumes, dans les principales zones écoclimatiques du Cameroun. Fruits 54, 311-321
- Tarjan AC, O'Bannon JH (1974) Post-plant fumigation with DBCP for citrus nematode control in Florida. *Journal of Nematology* 1, 41-48
- Teixeira DC, Ayres, AJ, Danet JL, Jagoueix ES, Saillard C, Bové JM (2005) First report of a huanglongbing-like disease of citrus in Sao Paulo State Brazil, and association of a new Liberibacter species, *Candidatus Liberibacter americanus*, with the disease. *Plant Disease* 89, 107
- Tian Q, Miller EG, Ahmad H, Tang L, Patil BS (2001) Differential inhibition of human cancer cell proliferation by citrus limonoids. *Nutrition and Cancer* 40, 180-184
- Timmer LW (1999) Systemic diseases. In: Timmer LW, Duncan LW (Eds) Citrus Health Management, American Phytopathology Society Press, St. Paul, MN, pp 97-98
- Timmer LW, Davis RD (1982) Estimate of yield loss from the citrus nematode in Texas grapefruit. Journal of Nematology 14, 582-585
- Timmer LW, Garnsey SM (1980) Natural spread of citrus ringspot virus in Texas and its association with psorosis-like diseases in Florida and Texas. In: Calavan EC, Garnsey SM, Timmer LW (Eds) Proceedings of the 8th Conference of the International Organization of Citrus Virologists, Riverside, CA, pp 167-193
- Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, Graham JH (Eds) (2000) Compendium of Citrus Diseases, American Phytopathological Society Press, St. Paul, MN, 92 pp
- Timmer LW, Garnsey SM, McRitchie JJ (1978) Comparative symptomatology of Florida and Texas isolates of citrus ringspot virus on *Citrus* and herbaceous plants. *Plant Disease Reporter* 62, 1054-1058
- Timmer LW, Gottwald TR, Zitko SE (1991) Bacterial exudation from lesions of Asiatic citrus canker and citrus bacterial spot. *Plant Disease* 75, 192-195
- Timmer LW, Sandler HA, Graham JH, Zitko SE (1988) Sampling citrus orchards in Florida to estimate populations of *Phytophthora parasitica*. *Phytopathology* 78, 940-944
- Timmer LW, Zitko SE, Gootwald TR (1996) Population dynamics of Xanthomonas campestris pv. citri on symptomatic and asymptomatic citrus leaves under various environmental conditions. Proceedings of the International Society of Citriculture 1, 448-451
- Trout CL, Ristaino JB, Madritch M, Wangsomboondee T (1997) Rapid detection of *Phytophthora infestans* in late blight-infected potato and tomato using PCR. *Plant Disease* 81, 1042-1048
- Tsao PH, Guy SO (1977) Inhibition of Mortierella and Pythium in a Phytophthora-isolation medium containing hymexazol. Phytopathology 67, 796-801
- van den Berg MA (1990) The citrus psylla, *Trioza erytraea* (Del Guercio) (Hemiptera: Triozidae): A review. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* 30, 171-194
- van der Vlugt-Bergmans JB, Brandwagt BE, Klooster WV, Wagemakers AM, van Kan JAL (1993) Genetic variation and segregation of DNA polymorphism in *Botrytis cinerea*. *Mycological Research* 97, 1193-1200
- van Gundy SD, Martin JP, Tsao PH (1964) Some soil factors influencing reproduction of the citrus nematode and growth reduction of sweet orange seedlings. *Phytopathology* 54, 294-299
- van Regenmortel MHV, Fauquet CM, Bishop DHL, Carstens EB, Estes MK, Lemon SM, Maniloff J, Mayo MA, McGeoch DJ, Pringle CR, Wickner RB (2000) Virus Taxonomy. 7th Report of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses, San Diego, Academic Press, 1162 pp
- van Sluys MA, Oliveira MC, Monteiro-Vitorello CB, Miyaki CY, Furlan LR, Camargo LE, da Silva AC, Moon DH, Takita MA, Lemos EG, Machado MA, Ferro MI, da Silva FR, Goldman MH, Goldman GH, Lemos

MV, El-Dorry H, Tsai SM, Carrer H, Carraro DM, de Oliveira RC, Nunes LR, Siqueira WJ, Coutinho LL, Kimura ET, Ferro ES, Harakava R, Kuramae EE, Marino CL, Giglioti E, Abreu IL, Alves LM, do Amaral AM, Baia GS, Blanco SR, Brito MS, Cannavan FS, Celestino AV, da Cunha AF, Fenille RC, Ferro JA, Formighieri EF, Kishi LT, Leoni SG, Oliveira AR, Rosa VE, Sassaki FT, Sena JA, de Souza AA, Truffi D, Tsukumo F, Yanai GM, Zaros LG, Civerolo EL, Simpson AJ, Almeida NF, Setubal JC, Kitajima JP (2003) Comparative analyses of the complete genome sequences of Pierce's disease and citrus variegated chlorosis strains of *Xylella fastidiosa. Journal of Bacteriology* **185**, 1018-1026

- Vergani AR (1945) Transmission y naturaleza de la "lepra explosiva" del naranjo. Instituto de Sanidad Vegetal, Ministerio de Agricultura de la Nación, Série A 5, pp 3-11
- Vernière C, Hartung JS, Pruvost OP, Civerolo EL, Alvarez AM, Maestri P, Luisetti J (1998) Characterization of phenotypically distinct strains of Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. citri from Southwest Asia. European Journal of Plant Pathology 104, 477-487
- Vernière C, Perrier X, Dubois C, Dubois A, Botella L, Chabrier C, Bové JM, Duran Vila N (2004) Citrus viroids: Symptom expression and effect on vegetative growth and yield of clementine trees grafted on trifoliate orange. *Plant Disease* 88, 1189-1197
- Villechanoux S, Garnier M, Laigret F, Renaudin J, Bové JM (1993) The genome of the non-cultured, bacterial-like organism associated with citrus greening disease contains the nusG-rpIKAJL-rpoBC gene cluster and the gene for a bacteriophage type DNA polymerase. *Current Microbiology* 26, 161-166
- Vives MC, Rubio L, Lopez C, Navas-Castillo J, Albiach-Marti MR, Dawson WO, Guerri J, Flores R, Moreno P (1999) The complete genome sequence of the major component of a mild *Citrus tristeza virus* isolate. *Journal of General Virology* 80, 811-816
- Vives MC, Rubio L, Sambade A, Mirkov TE, Moreno P, Guerri J (2005) Evidence of multiple recombination events between two RNA sequence variants within a *Citrus tristeza virus* isolate. *Virology* **331**, 232-237
- Walker AM, Hoy MA (2003) Responses of *Lipolexis oregmae* (Hymenoptera: Aphidiidae) to different instars of *Toxoptera citricida* (Homoptera: Aphididae). *Journal of Economic Entomology* 96, 1685-1692
- Wallace JM (1978) Virus and virus-like diseases. In: Reuther W, Calavan EC, Carman GE (Eds) *The Citrus Industry* (Vol IV), Division of Agricultural Sciences, University of California, Berkeley, CA, pp 67-184
- Wang XF, Zhou CY, Tang KZ, Li ZA (2008) Occurrence of four citrus viroids in Chongqing, China. Plant Disease 92, 978
- Weisburg WG, Tully JG, Rose DL, Petzel JP, Oyaizu H, Yang D, Mandelco L, Sechrest J, Lawrence TG, van Etten J, Maniloff J, Woese CR (1989) A phylogenetic analysis of the mycoplasmas: basis for their classification. *Journal of Bacteriology* 171, 6455-6467

Woese CR (1987) Bacterial evolution. Microbiological Reviews 51, 221-271

- Yamamoto PT, Roberto SR, Pria Júnior WD, Felippe MR, Miranda VS, Teixeira D do C, Lopes JRS (2002) Transmissão de Xylella fastidiosa por cigarrinhas Acrogonia virescens e Homalodisca ignorata (Hemiptera: Cicadellidae) em plantas cítricas. Summa Phytopathologica 28, 178-181
- Yang C, Mawassi M, Ashoulin L, Gafny R, Gaba V, Gal-On A, Bar-Joseph M (1997) A cDNA clone from a defective RNA of citrus tristeza virus is infective in the presence of the helper virus. *Journal of General Virology* 78, 1765-1769
- Yang ZN, Mathews DM, Dodds JA, Mirkov TE (1999) Molecular characterization of an isolate of *Citrus tristeza virus* that causes severe symptoms in sweet orange. *Virus Genes* 19, 131-142
- Ye F, Laigret F, Carle P, Bové JM (1995) Chromosomal heterogeneity among various strains of Spiroplasma citri. Interntional Journal of Systematic Bacteriology 45, 729-734
- Ye F, Laigret F, Whitley JC, Citti C, Finch LR, Carle P, Renaudin J, Bové JM (1992) A physical map of the Spiroplasma citri genome. Nucleic Acids Research 20, 1559-1565
- Yoshida T (1996) Graft compatibility of citrus with plants in the Aurantiodeae and their susceptibility to Citrus tristeza virus. Plant Disease 80, 414-417
- Yoshikawa N, Sasaki E, Kato M, Takahashi T (1992) The nucleotide sequence of apple stem grooving capillovirus genome. Virology 191, 98-105
- Young DA (1968) Taxonomic Study of the Cicadellinae (Homoptera: Cicadellidae). Part 1. Proconiini. Washington, DC: Smithson. Institute U.S. National Museum, 287 pp
- Young DA (1977) Taxonomic Study of the Cicadellinae (Homoptera: Cicadellidae). Part 2. New World Cicadellini and the Genus Cicadella. Raleigh: North Carolina Agricultural Experiment Station, 1135 pp
- Young DA (1986) Taxonomic Study of the Cicadellinae (Homoptera: Cicadellidae). Part 3. Old World Cicadellini. Raleigh: North Carolina Agricultural Experiment Station, 639 pp
- Zanek MC, Pena E, Reyes CA, Figueroa J, Stein B, Grau O, García ML (2006) Detection of *Citrus psorosis virus* in the northwestern citrus production area of Argentina by using an improved TAS-ELISA. *Journal of Virological Methods* 137, 245-251
- Zanek MC, Reyes CA, Cervera M, Pena EJ, Velazquez K, Costa N, Plata MI, Grau O, Peña L, García ML (2008) Genetic transformation of sweet orange with the coat protein gene of *Citrus psorosis virus* and evaluation of resistance against the virus. *Plant Cell Reports* 27, 57-66
- Zhang J (2007) The potential of a new fungicide fludioxonil for stem-end rot and green mold control on Florida citrus fruit. *Postharvest Biology and Tech*nology 46, 262-270
- Zhou LJ, Gabriel DW, Duan YP, Halbert SE, Dixon WN (2007) First report of dodder transmission of Huanglongbing from naturally infected *Murraya* paniculata to Citrus. Plant Disease 91, 227